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TRANSCRIPT OF PHASE 1 HEARING

HELD ON 20 JULY 2011 AT GREYMOUTH
COMMISSION RESUMES ON WEDNESDAY 20 JULY 2011 AT 10.00 AM

MS SHORTALL CALLS

PETER WILLIAM WHITTALL (SWORN)

Q. Could you state your full name to the Commission please?

A. Peter William Whittall.

Q. And do you presently hold the position of chief executive of Pike River Coal Limited in receivership?

A. I do.

Q. And had you been the chief executive of Pike River for around six weeks at the time of the 19 November 2010 explosion?

A. Yes I had.

Q. Now, have you prepared and filed a statement of evidence for the purpose of these proceedings?

A. Yes I have.

Q. And is that statement marked PW0/1 through PW0/25?

A. Yes it is.

Q. And do you have a copy of that statement with you?

A. Yes I do.

Q. And do you confirm that the statement is true and correct?

A. Yes I can.

Q. Mr Whittall, if you could turn to page 1 of your statement and I'm going to have you read it to the Commission, at points where we refer to exhibits we’ll stop there, the exhibit will be displayed and I will ask you some additional questions just so that you can explain to the Commission which each exhibit shows, so if we start at paragraph 1 on page 1, could you please read your evidence aloud?

A. “My name is Peter William Whittall, I am the chief executive of Pike River Coal Limited in receivership, otherwise known as the company.  I hold a Bachelor of Engineering with honours in mining engineering and a Master of Business Administration from the University of Woollongong in New South Wales, Australia.  I am registered in New Zealand as a mines surveyor and a mine manager for both coal and metalliferous mines.
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A. I am qualified in New South Wales as a coal mine manager and mine surveyor.  I'm a Fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and a board member of the Minerals West Coast.  I have been employed by the company since February 2005.  I was originally appointed as mine manager and then became general manager of mines in 2006.  In January 2010 I relocated from Greymouth to the company’s head office in Wellington.  I continued in the role of general manager, Mines until October 2010, when I was appointed to the role of chief executive of the company.  The previous chief executive, Gordon Ward, resigned from the company in September 2010, having held the position of chief executive since January 2007.  The company was placed in receivership on 13 December 2010.  Since that time, the number of employees has reduced from 174 on 19 November 2010, to 17 on the 22nd of June 2011.  On 8th of June 2011, the Royal Commission requested that I produce a witness statement, providing an overview of the operation of the Pike River Coal Mine, otherwise known as “the mine”.  My evidence is constrained by the limits of my own knowledge and the knowledge of those staff still remaining at the company.  I have endeavoured to provide as much information as possible in the amount of time I have had to produce this statement.  Part A: Overview of the Mine Site.  Geographical location and geology.  The Pike River coal deposit is located on the western side of the Paparoa Ranges under Crown-owned land administered by the Department of Conservation, about 46 kilometres northeast of Greymouth on the West Coast of the South Island.  The northern portion of the coal deposit is under land which is part of the Paparoa National Park.  I understand that the mine is one of 13 underground and open-cut coal mines in this area.  Attached and marked “PW1” to “PW6” are true copies of a number of maps and photographs and a diagram.  “PW1” to “PW3” are maps showing the location of the mine.”  

Q. If I could just pause you there, Mr Whittall.  PW1 is now being displayed in the courtroom.  Could you please explain to the Commission what this first exhibit shows?

A. The exhibit is a general map of the West Coast, showing New Zealand generally and also where the mine sits on the West Coast and picking out Greymouth, Westport to the north and the Pike River Mine sitting in the Paparoa Ranges roughly half way between the two.
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Q. And if we could go to PW2, the second exhibit, can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Just a more detailed map, taken from Kiwi maps, so it’s just a general publicly available plan, just using the pointer to show Greymouth down in the bottom left hand corner and the Grey Valley going off to the northeast, Blackball about halfway this plan with Roa Mine just above that.  The Solid Energy’s mines are Spring Creek and Strongman in this area to the west and Pike River Mine runs off the valley and sits up in the Paparoa Range about the middle of the plan here.

Q. And if we go PW3 Mr Whittall, could you explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. This is a plan prepared for the Department of Conservation some years ago and used in presentations which shows the mine permit area in pink, outline over a topographic plan.  It shows the mine road coming up from Logburn Road through the coal prep plant area and then going up the valley all the way to the portal, which is the entrance to the underground operations.

Q. And if I just stop you there for a moment Mr Whittall.  Just so it’s clear for the record, the portal area is marked by the green dot with a yellow interior.  Is that correct?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. Sorry, I didn’t mean to interrupt you, continue.

A. From that portal area the red lines indicate the tunnel going through and the dashed red line running roughly north-south is the alignment of the Hawera Fault.  So to the west of that Hawera Fault is the coal measures, the black line indicating the escarpment and the green line indicating the National Park area, the edge of the National Park.  Also shown on the plan are just some blue dots up the valley which indicate bridges that were built.  It’s not comprehensive there, there is a couple missing.  The Terrace Bridge is missing off that plan and the pink road down the bottom is just the easement road that we used through the Van Der Geest Farm before the Logburn Road was completed or the additional parts of the Logburn Road was completed.

Q. And just so I’m clear Mr Whittall, we will come later to talking about the coal preparation plant, right?

A. Yes.

Q. And there’s a reference here to the amenities area which you will describe later in your evidence as well?

A. Yes I will.

Q. And you’ll also provide further detail about the portal area and the tunnel, right?

A. That's correct.

Q. If I could just take you back sir to your brief, we were at paragraph 8 and you had just finished reading the second sentence.  Could you pick up the sentence beginning PW4?

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 8, BEGINNING PW4
A. “PW4 is a true copy of a photograph obtained from company records showing the Paparoa Ranges.”
Q. And sir, if we could now look at PW4 which is being displayed.  Can you explain to the Commission in more detail what we are observing?

A. Yes, the photograph looks essentially from the southwest towards the northeast, and that’s showing the escarpment of the Paparoa Range with the Pike Coalfield underlying it.  The Paparoa seam is somewhat visible in the bottom tree area down there, it’s not quite as good on the wall as it is on the picture in front of me.  The Brunner seam runs through and I think the next photo we look at will be, give a better indication.  The Brunner seam runs roughly through the middle there and this is showing the basin of the coalfield falling away from the escarpment and Mount Hawera and a number of the larger mountains of the Paparoa Range is shown in the background.

Q. And if could bring you back to your brief Mr Whittall.  Can you pick up again at paragraph 8 reading from the sentence beginning, “PW5?”

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 8, BEGINNING PW5

A. “PW5 is a true copy of a photograph obtained from company records showing both the Paparoa and Brunner coal seams running through the Paparoa Ranges.”  
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Q. And Mr Whittall if I could just turn you to PW5, which has now been displayed and can you confirm that we are looking at both the Brunner seam and the Paparoa seam overlaid on the image that was just shown at PW4?

A. Yes, indicatively, it’s very hard to put those lines exactly on the plan so it’s done for illustration purposes but roughly that shows the interburden between the two, it’s about 200 metres in this area and so the Brunner seam sits up above, higher in the escarpment and the Paparoa seam runs roughly along the tree-line.

Q. And if I could take you back to paragraph 8 of your brief and if you could read the last sentence in that paragraph please?

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 8, BEGINNING PW6

A. “PW6 is a true copy of a diagram obtained from company records showing the Paparoa and Brunner coal seams.”
Q. Sir, if we could look at PW6 which has now been displayed, could you explain to the Commission in more detail what this diagram shows?

A. Again, a representation of the Brunner and Paparoa seams used for illustration to shareholders et cetera, it just shows the depth really of the two seams, both outcropping on the western escarpment, the surface topography is not accurate so just pictorial but it shows they’re quite deeply in-sized in the topography, the Brunner seam sitting variously 100 metres to sort of 200 metres in this area and the Paparoa seam underlying it by another couple of hundred metres, both of them truncated on the east by the Hawera Fault.”
Q. Can I just stop you there.  Is that demonstrated by the red line on the diagram?

A. Correct, so the Hawera Fault, as we’ve heard in other evidence, is an upthrust fault of about a thousand metres dislocation so the stone on this side is about a thousand metres higher than the equivalent stone to the west of that so the – to the east and the west.

Q. Just for the record I'll identify that when you say this side you're referring to the side that’s on the diagram marked near the wording, “Pike River Tunnel,” is that right?

A. Correct, which is the right hand side of the diagram and represents the eastern side of the coalfield.  So the only other thing shown on that plan are the pit bottom area in stone and the tunnel itself coming out from the right hand side on the incline, it’s about one in 11, it comes through the Hawera Fault some hundred odd metres before it comes up underneath the coal seam and it exits the coal seam to the west of the Hawera Fault.

Q. Just to provide the Commission with a sense of perspective Mr Whittall, can you roughly explain the length that we’re looking at here, from the point at which the tunnel passes through the Hawera Fault through to the western escarpment on the diagram?

A. Yes, on this particular cross-section it’s about two, a bit over two kilometres so the coalfield is about six and a half kilometres north to south and its widest, it’s a bit over two kilometres and it narrows down to about a kilometre wide under the National Park in the north but in this particular area west of the tunnel it’s about two, maybe two and a half kilometres wide.  It varies given the escarpment, it’s so variable.

Q. And while you’ve described that the topography identified on this diagram is not precise can you give the Commission some sense from your understanding as to what the steepness of the topography is?

A. It varies, the coal seam itself running north to south varies between 15 degrees and up to 30 to 40 degrees in slopes so it’s quite steep, but it does vary, there's a basin, a natural basin that occurs from the western escarpment into a low point and the low points by design, where the tunnel is, so targeted to intersect.

Q. If I could bring you back to your brief and we were at paragraph 9 
Mr Whittall.  If you could continue reading from there please.
WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 9

A. “The Pike River coal deposit is New Zealand’s largest known deposit of high fluidity hard coking coal.  The company was planning to produce coal with some of the lowest ash content of the world’s coking coals, at one percent once processed through the coal preparation plant, and with very high fluidity, being a measure of how well the coal becomes fluid at high temperatures.  The advantage low ash coal is that it uses less energy and results in less wastage in the process of manufacturing coke.  Coke is an essential ingredient in the blast furnace steel making process and is form when coal is heated at super high temperatures.  I'll now go into an overview of the key aspects of the mine and will start with the access road.  The company has constructed more than 11.5 kilometres of above-ground access road, including seven bridges.  The roads include a sealed 3 kilometre two lane road from Logburn Road to the coal preparation plant, otherwise known at the CPP, and approximately 8.2 kilometre road from the CPP up to the Pike Valley to the amenities site and onto the mine entrance.  Near the CPP is a controlled access gate.
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A. From the access gate the section of road leading up the Pike valley is largely single lane with passing bays.  Only certain parts of the road, including the bridge approaches are currently sealed although the remainder was planned to be sealed.  Attached and marked PW7 to PW9 are true copies of photographs, obtained from company records, of the access road.”

Q. So if we start, Mr Whittall, with PW7 that is now being displayed.  Are you able to identify where exactly this photograph was taken?

A. Yes, that photograph’s taken just around the corner from the council’s Logburn Road, this is the extension off Logburn Road and where it first goes onto the road constructed by the company.

Q. And does this photograph, Mr Whittall, provide an example of a section of the road that is currently sealed?

A. That's correct.

Q. And is there a speed sign in this photograph sir?

A. Yes, there is.  There’s a speed sign on the corner there.

Q. And were those speed signs that were put in by Pike River?

A. Yes, as part of the road construction.

Q. If we could turn to the next image PW8 can you identify, Mr Whittall, what section of road is shown in PW8?

A. Yeah, that’s a section of the road between the coal prep plant and the amenities area.  It’s the section of road, the bridge that’s shown in the lower portion of it is the Lower Pike Bridge so it’s the longest of the bridges that spans the Lower Pike Stream and the road is roughly single lane all the way up through there, it’s an old hanging swamp area and has previously been logged and what you can see in the distance at the far end of that road is pretty much the corner where we go from previously logged area into the old growth forest as it goes around that corner.

Q. So we’re looking up towards the amenities area?

A. That's right, we’re looking up the Pike Valley, yes.

Q. And, Mr Whittall, am I seeing equipment or machinery on the bridge.  Is that right?

A. Mostly construction equipment, this is when the road, this photo’s a couple of years old now so the equipment there was probably to do with the laying out of the pipe.  You can see the pipeline which we’ll show later just being made in that section.  It’s not, doesn't appear in this part of the road yet so this would've been equipment associated with the pipe laying.

Q. Just so I'm clear for the written record, Mr Whittall, the area you're marking is where the pipeline is shown is about half way in the diagram PW8?

A. Correct it’s from the widened area on the other side of the, on the northern side of the Lower Pike Bridge extending for it’s like several hundred metres up that road.

Q. And we’ll talk about the pipeline later in your evidence –

A. Yes.

Q. – but can just for clarity at this point can you identify to the Commission what the purpose of the pipeline would be once constructed?

A. That’s the slurry pipeline to take coal from the mine down to the coal prep plant.

Q. And Mr Whittall there are two what I’ll call bald patches to the right-hand side of the road.  Can you give any explanation as to what those show?

A. Yeah, they’re different things.  The widened area just to the east of the road on the other side of the Pike River Bridge is a pond, you can't quite see the pond behind the trees, but there’s a number of ponds all along the pipeline which we’ll come to later as well that are there for emergency dumping of in this case they collected some runoff from the road from a sediment control.  They’re also available to take dumped slurry should we need to dump it out of the pipeline to prevent it entering the streams and the other one is just behind it.  Further to the north up the road there’s a large vegetation area so when we constructed the road we would clear all the vegetation off the road and then take it to a central dump point.  There were several of them along the road and all that vegetation was stockpiled and then we put some dirt over the top of it so that vegetation sits there for the next 20 years and rots down and mulches down then we use that potentially, or someone will to rehabilitate the road in the future so what we’re using to rehabilitate the road is the natural bush that was there before, so there’s a number of those cleared areas.

Q. And just to provide a sense of perspective, Mr Whittall, can you approximate the distance of roading that we are observing on the exhibit at PW8?

A. The road easement through there is about 20 metres wide so you're looking at about a 20 metre wide easement and you're probably looking a bit over a kilometre of road in that picture, maybe a kilometre and a half.

Q. Thank you, sir, if I could  bring you back to page 3 of your brief and I believe we’re at the heading just above paragraph 12, if you could start reading again there please.

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 12, BEGINNING PW4

A. “The CPP and bath house facilities.  At the beginning of the access road is the CPP.”

Q. Sorry, sir, I just realised that there was another photograph of the road that we should show you first so let’s just turn to PW9.  I don't think we displayed that one for you so I’ll just interrupt you there.

A. Mhm.
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Q. And can you explain to the Commission what we're looking at, PW9?

A. That’s back down the valley a little bit from the previous photo.  So if you look to the top of that photo and go around that corner, a couple more corners you'd come to that bridge that we just looked at.  So what you can see in that photograph is the slurry pipeline being installed on the right-hand side of the road sitting on little concrete plinths to keep it level, and you can see a jersey barrier or Armco rail on the left-hand side of the road.  From a safety point of view, just at high points along the road we installed those.  And you can also see the power supply to the mine site that runs up the valley, the 33,000 vault lines that are on timber poles running through there as well and the workmen you can see in the background are all involved in the construction of the pipeline.

Q. Thank you Mr Whittall.  Now we’ll return to your brief, and if you could start reading at paragraph 3 from the heading just above paragraph 12?

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 12

A. Sure.  “The CPP and bathhouse facilities.  At the beginning of the access road is the CPP, Logburn substation and the main bathhouse facilities.  I describe the CPP and Logburn substation in more detail later in this brief.  The bathhouse facilities provided an area where miners could change into their mining gear before being transported up to the main amenities area, and an area where they could shower after their shift.  Attached and marked PW10 and PW11 are true copies of photographs obtained from company records showing the CPP and bathhouse facilities.”

Q. So if we start with PW10, which is now being displayed Mr Whittall, could you explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows? 

A. Yes.  This is a photograph taken from the gantry of the coal prep plant.  So where the coal would drop down onto the stockpile, so you can't see them below you but in another photograph you'll see that in the background.  So this is a photograph with - looking at the coal immediately in front of us has been placed there by loaders rather than by gravity underneath the conveyor.  The conveyor coming up on your left-hand side of the photo is the conveyor one that comes out of the coal prep plant and joins up with the one that the person taking the photograph is standing at.  Also in that foreground area or in the middle of the photo is the coal prep plant itself.  It doesn't take up a very big footprint, it’s quite small in area but it’s three storeys high and uses a gravity system which we'll come to in a moment as well.  In the background on the right-hand side is the Logburn substation and you can see, just make out, might use a pointer, you can just make out, coming in from the right-hand side are power lines and a concrete power pole.  That’s the 110,000 vault system coming in from the Atarau substation out on Logburn Road into the substation here, which is our main substation that converts power from 110,000 to both 33 and 11,000 vaults.  The –

Q. And that’s the station, so just for the record just indicated in the top right-hand corner of the photograph?

A. Correct.

Q. Thank you.

A. So that was built as part of the project and from there 33,000 vault power lines run up the valley, which was just shown in the previous photo and also 11,000 vaults are used for the prep plant itself and supplying power to the bathhouse area.  Also in that photograph on the back left-hand side of the coal prep plant is the bathhouse facilities that we've just spoken about and what can't be seen behind the prep plant is the main carpark and some stores area there as well.  In the foreground or maybe on the right-hand side of the prep plant is a stack-out conveyor for stone.  So the coal prep plant separates the stone from clean coal.  The clean coal comes up the conveyor to the left and the stone goes off to the conveyor to the right.  There's some water clarification tanks in front and a couple of pieces of equipment.  One’s just a Merlo like, basically a tractor with a gib, and the other one’s a loader that’s used for moving coal around on the site.

Q. And just on the right-hand side of the photograph at PW10 Mr Whittall, do I see a road coming in from right to left?

A. Yes, the road that comes in is from the front gate.  So that’s coming from Logburn Road and it goes off to the left down through the cutting and goes up to the amenities area from there.

Q. And on the left-hand side sir, there looks to be a water pond perhaps of some sort.  Could you explain that?
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A. Yes, on the left-hand side there is the emergency dump pond.  So again in the next photograph we’ll see where the pipeline comes in the side of the coal prep plant but on this picture you can’t quite see it.  A pipeline comes up from the valley along to the end of the, into in the culprit plant but were the prep plant to stop suddenly without planned shutdown then you would need to dump the pipeline.  If the pipeline itself blocked for some reason then you’d use the other dump ponds we talked about earlier but if you wanted to just drain the pipeline not into the prep plant then you could use this emergency dump pond which can contain at least I think two dumps from the whole of the pipeline back up into the mine.

Q. And Mr Whittall, we’re going to talk later in your evidence about certain positions within Pike, including terms like the mine manager and the CPP manager.  Does the photograph at PW10 provide any orientation as to where lines of responsibilities for those positions start and end?

A. Yes, it was a bit of an arbitrary exercise at one stage when we’re first constructing the mine as to where the mine manager’s jurisdiction would go to and it was decided that the mine manager because the term, “mine” as defined takes into account all the things on the surface as well to do with the mine.  But we made a point just at the top of the hill here, which is on the outside of the emergency dump pond and runs along the hill and takes in the bathhouse but the mine manager that’s responsible for the mine is responsible for the underground mine plus all surface facilities except the coal prep plant and the, this is run by the coal prep plant manager and all the transport et cetera is not the responsibility of the mine manager, the underground mine manager.

Q. If we could look at the next exhibit, PW11, which is now being displayed Mr Whittall.  Could you explain to the Commission what the photograph at PW11 shows?

A. Yes, that’s the coal prep plant but it’s a photo that I’ve kept in circulation for a long time because it was taken before the plant was just finished but without the walls on it’s a lot easier to explain.  So what you can see coming in from the right-hand side, this is looking back up, just from over here you can see that conveyor going off to the right and then there’s another one coming off from it, well that long conveyor is where that other photograph was taken from.  So we’re looking now from the other side of the prep plant from the earlier photo was taken from.

Q. And just for the written record, the first conveyor that you marked on the photograph at PW11 it looks to me like a black pipe perhaps of sorts running up the right-hand side?

A. Correct.

Q. And connects to a horizontal conveyor that runs –

A. Correct.

Q. – along the back of the CPP?

A. It’s not a pipe, what you’re looking at is the roof of the conveyor which stops the rain and water washing onto it.  So this is taken from across the road near the bathhouse, near that substation.  And just in simple terms without going into all the technical aspects of the prep plant but effectively the coal slurry comes in from the right-hand side into a small coal sump, there’s a concrete bunker underneath.

Q. And that’s just for the record Mr Whittall, just on the left-hand side of the structure?

A. I’ll try to be more descriptive.

Q. No you’re doing very well sir, I’m just adding in a few points.

A. So the concrete bunker sits on the left-hand side of the prep plant as we’re looking at, at the bottom.  There’s pipes running up the outside of the wall on the left-hand side of the prep plant and there are pumps, pumps the coal which is less than 35 millimetres in size because that’s what comes down from the mine out.  It pumps it up to the top, to the third floor, it goes through a cyclone up there and the cyclone is effectively a gravity, it simulates gravity by running the coal round in a very fast rate in circles and the light coal comes out of the top of that, drops down onto a shaker dewatering device and then the coal separates from the water, drops all the way down the bottom and feeds onto the conveyor and goes out as clean coal onto the stockpile.  So nothing has to be done to it, it’s effectively washed to being pretty much 1% ash coal, it’s beautiful.  The coal comes down so that the heavier coal, which is either rock in itself or coal with dolomite or some other stone pollution with it, comes down into a crusher and we crush to about two millimetres.  And from there it goes through another process which you can’t see, it’s in behind here, and then separates out the stone and the coal and again the coal goes out onto the conveyor.  The superfine goes into those big tanks you saw on the other side of the plant and those fines get dropped out.  So effectively all the coal, in simple terms, ends up on this conveyor going out onto the stockpile and the stone ends up on the other stack-out conveyor that drops the waste or the reject away onto another separate stockpile.
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Q. And, sorry you -

A. I was just going to say the equipment that you can see in the foreground is really only to do with the construction of the plant.  The plants a little bit different now, we’ve actually installed another conveyor which can feed from the stockpiles using a like little dump and it feeds up into the plant directly so if you went up there today you'd see another conveyor on the outside of that plant that was built a year or so later.

Q. And we would also see cladding on the outside of this structure?

A. That's right, as you did in the other photo, it’s a green cladding, correct.

Q. If I could bring you back to your brief, we’re at page 3 and there's a heading just above paragraph 13, if you could start from there again please?

A. “Amenities area.  Mine facilities for staff and equipment, otherwise called the amenities area, are located some seven kilometres up the Pike Valley and approximately 1.2 kilometres from the mine entrance.  The facilities at the amenities area include mining and engineering offices, an operations control room, an emergency response room, an administration building, including some bathhouse facilities, a workshop, stores and a mining personnel services building.  As I mentioned earlier the main miner’s bathhouse was situated near the CPP.  Attached and marked PW12 is a true copy of an aerial photograph obtained from company records of the amenities area.” 

Q. If I could take you now Mr Whittall to PW12 which has been displayed and perhaps just to orientate ourselves if we start at the bottom of the picture, I see a road coming in.  Can you just orientate us as to where we are?

A. Certainly.  We’re now looking at the southern side of the amenities area.  The road coming in on the bottom right-hand corner is coming from the upper Pike Bridge and so we’re going up the valley towards the mine entrance, as we go from the right-hand side of the photograph to the left‑hand side of the photograph.  Again this is an older photo.  It was a nice uncluttered one to be able to show the buildings, although there's a couple of things on there that have been built since.  In the bottom of the photograph you can see a white circle, that white circle is actually the base pad for the large water tank that now sits on top of that, that receives the water from the coal prep plant and also receives it from the stream just nearby there, and just below that photo which you can't see is the main pump station, big pump house, that pumps the water up into the mine so it receives the water out of that tank and pumps it up into the mine, that’s no shown on this picture.  The building in the bottom corner, in the bottom middle of the photo, is the McConnell Dowell offices, they were the largest contractor on site as they did their construction of the tunnel, so they had their own offices and admin staff and computer access, so they were kept physically separate, they’re just across the road and there's a building just below them that’s the dry store which would've been, ultimately is it Pikes, but it was used by McConnell Dowell for their dry stores equipment for going underground.  Just taking along the road, directly opposite McConnell Dowell is a little road going into the right, below the first of the retaining walls, what can't be seen behind that tree or that little tree-line is a couple of buildings, one of the McConnell Dowell bathhouse facility and also some contract offices which we use for our hydro monitor insulation crew because we put so many engineers on there wasn’t enough room for them to fit into our main offices, so we set up a little project team down there, in the last year or two.  The retaining walls do mark two other levels in the mine.  If we go up the road again, running from the right to the left in behind the tree-line, these are all – I didn’t hear Mr Smith’s evidence yesterday when he was talking about the construction of the site, but this area here, the amenities area is pretty much bordered by Rimu and big Podocarp so we sort of pushed it out as large as we could with DOC’s permission and then fitted in amongst without taking the next line of large Podocarps if you like so it’s ringed by big Rimus.  This road coming up from up to the right, sorry, to the left then swings in at the first of the main levels.  On that level is a number of buildings, I'll just run through what they are for you.  This first building which is pretty much in the centre of the photograph houses a number of staff, the environment manager Ivan Liddell was in there.  The human resources manager, 
Dick Knapp, the safety and training manager Neville Rockhouse and their teams were in that building, the safety training room was in there, for inductions and those sorts of things, the mines rescue room was in there and that was used during the emergency as the mines rescue central hub of operation if you like and general breakout rooms and there was some other training people et cetera in there, so they were basically environment, HR and safety training in that building.  Then there's a covered walkway and barbecue area and things were put in there as a bit of amenity for our staff, a long way from anywhere.  
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A. There's a covered walkway, runs along the front, although it’s not really clear, probably just because of the shadows but all in behind the tree there taking out the major section of that lower carpark area is the main amenities administration building and coming in the front, you can see some cars parked in the front of it, that’s just all the crushed gravel carpark.  In that building was housed the secretary PA, the probably the speaking at the time of, on the 19th of November is the easiest as to sort of people that were in there -

Q. Yes.

A. - because that did vary slightly.  We had the site general manager in there.  We had the engineering manager, the technical services manager, the technical services team so surveyors, geologists, Geotech engineers, those sort of people.  We had the finance team in there, so accounts payable were in there and also the project engineers so the guys who were looking after hydro installations and other things.  I had an office in there that used to be, I used to be in there permanently when I worked on site but after I relocated to Wellington I kept a office in that building although I relinquished the larger corner office to Doug.

Q. And when did you relocate to Wellington, Mr Whittall?

A. January 2010.

Q. Sorry, please continue.

A. So that was basically administration so we kept all of the senior managers together in that building so between those two buildings and the technical team so the engineer, if you then on the right-hand side of that lower deck there’s another bath house and that bathhouse was used by the staff that were located in that area so the management team and the engineers and some of the underviewers I think had their bath, their lockers in there as well and also visitors could use that bathhouse so that was a male bath house.  There was a smaller ladies bathhouse inside the main building.  Then there’s a covered walkway that goes up onto the top of the levels and you walk along the front of that retaining wall and so starting on the left-hand side of that deck this building here on the left-hand side shaped like an L, in the bottom part of that L section housed the lamp room, so cap lamps, rescuers and it also had some meeting tables and display tables for deputies and underviewers to address the guys.  It was a muster area at the start of shift for the guys to go to, while they’re getting all their lamps on they can be addressed by their crew leader or the shift co-ordinator.  Also in that room which now houses the gas chromatograph and all the other technical stuff was also the underviewer’s room where they could have their files and computers and desks et cetera.  Physically also in there was the production or mine manager’s office as well although at the moment he’s housed down in the other building since November but he was up there where the workforce were.  The, physically separate so you can't walk from one to the other, you go out one door and just where that car is parked to the middle of the apex of that building –

Q. That’s the L building just in the top corner.

A. The L building.

Q. Yes, sir.

A. Yep, we’re still talking on that one, is where the tag board is that we send a lot of photos of.  That’s when the guys come out of that door to get in their underground transport, that’s where they would go to.  Then you'd come back in another door and that top right-hand corner of the building is the control room and we’ll see some photographs of that later as well and then past down the hole way past the control room is the engineer’s office so there’s a bunch of engineers in there and there’s also another contract engineer’s room so free for when we get some larger contractors on site they’ve got somewhere to go and use computer facilities as well and there’s also an emergency room in there as well in addition to the control room but for first aid emergency which has got bigger doors that open out onto a concrete pad for an ambulance to pull up at for example.  That’s also our designed helicopter landing pad.  We’ve got several helipads up the valley, one down at the coal prep plant, one that’s half way up the road was pretty much where the end of the road was where we looked, a long road that went off into the distance where it just turned the corner and I see it went into the over-cut into the native bush, there’s a helipad there and the other helipad is this area here on the top deck.

Q. And just for the written record, Mr Whittall, you're identifying the concreted area in front, on top of the location identified with the 
L building.  Is that right?

A. It’s actual gravel there, compressed compacted gravels, yep.  The next building beside it is actually just a covered area and it houses underneath it the underground mine transporters, the graders, load hole dumps and that, we’ll come to those machines later but so it’s a refuelling area so there’s fuel, water and washdown areas for men’s boots and things like that so when they get out of their vehicles when they’ve come out of the mine and so they clean off before they go into the lamp room.  Just to the right of that there’s the main store.
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A. So that houses all the small stuff that you'd use on a daily basis, but there's also big racks in there for motors and other larger pieces of equipment.  There's a small mobile hoist crane in there for moving stores around, so the store man, purchasing officer and stores clerk, et cetera are all housed in there.  In the building next door to it there is a concrete apron on that one and it’s a three-bay workshop, double storey workshop with a crane in there and that’s got an electrical area and a mechanical area.  So that’s used for – we do small repairs on site.  Mostly, if gear’s in need of large repair it gets sent away, but otherwise we can do minor repairs and servicing in there as well, so that’s used for both mechanical and electrical servicing.  Also in that photograph is in the middle of it at the top, up against the bush is a concrete bunded area, which is a refuelling area.  So it’s got environmental sort of tanks that can collect spillage in that area.  So there's a bunch of gear and oils and other things stored in there which, if they leaked, they would just be contained.  And then there’s a building to the left of that.  It looks like it’s got a striped roof, which is just skylight type roof, that’s why it looks striped.  But that was used by McConnell Dowell as a workshop, but in more recent times the mine’s taken it back over as McConnell Dowell has reduced their presence on site and I think now houses chains, slings, et cetera in one area and electrical cables, from memory, in another part of it, so it’s just a small storage workshop.  And then on the left-hand side of that there's a bunch of shipping containers variously used for different things.  I think those ones are particularly McConnell Dowell ones and there's one there now that’s got all the gas gear that’s, in my hack system, been used.  That’s pretty much all that’s in that photo.  There's just general stuff, like there's roof bolts here on the left-hand side.  On the side of the road there is some mesh on the side there, but this isn’t the main storage area for all of our large consumables, that’s through the back down at the coal prep plant.

Q. Thank you Mr Whittall.  Let’s come back to your brief and we're still on page 3.  There's a heading just above paragraph 14.  If you could start reading again from there?

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 14

A. This is the access tunnel.  “Access to the coal deposit is gained via a 2.3 kilometre tunnel, driven uphill at approximately a five degree angle or 1 in 11 to intersect coal near the lowest point of the coal seam.  The tunnel is 5.5 metres wide and 4.4 metres high and was developed using a drill and blast operation.  The tunnel serves as the primary access to the mine for personnel and materials, and as the primary intake ventilation.  It also houses the water, compressed air and power services, and the coal slurry pipeline.  During the construction of the tunnel and the pit bottom in stone area, the tunnel also housed a conveyor belt for transporting rock.  This was planned to be decommissioned in the near future.  The entrance to the tunnel is known as the portal.  The tunnel is bolted and meshed along its entire length with a portion also being fully lined with sprayed concrete, otherwise known as shotcrete.  Attached and marked PW13 to PW15 are true copies of photographs obtained from company records, showing the portal and the tunnel as it was being developed.”

Q. If I can take you Mr Whittall, to the first of those exhibits marked PW13, which is now displayed.  Can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Certainly.  This is a photograph taken from a helicopter of the portal area.  What you can see going or just to orientate yourself, the actual whole underground on the portal is the area roughly in the middle of the photograph.  The trees have been removed and the face of the, the rock face has all been bolted and sprayed and supported.  In the foreground you're looking over the top of the White Knights Stream, which is one of the iwi’s sacred streams that we've had to take account of in the construction of the mine.  So the retaining wall there is not so much a retaining wall for the ground as it is, is a delineating barrier.  So there's just a row of retaining wall blocks there that keep all of our operations on the inside of that.  It’s quite a narrow little place.  It’s only about 15 metres wide so there's not a lot of space and we can't go further up the valley there.  It washes away into the cliff face.

Q. When you say “further up the valley,” again –

A. To the right-hand side.
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Q. – it’s just to the right-hand side of the photograph, thank you.

A. So the White Knight Stream’s coming in from the right-hand side flowing downhill and about 60 metres to the left of this photo is the confluence of the White Knight Stream with the Pike Stream coming in from the upper reaches of the Pike Valley.  So what you can also see in that photograph is the temporary conveyor, although I say temporary it’s been in there for a couple of years, several years now, since early 2007, so it’ll be taken, was to be taken out earlier this year had we been still in operation.  That conveyor was used for rock, so it was used during the construction of the tunnel and we’re still using and had been still using it for bringing rock out of the tunnel to keep it separate to the coal that was being flumed out and slurried out by the pipeline.  The truck just looks like it’s delivering something, it’s not of material importance.

Q. Perhaps just to orientate for the written record.

A. The truck on the left-hand side.

Q. Left-hand side, thank you.

A. Bottom of the photograph.  Behind that truck is a bin.  That acts as a surge bin for the rock that comes out of the mine and Fergusson’s had a contract to clear that bin regularly and routinely and they hold it down the road and that’s one of the reasons we hadn’t sealed the road yet, just the approaches to the bridges because we’re still trucking rock with heavy trucks over the last few years and once that was finished we were to seal the rest of the road.  In the middle of the photograph you can see what are two fans.  This photo’s a couple of years now, those fans were there for the construction of the tunnel, they’re parallel forcing fans, and you can see the duct or the tubing running around the corner into the tunnel, a slightly orangey colour, that’s the duct work.  This was – we’ll come to later in the statement about the shaft but that was originally used for the tunnel.  It was taken down and then reinstalled when the shaft collapsed so we could use it for ventilation for the period through until July ’09.

Q. And when you use the term, “Forcing ventilation,” Mr Whittall, what do you mean by that?

A. The two ways of ventilating a coalface, we’re sort of going off topic a little bit but the two ways of ventilating a face area is either to draw air away from that face and allow natural pressure to replace that air, so you have air coming in as it’s drawn out from the place or you can force air into the place and that positive pressure then that air just flows back out.  So because we were driving a tunnel it was more normal practice in a tunnelling situation to have forcing ventilation and that’s what we did.  So those fans were there, they forced air into the mine and then the air just came naturally out of the tunnel itself.  Also in that photograph are the McConnell Dowell buildings just next to the portal entrance where they had some facilities for their guys, some reporting area, they kept the cap plants there, and there’s also electrical distribution board set up for power for their boomer.  We’ll come some of the other equipment that was in the tunnel.  There’s also our compressed air, the large compressors.  The Pike compressors are also housed in that area on the right-hand side, although this photograph may predate their installation.  What else is on that photograph?  The other thing that’s - just to note some of the other features of it.  There’s like a box sump just to the left-hand side of the entrance, all the water that comes out of the mine, and this was in Mr Jones’ evidence the other day, he talked about doing a visit to have a look at discharges et cetera.  So the discharge from the tunnel came out, when it was just flowing on the ground, came out to that collection point just there and it went underground by tunnel, sorry, by pipe then back down to the left-hand side of the photograph.  And what’s not shown just to the left of this is dump pond number 1, pond 1. And that’s a dosing pond where there’s a little, doesn’t come up as blue on this photograph very much but there’s a little blue hose running against the escarpment there and that actually has a flocculate running up through it, that was pumped into that sump, that started the process of dropping out the solids so by the time the water ran down to the pond, about 50 metres from there, then it would start to be separating out and can could dose it with sulphuric acid or whatever else we had to do to make it clean for discharge.  So that’s the sort of thing that Craig and his off-sider or the other lady who was taking his job were up there looking at.

Q. And just to provide a little more context for some of the evidence that’ll come later.  Mr Whittall to the extent driftrunners were being used to transport men into the mine, can you just show with the pointer where they would travel?

A. So this was men or materials or a personnel drift so just what’s again not shown off to the left-hand side of this photo is the White Knight Bridge, so all traffic would go across that bridge and could either turn left and go down to the pond or turn right, which is just here, only just barely off photo.
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Q. On the far left side.

A. On the left-hand side of the photo and that truck has come from there.  It would drive up through the middle of the photo and then if they’re going into the portal area they’d just park in this area.  Otherwise they would turn to the left under the conveyor, this is a raised conveyor, it’s not as easy to tell in two dimensions but that’s up above the road, and driftrunners put LHDs, whatever would drive under there and would drive up into the tunnel beside the conveyor belt.

Q. And just one more question on this photograph Mr Whittall, we talked earlier about a tag board, you identified that at the amenities area, was there a point in time at which there was also a tag board here?

A. Yes there was, during the construction of the tunnel, while it was a single entry we had tag board, McConnell Dowell managed that process, so we had restricted number of people and you carried your own tag and you could put it on the board, you know, a determined number of slots and once all the slots were filled you couldn't go underground.

Q. If I can turn you to the next exhibit Mr Whittall, PW14.  Can you explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes, this is a photo of the tunnel being constructed by McConnell Dowell.  From memory the photo is only about 50 metres underground, something of that order of magnitude.  This is early on in the tunnel’s life so this photo was taken probably late 2006.  The equipment in the tunnel, the things in the photograph that you can note, the employee at the front left hand corner is the McConnell Dowell supervisor, he's got the lime green top which were all the McConnell Dowell guys.  The machine in the middle of it is an Atlas Copco Twin Boom Jumbo, so it’s a piece of equipment that’s used multipurpose, it’s electro-hydraulic so it runs off electricity but all the controls of it are hydraulic and it’s got two booms or two arms operated by two separate operators, one on either side of the machine, standing up inside the cabin area, which is up in here so there's no one actually up in there at the moment, or there could be but he might be just standing behind that rack on the back of it.  

Q. And is the cabin area that grey marked area?

A. That's right, so you're looking in the back windscreen not the front windscreen of the machine.  What you can see is below, reasonably clearly, running horizontally across the roof section of the tunnel is one of the booms and running sort of diagonally from the machine upwards is the other one, so there's two booms shown there.  They run independently and, as I said, they had two operators who operate them.  The process they would go through is to, I know Mr Edwards’ submission has gone through a lot of detail of the process of drilling and blasting, but this machine would be used to both drill out the face so that the holes would be drilled into the face, which it’s not doing at this stage, so into the face meaning into that area in front and then the blast would be loaded up, the shot would be fired, cleaned up, and this is in the post clean up mode, there you can see the face is nice and cleaned up, and then that machine would then be used to drill holes to place roof support and that’s what it looks like it’s doing at the moment, drilling a hole to put a bolt in to secure that mesh.  Because this was quite early in the tunnel, the first 50, 80 metres of the tunnel, nearly 100 probably, was all quite broken ground quite close to the surface and also had to be shotcreted and shotcrete is a spray on concrete mixed with a fibre, sometimes a steel fibre, only an inch or so long, and sometimes a nylon fibre depending on the mix, and that’s sprayed on so basically the fibre acts as a reinforcement but we also have mesh on the rib so that acted as a secondary reinforcement.  And in this area the shotcrete was sprayed on at the discretion of the URS consulting engineers or consulting GEOs to McConnell Dowell, variously between 25 millimetres and up to 100 odd millimetres thick depending on how much strength they needed in that particular part of the tunnel.  Out of the back of the machine it shows up well on the photo on the screen, but up on the wall it’s not quite so clear, there's some cables, there's electrical cable and hoses running out.  The one on the right hand side is the electrical cables so it’s got a trailing cable and there's another one just going into the back there, which would be its water supply.  The light on the right hand side would just be a normal electricity, so because this is well and truly in the early stage of the tunnel, there's no gas or anything so it’s just a single construction tunnel and so that would've been a normal electrical supplied light.
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Q. If I can take you to the next exhibit Mr Whittall, PW15 which is now being displayed.  Can you explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes, this is the same Jumbo but taken from in front of so this is a lot further up into the tunnel.  It’s adjacent to a, looks like it’s adjacent to a little cut out stub on the right-hand side it’s again hard, it’s easier to see on the TV screen that it is on the wall but the roadway is slightly wider here so there may have been a cut out, slightly wider for something else in that area.

Q. Actually, Mr Whittall, if I just interrupt you there.  Could we turn the lights off perhaps for this one because it may be easier for everyone to see the further detail?  Thank you.

A. So in that photo there’s a man standing there so that gives you a height of that roadway it’s about four and a half metres high.  This area has been bolted and meshed but it’s not shotcreted.  There’s a couple of pipes on the wall there.  They look like they’re not, well certainly the bottom one’s not coupled up to anything and the top one it’s hard to tell whether it’s been coupled up and in use or not.  They’d obviously come back out to do some secondary support with the rig of they’ve moved it back out of the face while they’re blasting.  It’s not at the coalface but it has got its stabiliser bars deployed so it looks like it’s there doing some additional bolting work and someone’s been up in front of it to take the photo.

Q. And the floor condition in this part of the tunnel, Mr Whittall, can you make any observation about that?

A. I did talk before about the water coming out of the tunnel and that’s pretty typical.  The tunnel was fairly wet but variously wet so a lot of the ground water would be discharged quite early on in the tunnel’s life.  Some places continue to drip and run for a long time and still do now and others dripped and ran for a little while and then dried up so the floor variously was quite damp.  Further out in the tunnel, in the main portion of the tunnel, and after it had been constructed for a while you're able to get the grader to get a nice camber on the road and there was a trench dug down this right-hand side of the photo or the true left side as you're looking up the tunnel and that took the water into that point and collected it and it ran out the tunnel into that sump but further up into the mine where it’s flatter and you're still working all the time then you'd get a lot of water dropping onto the road and it was quite wet.

Q. If I could just bring you back to your brief, Mr Whittall, we’re on page 4 and paragraph 17 and if I could have you read that last sentence just before we talk about the exhibit.

A. “Attached and marked PW16 is a true copy of a diagram obtained from company records showing the tunnel in relation to the coal seam.”

Q. So we now have PW16 that exhibit up and displayed, Mr Whittall could you explain this to the Commission?

A. Yes, we produced a lot of diagrams like this again for shareholders and others to understand where we were at.  This has come out of a quarterly or an annual report.  It was taken or its vintage is when the mine was at, or tunnel was at 2174 metres in so hence remaining section of tunnel so at this stage we had tunnelled up through the pit bottom in the stone area is off to the right-hand side of the diagram, the 2000 metre mark is there.  We went through the Hawera Fault at about 2090 metres from memory.

Q. The Hawera Fault is marked on this diagram?

A. Hawera Fault is marked on here as the dashed green, red and white line running diagonally through the picture.  The hard rock on the right-hand side is the Gneiss that we’ve spoken about in previous submissions which is a metamorphic hard basement rock or sometimes I think 
Dr Newman was referring to it as a basement rock.  Then on the, that’s the eastern side of the Hawera Fault.  On the western side of the Hawera Fault we go into the coal measures.  What’s actually happened here, because the Hawera Fault is such a large upthrust, thousand metre upthrust fault it’s actually got what’s called fault drag on it and it has dragged the coal seam which would have typically continued to trend downwards.  It’s actually dragged it up and this fault drag all the way to the surface is coal exposed to the surface edge, so it’s quite a dislocation in this area of the coal seam so what that meant was we’d done a lot of drilling in this area in particular to understand that.  
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A. We drilled holes from the western side of the fault down through it to pick up the fault interface and also from the western side over in the centre of the drawing to understand what that was going to look like so ultimately we understood that when we drove the tunnel through rather than coming into the normal flat projection of that coal seam, we’re actually going to be coming into the Paparoa coal measures or the Brunner coal measures below the Brunner seam and have to continue tunnelling through hard rock up into the base of the coal seam roughly where it flattened out, which was our strategy and there’s a borehole, from memory PRDH9, which is the intersection point where the tunnel is aiming for.

Q. Just to give some sense of perspective here Mr Whittall, what’s the size of the tunnel that’s been driven through?

A. That’s five and a half metres wide by 4.5 metres high.

Q. Thank you.  And let's come back to your brief.  We're at page 4, just the heading above paragraph 18?

A. Sure.  “Pit Bottom.  Adjacent and connected to either side of the access tunnel, an additional 470 metres of stone drive was developed, commencing approximately 1700 metres along the tunnel as part of the pit bottom in stone facilities.  To the north side of the pit bottom in stone excavation, mine infrastructure for coal collection, crushing and underground coal transport was constructed.  The slurry pipeline commenced here and extends to the CPP.  The southern area was mostly dedicated to the water storage, high pressure pumping systems and electrical infrastructure associated with the hydro-monitor system.  Pit bottom in stone is located several hundred metres down the tunnel from where the access tunnel enters the coal seam at a low point in the basin of the coal seam.  This allows for the coal to be slurried downhill from mining operations.  Attached and marked PW17 is a true copy of a photograph, obtained from company records, showing the pit bottom in stone in construction.”

Q. Can I just pause you there Mr Whittall.  We're looking at PW17, that’s now being displayed.  And can you explain to the Commission what we can see in this photograph please?

A. Yes, this the large slurry slump under construction.  When we chose to put pit bottom in stone, it was to allow some very large wide excavations to be done in a stable environment and this particular sump is the roof height’s 11 metres high in there and the road is up to eight metres wide in stone.  So all of the – it was driven in several passes from the other direction so that we were able to excavate the roof area as a tunnel and we were able to bolt it and fully shotcrete the roof area up above and then we came back and did another pass through the bottom and took out the base and those are actually walls about three quarters of a metre thick of concrete to actually give structural integrity to the walls, and on the other side, similarly on the right-hand side, and what you're looking at is a McConnell Dowell Construction employee building the framework for the end of the slurry sump so the coal – we'll look at some other diagrams in a moment which will explain it better, but the coal would enter this sump from where the photographer has taken the photo, and the coal would be built up as a slurry against the end wall that’s yet to be constructed here, and there’d be a couple of pipes, one higher one and one lower one, installed in that before that end wall was put in, and that’s where the coal would be discharged to the slurry pumps.

Q. Thank you Mr Whittall.  If I can bring you back to your brief at page 4, the bottom of paragraph 19.  I think we're about to talk about some of those other images you just referenced, but if I could have you read just the last sentence of your brief at paragraph 19 before we do so?

A. “Attached and marked PW18 and PW19 are true copies of a 3D video and a diagram, obtained from the company records, of the pit bottom in stone facilities.”

Q. And if we just pause at the start of that video Mr Whittall.  I believe as we look at it, there maybe a couple of places where you would like us to pause so you give some more detail.  So if you just say “pause,” we'll attempt to do that and then we'll end with a diagram which is PW19, which will be static and you may be able to speak to it in more detail?

A. It might be easier if I just maybe point out some things before you start the video, then I'll just let you run it right through on this one.  So what you're looking at is the tunnel coming up from the right-hand side, the bottom right-hand side, coming up through the tunnel, and you can see it’s sort of wedge-shaped to give the impression of it going uphill, and it goes up and enters through and disappears off to the left-hand side as it goes up towards the Hawera Fault into the mine.  So the number of features of this pit bottom area, it’s all in stone drivage so it’s all in the Gneiss.  Its position was reasonably flexible.  We kept on mining until we got to the point where we could get really good rock conditions and we’d done a lot of boreholes in that area as well to determine that.  
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A. So what you're looking is on the north side, we’re on the south side orientation now, on the north side the coal would come in from the top left hand side of the photo, of the picture, in a flume, an open steel trough, it would come into the first of the holding pens and that’s basically just a surge point that would take, if all the power dropped off, would take all the coal that was fitted into the flume line above it, so basically a dump pond, it wasn’t meant to do a lot of storage.  So coal would drop into there.

Q. And just for the written record we’re travelling along the top from left to right?

A. Yes, the most northern roadway there, and we’re travelling from left to right, through that storage surge bin, out of the bottom of that surge bin comes two open fluid lines with gates on either one, so you'd have one or the other open at a time, and it would go – assuming we’re receiving coal out of the closest one to us at the moment, the coal would come out of that flume, would come around the corner and would go into one of two large crushers, McKlenner hand crushers.  There's two there and that’s why there's two outlets from the storage bin, just as a 100% redundancy, so you only use one crusher at a time but if you had to maintain one and one breakdown you can open the other gate and put the coal through the other crusher, so we built a duplicate system there.  The coal would bypass, if it was less than 35 ml, so it didn’t get crushed again because that was the optimum size to go down the slurry pipeline.  If it was larger than 35 ml it would go through the crushers and would be broken up so that the water and the 35 ml coal would go straight onto the lower flume that sat below the crushing station.  The larger stuff would go through the crushers and then rejoin the smaller material in the flume and as a discharge from the crushing station into that large sump and the chap that was taken the photo of before, building the end wall, was basically in this large excavation here and from the bottom there to the top there's about 11 metres high and about eight metres wide.  It’s quite a large area.  On the downhill side of that is a series of slurry pumps, they’re in series rather than parallel so the coal would actually go from one to the other and there was more there than was required.  They’re all sitting on concrete plinth but there was enough pumps there to pump the coal down the pipeline.  We’ll talk a bit more about the coal pipeline later visually but just to understand at this point, because the pipeline was about 11 inch inside diameter but we matched the coal slurry pumps to the size of the pipeline because it had to transport the coal from this point nearly 10 kilometres to the coal prep plant and there's a lot of up and down in the road but it’s actually about 300 metres vertical elevation difference between this point and the coal prep plant, so even though it goes up and down the roads there's enough head to transport water.  There's also enough head to transport coal because our coal is really light, it’s only 1.2 kilograms so it’s 1.2 specific gravity.  However, because there's dolomite and rock and other things that get mixed up with it, if you just allowed it to go into gravity that would settle out, so while it could gravity feed all the way to the prep plant we actually have a series of pumps that pump it at about four and a half metres a second, from memory, that’s quite a high pressure and quite a fast flow down the valley, so we have all these pumps lined up, but over time the pipeline wears and by only wearing several millimetres getting slightly larger it actually reduces the pressure on the pipeline enough that we had to have an extra pump there just for the wear in the pipeline over time, so there's an extra plinth and an extra pump there than what’s required.  Then there's the electrical installation that goes with all of those pumps.  All the bullet starters and motors and everything else to with them.  on this side of, the south side of the pit bottom and stone area –

Q. So now we’re moving into the bottom lower part of the photograph?

A. Into the lower part of it with the central tunnel being the access if you like, through the middle, so there's the north side of pit bottom and stone, the south side of pit bottom and stone was for stuff going the other direction.  We looked at that concrete pad at the amenities area and I said there was a pump station just below that, off the picture, that pumps water from there up into the mine and up into a big holding tank here, so this is what we call a fluming water pond, so the water here would be for low pressure washing of coal away from the coalfield, continuous miners rather than the hydro monitor, so in this picture there's a number of pumps as well and these pumps, the water comes up the tunnel from the bottom right hand corner to the top left, it comes around that corner into this sump, it looks like a really big swimming pool of really nice crystal clear water, out of the bottom of that there’s these pumps, they going to go round the corner and then they go off up into the mine and that’s the water that’s used for fluming water.
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Q. And those pumps, just for the written record Mr Whittall, they’re in the second column perhaps that comes on the south side?

A. Yes, the second roadway.

Q. The second roadway down there, thank you.

A. Correct, yes, or second cut-through.  So that’s where those pumps are.  There’s electrical installations in the top one, the main substation for the mine is in there.  And there’s a number of electrical installations in that area as well.  So just to give an orientation, there’s a video that runs with this as well that you might get a bit better perspective.  It’s a bit hard in two dimensions.

Q. We’ll play that now perhaps.  

VIDEO PLAYED TO THE COMMISSION
A. Gives you a perspective of the excavations that were done there and the size of, it was quite a large civil construction.  McConnell Dowell did all the civils, pit bottom area and they brought in their own civil construction experts to do some of these large jobs.  There’s about 470 metres of additional stone drive that we originally weren’t going to put in the, that wasn’t the original tender and it added quite a number of months to the construction.  But the alternative was to try and put some of those large wide drive-ages into the coal on the western side of the Hawera Fault which we’d started to understand how badly broken it was and I had lost confidence in its ability to have a life of mine stability so this was a much better option.

Q. Thank you Mr Whittall.  If I could bring you back to your brief, if we can come to page 5, there’s a heading just above paragraph 20 and if I could ask you to start reading again from there please.

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE 

A. “The ventilation shaft.  The mine’s ventilation shaft is located to the west of the Hawera Fault as part of the pit bottom in coal development.  The shaft was originally constructed as a raise bore shaft measure approximately 4.2 metres in diameter.  However a failure of the lower portion of the shaft during construction, due to the de-lamination of micro fractured stone prior to supporting, meant that the lower portion of the shaft was in-filled and abandoned and the upper section of the shaft was connected to workings via an Alimak raise measuring 2.5 metres by 2.5 metres.  Two further surface connections, one intake and one return, were planned just west of the current workings.  Attached and marked PW20 is a true copy of a diagram obtained from company records showing the ventilation shaft and Alimak raise.

Q. So if I could turn you now Mr Whittall to PW20, the exhibit that has just been displayed.

A. Mmm.

Q. And can you also explain what this diagram shows to the Commission?

A. The diagram here is the shaft, the upper section is the original raise bore shaft, the lower section’s the Alimak.  The surface contour again is quite arbitrary and the helicopter was shown there with a bucket hanging off the bottom of it representing the thousand flights it took with buckets of concrete up to fill the plug, fill the plug with concrete in the shaft.  The raise bore was done with a single pilot hole and there’s a number of other bore holes at the location for data as well.  And the top 30 metres, although it’s not shown here, was drilled in a rig and then pumped with concrete, actually with a slurry grout into the strata and it took several thousand bags of grout into that hillside to stabilise that colliery area.  Over about a eight-month period that was constructed.  Then the pilot hole was drilled down to where the roadway was going to be.  The roadway was then driven to the bottom of the pilot hole and the ream head attached to the rods –

Q. And so just for the written record.  The roadways are marked by the light grey drawing coming from the left side of the diagram?

A. At the bottom of the diagram, correct.  And then the raise bore, which is a big circular head, was rotated with picks on it, it was rotated and drawn back up the shaft forming a 4.2 meter hole in the ground essentially.  
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A. One of the things that has to be assessed when you look at a raise bore is the ground’s ability to stand up without support until such times as it can be supported, depending on the ground it may not even need to be supported and all the assessments that were done indicated that that would be case by the consultants to the people doing the construction but what we found happened was once we’d finished raising the shaft we had to put a hoist in the top and then start working from the top down, so this is McConnell Dowell were doing the construction, start working from the top down and bolting as you go because you can't go straight down it because the men would be exposed to the unsupported walls but while they were doing we started to find slabs of rock at the bottom of the shaft which we didn’t know where they came from.  They just landed at the bottom of the shaft and it was problematic we started digging them out but we thought once, if we can keep ahead of it then by the time they would get down to that point they’d just bolt it up and we’d be okay, but they started getting bigger and bigger size of a sort of billiard table lumps of rock coming down so we stopped and put video cameras down the bore hole, down the shaft, lowered them down and found that there was an area around the 68, 70 metre mark had started to unravel basically like micro fractured rocks had started slabbing off the sides and we couldn't bolt, or McConnell Dowell couldn't bolt and mesh their way down fast enough to stop that from perpetuating and eventually it got ahead of our ability to muck it away and it filled up and blocked that bottom and once that happened we had to go back to forcing ventilation which we’d just come off, once we’d made the hole through.  Ultimately that continued to, it basically self supported, choked itself off but by the time we got down to the bottom area the excavation or the tunnel which had been 4.2 metres wide, the shaft, was now over 11 metres wide and it was unsupportable.  We couldn't safely get men out there to do anything with it.  We looked at all sorts of robotic options and just couldn't do anything so ultimately the decision was made to fill it with concrete, stabilise the top of it, abandon it, which was a real shame and then put another go around it effectively and reuse the top section which was very stable and had been bolted and meshed all the way down and had no issues but it was just once it started to unravel without anyone there to stop it, it kept on going, so what’s also shown in that diagram is the Alimak raise that was done and I think there’s some description of the Alimak rise, if not in my evidence it’s certainly in Mr Edwards’ submission as to the methodology, but the Alimak raise was done around that section just far enough off standing off the shaft not to be affected by the ground that had already started to collapse to give us a roughly stable enough ground for the Alimak guys to work in but still very broken in that area.

Q. Thank you, Mr Whittall, if I could bring you back to your brief, we’re on page 5 and ask you to start reading from paragraph 21.

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 21

A. “The pit bottom in the coal area adjacent to the Hawera fault is a series of permanent life-of-mine roadways which house water storage and pumping systems as well as providing access to the mining areas to the west.  Attached and marked PW21 is a true copy obtained from company records of a 3D digital flyover of the mine.”

Q. So we’re going to show this flyover now, Mr Whittall, and I’d ask if you could just perhaps describe to us what we’re looking at and if you'd like us to pause at any point then please just let us do so.  Perhaps before we start we might just orientate ourselves as to where we are?

A. Certainly.  This is a digital video if you like taken from our electronic database which shows, they’re all topographic photos so that the photos are true and accurate as far as the, what we’re looking in the topography and once we, we do underground in this flyover as well and the tunnel is also orientated exactly out of our database so it’s all survey correct but it shows up as a digital image rather than as a true photograph.  The black line is, apologies, that’s a little bit annoying it wasn’t cleaned up as well as I would've liked so that’s actually the flightpath that we’re taking on so you track a flightpath on the computer and then what we’d be looking at is if we were flying in a helicopter or something and we’ll be flying along the black line so it’ll look like it’s snaking off in front of us which is where we’re going to but it has no relevance to the actual pictures we’re looking at, so we’re now on top of the escarpment so if we start the video.

VIDEO CONTINUES TO BE PLAYED
A. I’ll do it, it goes reasonably slow to start with so I can just orientate you.  You can see where, we’re actually flying slightly to the west and about to go over the edge of the escarpment so you can see it’s quite a steeply dipping basin of coal, the coal seam 100 odd metres below us there, what you're looking at in the background is the, is actually pretty much the line of the Hawera fault projected to the surface so it forms a crest of the escarpment.  Now is the western escarpment and the basin of the Pike coalfield.
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A. We're coming onto the escarpment where we showed you the Brunner seam before and the Paparoa seam down in the tree line.  All the white areas are just areas that we didn't digitise in for the sake of this video.  They would be there otherwise.  What you're looking at well and truly in the background of that photo is the coal prep plant down on the Van Der Geest Farm and the narrow sort of area of green colour coming up the valley is the Pike Valley.  So that’s the Pike Valley over there.  So now flying along the edge of the escarpment and we'll come down to the upper reaches of the Pike Stream or fly down the valley and you'll see we're following that little black line.  So you can see it’s very steeply incised, very steep cliffs, very, very narrow ridges.  There's some old drill rig sites there.  They just sit on the ridges, the only place you can really drill.  In the middle of the photo coming into view is the shaft.  So that’s our shaft.  It’s about 50 metres.  Maybe we could just pause there for one second.  The shaft side itself is on the side of a ridge.  What you can't see very well here, is actually a deeply incised gully running down there and another deeply incised gully running down there.

Q. Just on either side of the shaft?

A. On either side, so sorry yes.  Just to the east and to the west of the shaft site.  So the shaft sits on a ridge, very narrow ridge, and we had to excavate out quite a deep platform for it to sit on, and the helicopter pad is that little orange bit above it.  So there's a little pad where the helicopter can land.  The next pad down, there's a big retaining wall.  That’s why it took eight months to excavate and develop up there before we were ready to start the actual shaft.  And then further down, and we'll talk, we'll show you the Slimline shaft comes into the commentary a bit later, but it’s positioned on another little flat nose further down the same ridge, so we're quite restricted in where we can put things up in this environment.  Some of the other drill holes we talked about earlier for the pit bottom in stone, which is back along the valley.  Pretty much the tunnel runs along that valley from where the shaft is back into the top of the photograph and followed the Pike Stream pretty much sub-parallel to that.  So to get to the drill sites for those other holes about pit bottom, you needed to land up at this site, walk down into the stream, walk along the river, and then climb back up the hillside to the site.  It’s extremely difficult terrain to access and very deeply incised all the way.  Thank you.  So the video on our fly down roughly down the Pike Stream and you'll see it’s quite steep all the way.  Just a little bit of colour coming into the view is the portal area so we'll go past that.  We'll follow that black line and we'll swing around the amenities area and come back again.  It’s about 1.2 kilometres from the amenities area up to the portal.  There's the Pike Stream running down there through the valley.  And the buildings we've just previously described earlier, the training buildings and the amenities.  We're now driving up along the road.  That was a very difficult road to install up the side of the mountain and down around over the White Knights Stream.  You can see the confluence there on the left.  Then we go underground.  This is a true representation of the tunnel so it gives you an idea of the difference between the tunnel and the surface topography.  So you're looking at the underside of the Pike Stream running through there.  The big green on the right is a projection of the Hawera Fault, so we're going to go through that.  You can't see through it at the moment because in the computer it forms a barrier with the coal seams to the right.  So we’ll fly through there in a minute.  This is the pit bottom area we just showed in the previous video.  So now we'll go through the Hawera Fault and we'll come out into the coal measures but not into the coal itself.  So we're in the sedimentary rock.  Apologies.  It may get a little disorienting for a moment.  Can we just stop it there for a second, thank you.  Because the other one that I showed you was an engineer’s graphic, sounds very nice and smooth and pretty, this is straight out of our database.  So the roads are as they were driven, so they're quite – all the bumps and hollows and hollows in the roof, et cetera are as they were actually drilled, so this has been picked up by our surveyors, put into our database and then recreated out of that.  
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A. So it shows that it’s quite a broken area down around this pit bottom area where we’ve come through the Hawera fault.  The two things you can see, you can see the shaft coming in the top, from the top of the middle of the picture here, it’s shown as being truncated where we feed it so they’ve taken the bottom section of the shaft out because it’s now filled in, and you can see the Alimak on a slight incline going up and coming into the side of the shaft.  We’ve since bottom-filled that slight bit of shaft with some gravel so you don’t actually come out into a big hole like that, you come out onto a flat area.  The other thing you can see in that picture is the Slimline shaft which we’ll talk about shortly as well.  It’s about a 600 millimetre diameter large backroom bore hole basically.  That was drilled from the ridge just down from the shaft as well and comes into the pit bottom area and it will be shown on other plans later on.  You can also see the steepness and elevation of some of these roads, they become a bit more apparent as we swing around it again.  So, what we’re looking at now is back to the east, back down the tunnel alignment roughly, with pit bottom in coal, we talk about, is down to the right there.  Basically all of what you're looking at is the pit bottom and coal area and the roadways that are closest to here, from roughly that larger roadway that runs through the middle of the drawing, this side of the two shafts, from there up, the other roadways that run in stone in the groundman area, which we’ll also talk about later, so you can continue please.

VIDEO CONTINUES TO BE PLAYED

A. See the tunnel coming in from the left hand side now as we’ve come across to the other side of pit bottom.  You see how high up these drivers go, above the shaft, they were up in stone and coal mostly.  This black line here, and you'll see other black lines coming in, this is actually a bore hole from the surface although the computer has shown it going right through it doesn’t in fact do that.  That’s the grizzly bore hole that you'll see often in our gas monitoring information, and you'll see a whole bunch of other bore holes in the background there that have come down into the strata.  You see the hydro panel off in the background, we’ll see that a bit closer in a moment.  This is looking from the south side of the pit bottom south, so these are all the high pressure water pumps and the electrics for the hydro monitors are down in this area, over onto the right hand side now as we look at it.  In the middle of the photo now you can see two roadways going from the centre road across to the right hand road, that’s the two raw coal sumps that were excavated most recently.  The road on the right that’s not connected was stopped coming up the hill and the roadheader is currently constructing that road back downhill to join it, the hydro panel, you can see all the different colours that the surveyors like to use for different phases of extraction as they’ve gone in there and surveyed it, and the roadway very much closest to us in the photo is where the ABM 20 was.  Give you a bit of an idea of orientation and height and distances.  You can see the hydro panel is extracting back downhill from what's in the centre of the photo now, back down to the right.  

COMMISSION ADJOURNS:
11.28 AM
COMMISSION RESUMES:
11.47 AM

examination continues:  MS SHORTALL

Q. Mr Whittall, I think we ended at page 5 of your brief and if you come to paragraph 23 and just start from the heading above that please.

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE 

A. “Administration And staff.  At the time of the explosion the majority of company staff were based in Greymouth at the mine site.  Some additional corporate staff were located in Wellington.  Most of the company’s management team were based at the mine site office, including the site general manager, the human resources manager, technical services manager, coal preparation plant manager, environmental manager, safety and training manager, engineering manager and production manager.  Other employees at the mine site included human resources, technical services, health, safety and environment staff, engineering staff, production staff, CPP staff and administrative staff.  At the time of the incident there were 69 miners ranked hierarchically from underviewers, deputies, senior miners, experienced miners, miners and trainee miners.  The company’s head office is situated in Wellington.  At the time of the incident staff working at the head office included various members of the management team, including myself as chief executive, also the company’s chief financial officer.  There was a small number of administrative staff based at the company’s head office.  The statutory mine manager was based at the mine site and oversaw the operation of the mine site.  The statutory mine manager managed predominantly the underground operations of the mine and supervised the health and safety aspect of the mine operation.  The statutory mine manager as at 19 November 2010 was Douglas White.  Mr White was employed in January 2010 as the operations manager for the mine, to whom the statutory mine manager position reported.  Upon the resignation of the incumbent mine manager, Mick Lerch in June 2010, Mr White commenced responsibilities as the statutory mine manager on 26 June 2010.  This was intended to be a temporary appointment until a replacement mine manager could be recruited and appointed.  Before he was appointed s the operations manager for the company Mr White was the Deputy Chief Inspector of Coal Mines with the Department of Mines in Queensland.  When Mr White took over the role of statutory mine manager, a contract development manager was engaged in a
non-statutory role to assist him.  On 13 September 2010 Stephen Ellis commenced with the company as production manager.  It was intended that he would become the statutory mine manager.  Although qualified in the United Kingdom he was unable to assume that role until he became qualified under New Zealand legislation.  Mr White continued to hold the statutory position until such time as Mr Ellis obtained his 
New Zealand qualification, which was after 19 November 2010.  At the time of Mr Ellis’ appointment Mr White was operations manager and his direct reports were the productions manager, safety and training manager, engineering manager and CPP manager.  This effectively gave Mr White control of and responsibility for the mine’s operations from the coal face to the coal train.  Following my appointment as chief executive in October 2010 Mr White’s role was changed to site general manager and he expanded his responsibilities to include the departments of environmental, technical Services and Human Resources.  The role of site general manager was not the same scope as my previous role of general manager mines.  The role of general manager mines, especially in 2010, was additionally and largely focussed on shareholder interaction, capital markets and other corporate functions.  Attached and marked PW22 is a chart which I have created showing some of the management positions in the company and the dates that those positions were held by various people.”  

Q. If I can just stop you there Mr Whittall and turn your attention to PW22, which is now displayed and ask you to explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows.

A. Yes.  I’ve created this chart, it doesn’t show all of the management positions of the company but ones that are relevant to the more operational aspects of the site and it’s divided into different years.  The year’s not exactly the same width, they depend on how many people filled the roles in each of those years, and they go from top to bottom, are some of the key roles in the company, and from left to right and in different boxes the people who held those roles at different times.  And you’ll note that in some places one person holds multiple roles.  So I'll just go through it from top to bottom.  
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Q. Yes please.

A. So the general manager of New Zealand Oil and Gas was Gordon Ward when I started with the company.  He held sort of a dual role.  He was employed by New Zealand Oil and Gas as the general manager and based in Wellington of that company, but he also was the general manager of Pike River Coal, albeit he wasn't employed under our payroll system if you like.  There was no one under the Pike River payroll system at that stage.  He held that position until the end of 2006, January 2007, at which time he transferred across full-time to Pike River Coal and left his position with New Zealand Oil and Gas and he became the chief executive of Pike River Coal and relinquished his position with New Zealand Oil and Gas.  He stayed in that position until October the 1st of 2010 and when I was appointed on October the 2nd and held that position through until the start of the receivership and then changed, but this diagram goes through till the 19th of the 11th on the right-hand side, so it does –

Q. So Mr Ward was your boss, Mr Whittall?

A. Yeah he was my – I directly reported to him from when I started in early ’05 and I'll come to myself in a moment.  So Gordon, he’s the red bar.  He goes across from left to right until the first week of October 2010 when he had resigned from the company.  My role as chief executive commenced then and went through until as chief executive of Pike River Coal Limited until the 13th of December when the company went into receivership.  My role as general manager I haven’t split out my first appointment which is as mine manager because I thought it might have been confusing.  My original position was appointed on the 21st or so of February 2005 and my title was mine manager.  We didn't actually have a mine, it was just the title and it wasn't a statutory position, it was an organisational position.  But within a year I’d moved to the general manager’s role, so I just included that one role right through.  So in my role as mine manager, originally in that first 12 months I reported to Gordon as did our environment manager who I'll come to later, and the contract manager or project manager, Les McCracken, who was a consultant to the company, and we all reported through to Gordon for that first 12 months and then after 2006 that changed.  My role as general manager mines, meant it was a reasonably flat organisation as you'll see in the subsequent plan and all of the people that we subsequently employed after that because it was quite small at that stage, reported through on a flat structure to myself.  So as we recruited an engineering manager, tech services manager, all those roles reported through to me, and after 2006 so did the environment manager as well.  So my role as general manager went from February 2005 through until my appointment as chief executive as the start of October 2010.  A site general manager role didn't exist up until my appointment as chief executive and Doug took that role over or was appointed to that position from the start of October 2010 as well, so his role changed. It probably is easy to explain it and I think we explain it slightly in words later, but during my period as general manager until the operations manager’s role was appointed, so up until Nigel Slonker’s role in 2009 each of the management team had reported to me as general manager and I’d reported to Gordon along with a number of other transport logistics and other financial managers.  The operations manager role came into being in about April 2009 and the first appointment to that role was Nigel Slonker.  As the mine had got more complex and we had more reports, I created the role of operations manager and the operations manager’s role was to have responsibility for the four areas of production as the production manager and the statutory mine manager.  Also reporting to him was the safety and training manager and the engineering manager and also the coal prep plant manager.  So he basically gave the operations manager responsibility from the coal face right through to the coal going onto the train, and with support from the engineering and the safety and training department.  So that was the ops manager, and the first incumbent was Nigel.  He was with us from April till September 2009.  He resigned with a few months’ notice for family reasons, personal reasons, and in the absence of anyone to fill that role I had the pleasure of taking over both the operations role and also the statutory manager’s role at that stage.
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A. So, that’s why my name appears in three different locations at that period.  After I recruited Doug White to that role, he started in January 2010 and he became the operations manager with the previous same spread of responsibility which was, Doug’s role was to have responsibility for the mine manager by which time we had a separate manager under Doug, Mick Lerch, who was below the coal prep plant manager, the environment manager and the safety and training manager.  Doug continued in that role of operations manager through until his appointment as site general manager and even though those bars overlap I suppose theoretically that one stopped and the other one finished as his other one commenced, at about the first week of October.  On the line which is marked, “Tunnel manager,” as we heard I think from one of the inspectors, the tunnel started off as a tunnel rather than a coal mine because there was no gas in it and it was operated under the same health and safety legislation but as a civil tunnel rather than as a coal mine so when we started the mine in 2006 it was actually started as a tunnel and I had attained my first class metalliferous manager’s ticket which allowed me to become a manager of a tunnel as well as a metalliferous mine, and so I was the first tunnel manager if you like.  We appointed the project manager from McConnell Dowell who had an A grade tunnel manager’s ticket as the acting manager so he had an appointment which allowed him to be in control of the tunnel when the tunnel manager was absent, so that meant that backshifts and weekends and anything else, he was in control if I was off site, he was in control but while I was there I held the statutory position of tunnel manager, and I did that until such time as I can recruit our first mine manager, other than myself, so we were all sort of a jack of all trades in that first year or so of the project.  So, Kobus Louw was recruited out of Sasol, the large South African coalmining company, and he came to us in about February 2007 and he was appointed, once he got his qualifications ratified in New Zealand, he was appointed as the tunnel manager and stayed in that statutory position right through until the end of the tunnel and the tunnel was completed as a civil tunnel in about September 2008 and then it was converted to a coal mine, so it was declared to be a coal mine under the Coal Mines Legislation and Kobus became the mine manager rather than the tunnel manager, and Kobus continued in that role so there was no longer a tunnel manager.  Kobus continued in that role until his own resignation to go back to South Africa and rejoin Sasol in 2009.  So he’d been with us about pretty nearly two years.  
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A. Dropping onto the next line which is the mine manager which is the statutory legislated position.  Kobus held that position as we just discussed.  When he resigned we then had to find a replacement.  I was unable to – sorry, Nigel Slonker had previously interviewed for Kobus’ position a year before and so I knew his availability and had kept in personal contact with him so when Kobus put his notice in I contacted Nigel and went through another interview but pretty much he was available to come that time.  He had declined the job before for financial reasons in Australia so I got an interim manager, Mick Bevan, joined us.  He was a contractor by a company called Pelorus in Australia and he joined us for several months and then after Nigel started I kept Mick for quite a while as a sort of an extra mining person on site which was good.  Nigel joined us as the both stat manager in his own right and he also carried the role of operations manager which meant that he had the other three departments reporting to him as well remembering at this stage we’re only, had only just got into coal not very far and we were just developing a few of the roadways around pit bottom.  Nigel started when the shaft had been collapsed and we were doing the Alimaks so he started in the middle of that so it was quite a small operation at that stage.  When Nigel left I didn’t have the ability to get anyone back like Mick Bevan.  He was unavailable to me and I didn’t want to get someone else who could just do the job for a couple of months as a caretaker so I assumed the role of statutory manager for myself again for several months while we went through the recruitment process to replace both the operations manager and the stat manager and by this stage the mine, even though it was only quite tiny, we’d got into coal and there was gas and other sort of normal mining things to deal with so the company decided to split the role of operations manager from the role of statutory mine manager and we recruited two positions that time.  Mick Lerch joined us in December 2009 but it took him about a month or so to get his gratified, his certificate of competency via both the mutual recognition system and also the professional conversation system that Harry Bell referred to earlier and I relinquished the role of mine manager to Mick Lerch I believe on the 5th of January 2010 from memory and he continued on in that role.  Unfortunately he had a similar issue to Nigel Slonker as far as where his partner lived and other personal reasons and he resigned reasonably early into his tenure as well which was very disappointing because these roles are often hard to fill and hard to find good people so he left which put Doug in a similar position to what I’d been in.  Doug was there as the operations manager but he was also a very experienced mine manager and he took over that role while we went and recruited another mine manager to report to him and he stayed in that role and was still in that role on the 19th of November.  The role of production manager isn't on this table but that’s the role that I spoke previously Steve Ellis taking, but Steve has since got his ticket in January but at that stage wasn’t able to be appointed as the statutory manager.  The technical services manager was a role that we needed very early on and that was one of the roles we brought on in 2005 at the same time we brought on our human resources and technical services and engineering managers all started in the same month back in 2005.  Guy Boyes was our first technical services manager.  He was ex Solid Energy, ex worked on the West Coast, degree engineer when we recruited him he was working for BHP or BMA in Queensland and he was an experienced coalminer or his career was in coal so he came on board as tech services manager.  He stayed in that role until 2007.  He did stay with the company beyond that but he stayed on in a senior technical role and we appointed another technical services manager, 
Mr Udo Renk.  Udo Renk was another degree engineer out of Germany with a lot of experience all in underground coal and also some other related coal industries as well as direct technical management and he stayed with us until the middle of 2008 and went, they’d relocated countries to another job.  We interviewed and offered the job to Pieter van Rooynan who joined us in January 2009 although Pieter was unable to join us immediately for his own company reasons.  We recruited him out of Africa and so we waited for him.
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A. In the interim we employed Terry Moynihan as a contract into that role, he was a very experienced mining engineer, domiciled in New Zealand but with New Zealand and Australian experience and he filled that role and then stayed on with the company right through until the explosion as both a technical manager and also as the project manager of the hydro project and other things, so Terry stayed with us pretty much from that point right through to current or until the 19th of November.  
Pieter van Rooyan held that position until he resigned after two years in the role, just a couple of weeks before the mine explosion, in early November and he went for a change of career to Oceana Gold and went back into surface drilling and other works and went back into that area.  Ivan Liddell was the environment manager from the week after I started, so he started the same time as I did and reported to Gordon Ward at that stage for the first year or so then reported to me from 2006 and he was still with the company through until January this year.  
Neville Rockhouse was our safety and training manager, just to explain the gap because it would be something that I would note myself, that there wasn’t a safety and training manager earlier on.  Safety and training manager is a fairly significant role to any company like ours and we actually had been recruiting one for a year and a half, I wanted one to start back in October ’05 but I was unable to find a suitable candidate.  Had a lot of applicants but rejected them all, very disappointingly and went through about three or four different recruitments.  I met Neville, I think it was the end of 2005, who showed a great interest in the job, but was contracted, had some contractual issues of his own in his own company and wasn’t able to join us, but he was still around the following year and I still hadn't found anyone that I was willing to appoint and so we waited for Neville and Neville joined us in 2006, at the end of 2006 I think, December and stayed with the company through until this year.

Q. Let’s come back to page 7 of your brief, paragraph 33 and I'd just ask you to read the last sentence of that paragraph before we look at the exhibit that’s just been displayed?

A. “Attached and marked PW23 is an organisation chart, which I have also created and which I understand represents the organisational structure of the company as at 19 November 2010.

Q. So if we just come to PW23 as it is now displayed and if I could ask you just to generally explain what this organisational chart shows?

A. I understand, to fiddle on it, it’s a little bit small on the screen but I'll speak in generalities and I may be able to get you to expand some areas for me, maybe if you could please expand the top area around the chief executive area?  This is dated at the 19th of November so that we described that we’d had a change of leadership and a change of organisational structure to some extent in the weeks prior to this, the month prior to this.  So, at the time of the explosion I was the chief executive domiciled in Wellington.  My direct reports included chief financial officer, Angela Horne, the supply chain manager, Scott McKay, Doug who looked after the site as the site general manager, we’ve talked about, we had a relationships manager, Alan Ambler and a coal marketing consultant, Bob Reynolds, who was based in Australia, were my direct reports as well as a PA in Wellington.  If you can go back out again please, maybe just pick up as much as you can on the left hand side just to make it a bit clearer, I won’t spend a long time on this org chart.  So, on the left hand side the yellow is the financial team, reporting through the chief financial officer.  In Wellington there is one, there was a couple of accountants, a senior accountant and a systems accountant and on site, reporting through the financial accountant, were the accounts payable team and reporting through the CFO was the stores and purchasing coordinator in the stores and other stores-related activities on site reported back through the CFO, who came down to site every fortnight or so from Wellington.
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A. Also on that diagram, which is the start of the team reporting through to the site general manager, is a human resources department, human resources manager, resources advisor and the training co-ordinator.  The training co-ordinator had been a very recent change, although it’s shown on the org chart here we’d done a restructure about the same time that Doug took over the site general manager’s role before that Neville’s role was safety and training manager through until, pretty much until about October, I think, of 2010 and then we moved the training function into the human resources department and Neville’s role changed to health and safety manager rather than safety and training manager.  So that was a reasonably new change for Adrian to report through that line although it was the same person.  The environment manager had a small team but he also had all the pond operators that looked after that pond 1 and all the acid dosing et cetera.  If we can maybe move over to the right please slightly.  Terry Moynihan I mentioned earlier who came on as a technical services manager and stayed as a project planning manager.  His whole team were all contractors apart from Nick Gribble, and I’ll come to Nick.  The rest of the team were all there specifically for the implantation of the hydro system and the attendant works, so all the installation of the engineering view underground, all of the major, not civil construction, although some civil construction, the ponds underground et cetera, a lot of the work McConnell Dowell were doing and a lot of the work the contractors were doing that were underground at the time of the explosion all reported back through, actually probably all of them reported back through this team here with Terry Moynihan.  The only person in that team who wasn’t a contractor was Nick Gribble.  Nick had previously been our engineering manager and it had been agreed that he would step sideways into a role with that team and Rob Ridl came on and he’s on another part of this diagram.  So Mick’s in there as an employee but all the others were there as contractors for that particular project.  Also on that diagram you can see the technical services team.  As I’ve mentioned earlier, Pieter van Rooynan resigned in early November, or left early November, so the role of technical services manager was vacant at the time, was being filled temporarily by Greg Borichevsky our technical services coordinator.  He was an experienced Geotech engineer and mining engineer, been with us for a little while and was, well coincidentally I suppose, we’d actually made an appointment on the day of the 19th of November for the new tech services manager out of Australia and he’d accepted that job that morning so obviously he didn’t end up coming.  So that role had just been filled.  In that team is the – the technical services covers things like in this case mining engineering.  So the mining engineer’s role was to do the mine planning, the mine scheduling, mining projects, essentially all sort of mining/engineering related activities.  The geologist in there Jimmy Cory was spoken about by Dr Newman earlier last week.  His role was to do, both looked after all the inseam drilling so that area wasn’t part of that team.  The Valley Longwall guys reported back through Jimmy and he was our resource geologist basically, liaised with the people doing our resource assessments like Golders and also did all the stratagraphic work and all the other underground work.  We’d appointed a Geotech engineer, specialist Geotech engineer, a degree engineer who looked after all our strata control works.  That previously had been done by URS in the tunnel and then was done just by a geologist with consultants but because we had reasonably complex geology and also I wanted to make sure we had enough technical support to our operations team.  We’d actually recruited Huw Parker out of URS he’d been on site already as a Geotech engineer so he had quite a bit of experience with us and we offered him to swap over to a permanent employee with us.  So he did so.  And we’d also just recently taken on another graduate geologist out of Canterbury University Chris McKie and he’d been with us a while as well.  We had a surveyor that, the diagram, I don’t think you need to go too much lower, I’ll just explain it, it’s on the larger diagram.  We had surveyor Callum McNaughton was a very experienced mine surveyor.  We contracted him out of Australia.  Reporting to him was our own surveyor who was very experienced younger guy but he hadn’t got his ticket yet so we couldn’t appoint him as the stat employee, statutory position under the regulations.  
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A. And then also just very recently we’d appointed another assistant surveyor, so there's quite a large technical services team.  Maybe if we just go out to the larger view because there's no names in these areas.  We will just point to them more generally.  Underneath the site general manager, remembering at this stage we didn't have a statutory manager other than Doug.  So we've got Steve Ellis sitting here as a production manager on the same line as the underviewers, but that would have changed as soon as Steve got his ticket.  So on this production area we've got the underviewers, so there was a number of those that ran each shift.  Underviewers or shift coordinators depending on their qualification.  Below that were the deputies and in some cases there was deputies on shift but there was also crew leaders on shift that had the same organisation responsibility but not the same safety or statutory responsibility. And then each of the shifts reported to those, whether they were on the nine hour shifts, rotating shifts, or whether they were onto 12-hour shifts depends on whether they were a coloured crew or whether they were an alphabetical crew.  Further to the right of that diagram is the engineering department.  Robb Ridl had commenced with the company several months earlier having been employed by us back in 2006 for some period less than a year before becoming the engineering manager at Spring Creek.  So he worked for them for several years and then rejoined us not too long ago in around the middle-second half of 2010.  This restructured department was a function of Robb joining us and he restructured the department, had changed some personnel and created some new positions that the company had supported, where he was able to identify areas that had greater engineering support need, and that's why you'll see a number of these things were vacant.  It wasn't because they had previously been there and were waiting to be filled, they were just newly created positions, where previously chart Peter Sinclair and Mike Scott had shared the load, we actually created a number of other positions at a senior level and was putting in a new maintenance manager in above Mike and the chart was managing his seniority but bringing in another senior role as an electrical engineer which had previously been covered by both Mike Scott and Nick Gribble who is also an electrical engineer but was now sitting over in the project team.  Then you go down to your shift engineers and you have your trades crews on each of the shifts, and you can see they're the same colour designation as the other shifts are for the general workforce and an operations team.  Over on the right-hand side of the diagram, again I don't think you need to blow it up unless the Commissioners would like to see it anymore clearly.  If you're okay I'll continue.  The coal prep plant is down the right-hand side.  Johan Klopper was the manager down there, and he had a team of a process engineering degree, he had a metallurgy degree, a process engineering degree, he hadn’t been that long with us either and he reported through Johan and then there was different crews.  Again you can see a similar colour scheme to the others as well as an Ikamatua crew that looked after our coal loading facilities at Ikamatua.  And then on the right-hand side was Neville’s role.  This diagram still says “safety and training manager”.  I'm not sure if Neville officially had changed to health and safety manager or not, but either way, and he had an assistant with him in that department as well.

Q. Thank you Mr Whittall.  If I can bring you back to your brief, and we're at page 7.  And if I could just ask you to start reading again from the heading just above paragraph 34?

A. Certainly.  This is “Part B.  Mine plans.  “Plans for the specific development of the mine changed in detail over time but have fundamentally and principally remained the same.  The mine plan has always included the same fundamental design for a single access tunnel and ventilation shaft in the early stages of mine development.  Most changes to the mine layout were made in response to surface impact restrictions and improved knowledge from exploration data.  Boreholes were drilled in various areas around the current mine area to determine the best direction in which the mine should be developed as well as to provide information of the coal seam and geological structures.  Attached and marked PW24 is a true copy of a mine plan, obtained from the company records, showing the location of surface boreholes as at the 19th of November 2010.  The bore hole locations indicate the surface collar position rather than the seam intersection.
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Q. If I can just take you Mr Whittall to this exhibit, PW24 which is now being displayed, and just as a preliminary question to give some context to what we’re looking at Mr Whittall, can you explain to me how does a mine plan get generated at Pike River?

A. This is a plan, so this is a historical plan, so this is an ‘as is’ plan or ‘as built’ plan.  Mr Firmin yesterday talked about plans being submitted to him which would have existing workings and projected workings, so depending on what the purpose of the plan is, all the future workings are loaded into our computer system.  Our computer system, we use Vulcan and Vulcan is both a geological and a survey database, we have bought packages for both so they, within the one computer system we have all of our geological data and all of our survey data for both our projected mine plans and also as roadways are driven the side walls of the roadway and the roof and the floor of the roadway are all picked up with electronic survey equipment, and that’s why you'll often see, this plan doesn’t show it, but future workings are shown usually as pretty much parallel roads, whereas these ones are all pretty bumpy and that’s because the surveyors have actually picked up the physical ribs so this plan is located in three dimensions, with northern eastings and an RL, reduced level, and therefore the plan is accurate.  It’s supposed to be within two metres, I would suggest this one is probably accurate within hundreds of millimetres given the modern survey equipment that we use.  Then all that information is then in the database, so then when a plan is needed to be generated it can be generated essentially with whatever information you want on it in different layers.  So, if you want, in this case this is quite a simple bore hole plan so the base plan is called up and then you overlay with a layer of bore hole data which is pretty much all that’s on this one.  You can overlay it with all sorts of geological data or infrastructure data which we’ll see later on another plan.

Q. And just to orientate ourselves on PW24 Mr Whittall, can you just mark for me where the hydro panel is located?

A. Yes, the hydro panels are here to the north, so the shaft of the tunnel is coming in from the middle of the right hand side of the plan, up through pit bottom in stone and pit bottom in coal and then the roadways go up to the north west where the hydro panel in the north and the other further extensions are out to the west.

Q. And on PW24 Mr Whittall do I see references to PRDH, do you recognise that term?

A. Yes.

Q. What does it stand for?

A. Pike River Drill Hole.

Q. And I also see references to M for example, on the far left hand side there's a M4 reference.  Do you recognise that term?

A. Yes, that was a series of seven holes drilled, I think in 1991, 
Dr Newman referred to those the other day and the M stands for Mitsui and that’s who paid for – a Japanese company that paid for those holes to be done.

Q. And there's also, if I just take you to the right hand side, bottom right, there's a reference beside PRDH 30 to “Grizzly?”

A. Yes.

Q. Can you provide a little context to that term?

A. Yes, a grizzly is a mining term, it’s a steel frame effectively that’s like a mesh frame and a grizzly is usually where you drop rock or stone onto and a grizzly, depending on what size rock you want and how big you want the bits to go through, it’s like an ore pass so in this case the grizzly was sitting on top of the conveyor boot end and the load-haul-dumps, which we’ll come to later, would come back with a bucket of material and they would drop that bucket of material on top of the grizzly, all the small stuff would fall through the holes, the holes on that grizzly were probably 300 ml squares, like that, and a big steel frame thing it is and then anything that didn’t fall through it, the guy would either get up there with a sledge hammer and break it up or a jack pick or the bucket of the machine, they’d take those really big rocks off it and break them up elsewhere, ideally that’s what they’d do otherwise they damage the belt.

Q. And there's also a reference here to the Slimline shaft, do you see that Mr Whittall, beside PRDH39?

A. Yes.

Q. And can you provide some context as to what that reference means?

A. So the Slimline shaft was the orange line that came down in that plan that we looked at earlier, and the Slimline shaft, I'm not sure if we come back to it elsewhere so if you'd like I can describe what it was.  When the shaft collapsed, the main shaft which you can see, PRDH14, 31 and 13 are all pointing to that same spot, a little bit higher up the plan on that same ridgeline that we looked at on the aerial photograph.  
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A. With the shaft collapsing we were on forcing ventilation and we’d already got pretty much as far as in as we really wanted to go in forcing ventilation.  It was probably further than was originally intended in the tender and once we hold the shaft through and we’re able to exhaust up the shaft that gave a great relief to the volume of air available to the mine.  When the shaft collapsed and we had to go back on to forcing ventilation we went back down to sort of lower volumes at the face.   We still had statutory minimums, but statutory minimums are always just that.  They’re just statutory minimums.  You don't really want to operate at that level so we tried to conceive a way that we could get more air into the mine.  We looked at doing a small raise bore but the time it would take him, again it was available to us in New Zealand to do that was not much.  It’s not a very big industry here so we conceived the idea of back, what’s called back-reaming a bore hole, so you drill a bore hole down into a roadway and then attach a reaming head onto the bottom of it, a bit like a raise bore but in this case using an ordinary drill rig and because of the pad up there it was pretty small, we could only use a standard drill rig and because rigs are pretty tight in New Zealand we could only use what was available to us well so we got a drill rig, worked out what its pulling capacity, what its total breakout capacity was of the rig which is not an easy known thing, drillers in New Zealand don't tend to know those sorts of things about their machines so we designed a series of reamers for that rig, drilled a hole down and then basically rotated it and pulled the rods out, I think the original hole was drilled at 90, 90 or 95 millimetres and then we attached about 110 millimetre reamer on it and pulled it back up through the hole and then I did it again with 120, 150 and it got up to, we managed to get up over 600 mil before the machine just couldn't lift any more and then we had a hole through to the surface so what we were able to do with that was we lined it and I think that actually comes up elsewhere in the presentation as well but we, because of the strata and the fact that we’re just pulling this thing blind it got a bit of a kink in it so we weren’t able to get a 600 mil liner down it which is what we wanted so we had to survey the hole and found that we could get a 450 mil steel tube down it and that would negotiate the slight bend in the bore hole and so we left it open on the outside but it was just there in case there was some rock collapse and we didn’t want to block the hole so what we originally did was put an auxiliary fan, which we’ve got a photo of later as well, on to the surface and acted like as a little exhaust shaft and that brought another 13 or 14 cubic metres of air into the tunnel so we’re still forcing in but we were sucking out from there as well and then we had the idea that we could, just may as well put the fan underground because then you didn’t have to worry about helicopter access to it so we built an elbow for the bottom of the shaft, bottom of the slimline and connected up a auxiliary fan to it and so we were still forcing air into the tunnel but we were exhausting air out via that point.

Q. And, Mr Whittall, just a couple more questions on this exhibit.   Does it show, PW24 does it show all of the surface bore holes in the Pike River coalfield?

A. Oh no, it just shows the ones that are on this plan so the plan’s only a subset of the coalfield, the numbers there while there’s a lot of large, higher numbers there there’s a lot of, lot that are missing out of that plan obviously.  There’s plan, there’s drill holes out to the west and to the north.  There’s not a lot to the south.  There’s a few but that wasn’t planned to be operated for a number of years so most of the bore holes are out to the west and to the north.

Q. Are you familiar, sir, with the term mining control zones?

A. Yes.

Q. Are there any mining control zones shown on this map at PW24?

A. No, they’re not shown on here, no.  There’d be another layer, an overlay that you can do them.  The mining control zone is, were conditions placed on the mine as part of the resource consent and it, it was a, the mining control zones were placed as barriers against the escarpment, as barriers against steep slopes, against barriers against permanent water courses and as barriers against what they’re called internal rock faces were like basically big sandstone cliffs and all of those things to protect and also one against the Hawera Fault.  So they’re basically zones and each control zone had a different angle of draw, so a different angle from the surface that you went out on a certain angle whether it was 26 and a half degrees or 33 degrees and then you projected that line down to the seam and it was that area that you weren’t able to do certain things in.  You couldn't extract coal or if you did you could only extract enough to create a different substance profile to where you didn’t have that mining control zone.
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Q. And although not shown on PW24, are you generally familiar with where some of the mining control zones were located?

A. Yes.

Q. And can you just give us an example perhaps?

A. Yes.  There’s a mining control zone for a number of different things.  Some of them overlap so you can have a stream and an internal rock face and a steep slope so that they actually overlap quite a lot, but there's quite a large mining control zone runs pretty much through this area here.  I think it sort of boulders out and comes back in, comes across there and back up into this northern area.  So there’s quite a large mining control zone there for a permanent water course and also for a, I think there's a steep slope there as well.

Q. And so just so I'm clear for the written record Mr Whittall.  Would the zone that you've just drawn, would that include some of the space between PRDH25 and PRDH8?

A. Yes, most of that area actually.

Q. So that was not an area that was going to be mined?

A. Well it’s going to be – there's going to be roadways developed in there, but it’s not going to be extracted or, if it was, you can see we've got a little extraction commissioning panel here, and there was going to be another small commissioning panel here, but –

Q. And when you say, “here,” you're talking about –

A. Sorry.  So one where the current plan is and then one roughly back from PRDH6 back in that area, there was going to be a commissioning panel there as well, and the difference being that the commissioning panel was quite narrow and had quite low effects on the surface and through discussion with DOC the substance impacts were going to be adequate for the mining control zone whereas typically those mining areas wouldn't have been otherwise attempted to be mined for probably another 15 or 18 years.

Q. If I can bring you back to your brief Mr Whittall.  We’re on page 7 at paragraph 35, and if you could just pick up reading from there please?

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 35

A. “The changing development of the mine can be seen in various feasibility studies that were undertaken, including plans from feasibility studies conducted in 1998, 2000 and 2005.  Attached and marked PW25 to PW27 are true copies of a number of historic mine plans, obtained from company records, which form part of various feasibility studies.”
Q. If I could bring you, Mr Whittall to the first of these, which is PW25.  Do you see a reference in the top corner to “Mine serve feasibility study 1998?”

A. Yeah, “Minserv” it is, yeah.

Q. Excuse me, Minserv?

A. Yes.

Q. And just so I'm clear, you joined Pike in what year sir?

A. 2005.

Q. So this is seven years before you joined the company, is that right? 

A. Yes.

Q. Now notwithstanding that you were not a company employee at the time that this historic plan was made available, are you able to explain to the Commission generally what it shows?

A. Yes.

Q. And could you do so please?

A. So this is a plan not of a dissimilar area to what we just looked at a minute ago.  The – maybe if it’s best up on the board – you can see the tunnel coming in from the right-hand side.  The Hawera Fault is this line running from just close to where the words “Minserv feasibility study” are, back down to the bottom of the plan.  You can see that that was intended to locate the pit bottom just west of the Hawera Fault.  Actually I maybe incorrect because I'm looking on an odd angle.  It looks like the Hawera Fault is actually the drawn line which does go from the same point but it curves back along and comes back roughly through where that “R” for “regulator” is and down through the words, “emergency sump”.  That other line is actually a gridline, my apologies.  So you can see the Hawera Fault running down through the plan and it’s got a number of features on the hard rock side of the Hawera Fault and a number of features on the coal side.  The ventilation shaft at that stage was intended to put down where PRDH4 is and it’s got some pit bottom areas.  The blue would be intended to be intake air, so fresh air coming in.  The red would be the return air, and you can see two mains going off, “flume way and intake” I imagine it says at the top of that plan because that’s the blue, and then the red would have been the return air coming back across.  These crosses are overcast where like air can go over the top of this and underneath there as well and it comes back to the shaft.  There's a number of other boreholes located on here and then quite simplistic big sets of mains running off into other extraction areas.

Q. Mr Whittall, do you recognise the name, “Minserve”?

A. I do.

Q. And what's your understanding of Minserve?

A. Minserve is a company owned by Dave Stewart, who’s done some consulting work for us as well.  He’s a New Zealand-based milling engineer.  I think he’s currently the chairman of the AUZIMM, the organisation in New Zealand.
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Q. Let’s turn to the next exhibit Mr Whittall, PW26.  In this one do you see at the top a heading, “AMC feasibility study 2000?”

A. Yes I do.

Q. And do you recognise the term, “AMC?”

A. I do.

Q. And what’s your understanding of that to?

A. I’m not sure, I used to think it was Australias Mining Consultants but ,that may well be what it is but they used the acronym AMC Resource Consultations, they’re Australian based company.  The next plan you show me will be Minarco and AMC was the precursor to Minarco so the same principles of the company, they just had a name change.  So they did this feasibility for Pike River, for New Zealand Oil and Gas in 2000 and this shows a larger area.  This shows the majority of the resource within the main body of the seam, not taking into account the area to the north which is under the National Park.  So again you can see the tunnel coming in from the right-hand side going through the Hawera Fault.

Q. And just for the written record so I’m clear Mr Whittall.  Is the tunnel the single blue line coming in?

A. Yes, it would appear.  The single blue line running in from the right-hand side of the drawing coming into a box area which they haven’t shown any detail in on this plan.  They just show it as a box which could be of a pit bottom area.  And then it shows these sort of rectangular shaped areas or parallel sections of road without much colour in them would be the mains roadways.  I recall from reading this particular report that they’re all expecting to be just two roadways wide, so there would be a pillar of coal running up between those with double roadways running out as the trunk roads into different areas and different styles of extraction of coal, all these little parallel boxes, rectangular boxes all over the place, would be the hydro monitor extraction areas.  

Q. Let’s turn to the next historic mine plan Mr Whittall, PW27?

A. Yes.

Q. And I think  you just referred to this being the Minarco one.  Are you familiar with Minarco?

A. Yes, Minarco were engaged with Pike River Coal when I joined the company.

Q. Because this is 2005 right sir and you joined in 2005?

A. Correct.

Q. Now can you just describe to the Commission what PW27 shows?

A. Yes.  This was a plan drawn for the exec – the number down the bottom is 5.2, means it was a diagram 5.2 of the executive summary of the feasibility study done in 2005.  And the executive summary was published in January 2005 and so I started in February, so about the same time that this was published.  Again the plan shows the single tunnel coming in from the right-hand side about the middle of the picture in blue again.  This time though showing a bit more detail around the pit bottom area, so that’s what it looked like, or that’s what it was intended to look like when I started, that’s the first drawing I saw of the mine site.  

Q. And when you’re referring to that sir you’re circling?

A. Yes, I’m circling an area just immediately to the west of the end of the stone drive.  So you can see the stone drive comes through the Hawera Fault and extends for a couple of hundred meters, as it ended up doing, and then there’s a range of roadways driven in and about that area with no extraction shown.  And then there’s a number of roadways going away from pit bottom.  Different to the original, to that previous one in 2000 which just showed two roadways and the more stylised one back in ’98 which was just two roads everywhere.  This shows quite a number, shows four roadways going away so by this stage the consultants had started to do some ventilation modelling and putting a bit more detailed thought into the feasibility study rather than just saying, “Look we’ll take a couple of roads here and a couple of roads there,” they’ve actually, looks like they’ve done some quite detailed design work as to where they would put roads.  The red lines on here besides the Hawera Fault are the projections of the main faults that were known from both the outcrops and the surface drilling and also surface mapping that was done.  So you can see they outcrop onto the escarpment at a number of places.  This black line being the coal outcrop and the pink line running on the inside of that is the National Park boundary which runs along the escarpment, which is above the outcrop.  Pretty much it.

Q. Let me bring you back to – sorry did you have something more.

A. No, I said that’s pretty much all the features of that plan.
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Q. And we bring you back to your brief, we’re at page 8, paragraph 36, if I could ask you to read that paragraph and then we’ll show you another mine plan?

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 36

A. “Attached and marked PW28 is a true copy obtained from company records of the current mine plan.  This plan shows the intake and return of air in the mine and identifies the location of gas sensors and various machinery.”

Q. So, let’s turn to this exhibit, PW28 that’s now being displayed.  

A. Yes.

Q. And just to give some context here Mr Whittall, when did you first see this plan?

A. Earlier this year.

Q. So after the 19 November explosion?

A. Yes, I understand that it was generated at someone’s request post the explosion but I'm not sure.  I was going to say it was just given to me when I asked for a plan with all the things shown on it, that’s all.

Q. So, what I'd like you to do Mr Whittall is see if we can just work through some of the terms that are on here so that we can orientate ourselves, and there is a legend that’s towards the left hand side of the plan?

A. Sure.

Q. There's just several terms there and perhaps if you could just give us a brief explanation to the extent you know as to what they mean and then we’ll come and look at the plan?

A. Sure.  

Q. So, if we start with the first of those, and perhaps if you could just work us through each of those Mr Whittall and then we’ll come back to the plan?

A. Certainly.  The first one is a return ventilation roadway.  Return is the standard industry term for air that returns from a working face or a place where air has been used into the return airway and goes back to exhaust, so whether its exhaust shaft or drift or some other point, so it’s basically stale air, not dissimilar to but completely the opposite colouring to the way it would be described in the human body, as blue and red going to and from the extremities, but in this case red is used air, so it’s going back to the exhaust shaft.  The next one is the intake of ventilation roadway, an intake being – coming from fresh air and unused air so the blue air hasn’t passed a working face essentially, is the simplest way to put it, and so a ventilation plan would typically show returns and intakes on the plan.  The thin red line is called a return ventilation can or bag.  I'll make this comment later as well, the mining industry, especially the coalmining industry, has evolved out of many different nations and typically, depending on whether the root of the mine has been developed out of and the first people who worked there were Welsh or Scottish or English or South African or Australian, different terms get used for the same thing in different countries, but also in different coalfields and different mines within a coalfield all called the same thing, different things, so there's terms on here that I typically wouldn’t even use but have been drawn by the surveyor or by the mine manager.  But in this case return ventilation can or bag would indicate a ducting register that’s going from the face back to a point, usually to an exhaust auxiliary fan, a can being – I would typically call it a flume myself, but now that we’ve got steel flumes for water that got confusing, so we’ve gone to can, so it’s basically a steel or, in our case, fibreglass tube about 600 millimetres in diameter and about three metres long, that just lets air pass through it, and bag is usually another term for brattice which you can see brattice down below as well, and it’s typically a cloth or, in our case, like a wax impregnated polystyrene type plastic.  Intake ventilation can or bag is the same but it’s more likely having a forcing, so you would attach it to the end of a fan to force air to the face.  The seal in this case means a stopping, so it’s basically a wall that’s built across a roadway to prevent air travelling from one road to another.  A seal is more generally a permanent structure used to seal off an area and in my parlance I would call these ones that are drawn on this plan stoppings, and I haven't seen a plan from Pike River with the word seal on it before, this was quite, I was quite surprised to see it there, so someone, whether he was one of our German or Australian or Kiwi operators has called it a seal but it’s typically a stopping, would be more commonplace.  
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A. The brattice is drawn as a squiggly line to indicate that it’s not structural, it’s just hanging there tacked on to a frame of some sort and it would be used to give temporary ventilation, direction so whether it’s to direct air to, into a certain area or whether it’s to put up a temporary seal across a roadway then you'd use brattice.  The door indicates that that stopping, which is the solid line, has got a device that you can get through.  Typically it’d be, that type of door would be a personnel door so it’d be small enough for a person to be climb through, you open it and shut it again.  A regulator with the R across the road is a ventilation device again and it regulates the amount of air that can go through.  It’s basically an oriface plate but it’s built out of timber or plaster and a typhoon fan is a fan that we use to force ventilation in.  It’s a smaller thing, runs off compressed air and you could attach a intake ventilation can or bag to it and force air up into a working area if you wanted to.

Q. I'm just going to work through some of the other terms on this mine plan so that we all understand what the terms mean.  I see a reference to a restricted zone and a non-restricted zone.  Do you see that in red with arrows?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. Do you have an understanding as to what those terms mean?

A. To my understanding again it was, it was drawn on the plan and I wasn’t familiar with it having been put there but this is, like I'm not in control of this plan, this is the mine manager’s area of responsibility but the, to my understanding from looking at it the non-restricted zone would indicate an area where equipment that wasn’t or gear that wasn’t flameproof could operate, it’s unrestricted, it would've been done to allow non‑flameproof installations to be put in with certain sensor backups 
et cetera on them but unrestricted insofar as what you could use so it also allowed us to drive a land cruiser type piece of equipment up into the mine and it could drive into that area but it couldn't go any further than the restricted zone.

Q. So let’s just start on the right-hand side.  I'm just going to draw your attention to a couple of terms and ask if you can provide us with some explanation.  There’s a reference there, the top right, to pumps 
PU101-105.  Can you explain that reference to the Commission?

A. Yes, they’re the slurry pumps that we showed in the diagram earlier that would be, that are installed on the concrete plinths there to pump the coal from the mine down to the coal prep plant.

Q. And just beside that, Mr Whittall, to the left is a reference to gland pumps PG201-205.  Can you explain that term?

A. Those gland pumps to my knowledge would be, when they're talking about gland water it’s often, the term is used to pump fresh water into another pump so that you can give it a fresh charge so that the seals are getting fresh water through them so those gland pumps would be there to provide fresh water flushing through the main slurry pumps.

Q. And just below that, Mr Whittall, there’s a reference to crusher CR102.  Are you able to explain the reference used?

A. Yes, so CR102 and the one below it CR101 are the two crushers, the two McKlenner hand crushers that receive the coal and small stone from the working faces.

Q. And just in the section of the mine plan at PR28 there’s a reference to a switchboard.  Do you see that?

A. Yes, that would be the electrical switchboard that is for the crushers.   The one that’s just off the diagram below PU101, 105 would have a similar identification of switchboard and probably electrical starters there as well but it’s, that would be for the other pumps so that one there would be for the crushers.

Q. And in this section of PW28 there’s also a reference to a substation.  Do you see that, Mr Whittall?

A. Yes.

Q. Could you explain what that reference would mean?

A. A substation is an electrical distribution centre just like a substation you see on the road so the one that was out, or looks a lot different, the one that was out on the, on Logburn Road that received the 110,000 volts and then changed it down into 33 and 11 went up the valley at 33 to another substation at the portal entrance and that then sent the power underground at 11,000 volts up to this substation and this substation receives that main power supply up the tunnel and then from there it would have power distributed to the fan and also to the other distribution boards underground.
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Q. Now if I just work you from right to left on the plan at PW28.  I believe we’re travelling down the tunnel.  Would that be fair?

A. Up the tunnel.

Q. Up the tunnel, thank you.  And we’re going to go past the grizzly.  Do you see that Mr Whittall?

A. Correct.

Q. And there’s a reference to a gas monitoring station at GD, I think it’s 301.  Do you see that?

A. Yes.  Because the arrow’s going the opposite direction it’s actually not in the tunnel, it’s actually pointing, if you see it, off to the left.  So that gas monitoring station is located back up in the other roadway.  So even though the words are there it’s actually pointing over here.

Q. Do you have an understanding as to what the term, “Gas monitoring station,” means Mr Whittall?

A. That would be a place where there would be a gas monitor.  The different between that and the gas sensor, my understanding would be, I’m could stand corrected because again I hadn’t seen this plan before, the gas sensor is, which you’ll probably ask me about next, is the actual detector head, so that’s where the sensor is, but the gas monitoring station is more likely where that’s reporting to.

Q. So if just, an example of the plan at PW28, do you see a reference to, “CH4 sensor near surface?”  It’s just to the north of a reference to the main ventilation fan?

A. Yes, yes.

Q. Can you explain what that term means, CH4 sensor?

A. In that particular case it’s saying that there is a CH4, which is methane, which is just a chemical symbol for methane, and it’s saying that it’s in the shaft and it’s near the surface.  So it’s not on the surface of the shaft, it’s just indicating that it’s just below the collar.

Q. And there’s several other references on the plan at PW28 to CH4 sensors Mr Whittall, I’m not going to take you around all of them, I’m just going to get an explanation of some other terms that appear on this plan just for the record.
A. Yes.

Q. If we drop down directly under that CH4 sensor near surface reference you just described?

A. Yes.

Q. I see a reference to drive 4 fan.  Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you have an understanding as to what that term means, drive wall fan?
A. In that case the main ventilation fan, this is the one that was nearly installed, the actual fan blade’s set in here.

Q. And when you say, “Here,” you’re –

A. Sorry, in the centre of that in-section just below your CH4 sensor near surface that’s the top of the old shaft, or the main shaft.  Next to it’s the Alimak shaft, back on that in-section next to the word, “gas monitoring station,” is where the physical fan impellors are installed and then there’s a wall next to it and then the actual ventilation fan motors are set there.  The fact that the drive for the fan is located over here I can assume is that would be the electrical installation for that.  I can’t exactly say how that set up was done.  I’m not fully familiar with the layout of that particular fan, yes.

Q. And if we drop further down in this section of PW28 there is right towards the bottom I see a reference to a, “variable speed drive.”  Does that term have any meaning to you?

A. Yes, that whole area down there is the installation and that substation associated with the transformers and everything all in the switchboard, all that installation is for the high pressure water system for the
hydro monitor, so that southern area there has got all of the installations for the monitor system.

Q. I want to stay in this general vicinity of the mine plan at PW28 Mr Whittall.  I see a reference to a filter bank, it’s at FL501/2 I believe?

A. Yes.

Q. There’s an R for regulator, do you see it?

A. Yes.

Q. It’s right in the middle?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you explain what a filter bank refers to?

A. Yes, it’s the filter bank that was installed to do a final cleanup of the water that goes into the high pressure pumps for the hydro monitor.  So the water received comes from two places.  There’s actually a little shaft, or large bore hole just in this point just above where you directed me before to the switchboard and variable speed drive, that receives water down from the upper reaches of the Pike Stream.  That water from there goes up to that filter bank and receives a final filtration before it goes back down into the high pressure pumps because the high pressure pumps, being very high pressure, they require very, very clean water.  So that filter bank has got bank filters on them that take out micro fine particles.
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Q. And just moving towards the left on the plan at PW28, there are two references to auxiliary fans.  Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. And we'll talk later about these further, but can you give a brief explanation as to what those terms mean?

A. Yes, the auxiliary fan is a term used for an electrical fan used underground where the main fan, whether it’s on the surface or, in our case, had just be re- or installed the new one underground, provides a primary ventilation for the mine and would ventilate all connected roadways to take air or to direct air up into roadways where there is no circuit, so you can't go around a loop and draw air around it, it’s basically a single road so there's no way for air to go up and back again unless you direct it there.  So the auxiliary fan is a fan with an inlet and an outlet and it essentially creates a negative pressure so that you could draw air up into a blind stub and then suck it back out through the ventilation cans or flumes and exhaust it out into a return roadway.

Q. And just in the same section of the plan at PW28 there's a reference to a typhoon fan.  Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you explain that term too?

A. So that was the one that was in the legend.  A typhoon fan is a small device that hangs on the wall that’s connected up to compressed air and forces air up.  In this case because there's an auxiliary fan located there and they were using that to ventilate that long stub and so to assist with the turbulence in the roadway and to stop layering of gas, a typhoon fan has been installed to force air up to the face and then the auxiliary fan then draws air away from the face so it creates a better ventilation flow.  Less leakage on the auxiliary fan.

Q. I just want to ask you about a couple more terms that are used on the plan at PW28?

A. Yes.

Q. And if we head towards the right, I see some references to “distribution boxes?”

A. Yes.

Q. Do you see those?  Can you explain what a, “distribution box,” is?

A. Yes.  Again there are multiple terminologies for the same thing, but in this case a distribution box is an electrical enclosure, a flameproof electrical enclosure which receives power into one side and then distributes power to multiple places.  So it’s like a multi-board in your house where you'll run 1000 vaults into one.  So it’s not a transformer, so it doesn't change the power, but you'll put 1000 vaults into one side of it and then have multiple plug outlets to it usually to power continuous miner, auxiliary fan, pumps, a number of things, drill rig, will all be plugged into a distribution box.

Q. Now as we move into that top left-hand corner of the plan at PW28, maybe we could just highlight that for a moment, and there are several references to pieces of equipment or machinery.  Do you see a reference to a Waratah roadheader?

A. Down the bottom, yes.

Q. And we'll come back to it.  In your evidence I think you speak further about that Mr Whittall, but I just wanted to identify that for a moment.  So that's located at RH001, right?

A. No, the number of the machine is RH001.

Q. Thank you.  And can you describe its location to me?

A. Yes, it’s located in the A heading of those sort of roadways and its driving back downhill to make the connection with that other previously driven roadway.

Q. And if we just move to the top right there's a reference to a Waratah guzzler.  Do you see that Mr Whittall?

A. Yes I do. 

Q. And just for the purposes of the record we'll talk about the particular machinery later in your evidence, but can you describe the location of that guzzler?

A. Yes, that guzzler is just up about 25 metres from the edge of the hydro extraction face and it’s up in B heading of the first panel, which is our first extraction panel.
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Q. And if we just pull back out for a moment.  Just two more questions on this plan Mr Whittall.  There's a reference in this highlighted corner of the mine plan at PW28 to a Valley Longwall drill rig, do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you just for the record explain the location of that drill rig?

A. Yes, the drill rig was located in a stub that was driven specifically off to the left, so a stub is just a short roadway and it’s been put in there so that that road can be continued on while we’re drilling, so the Valley Longwall drill rig was located in that little short roadway and they would be drilling out of that stub, up roughly parallel but in a radiating way as away from where that Waratah continuous miner, CM002 is.

Q. And there's a reference I believe at this section of the plan at PW28 to two continuous miners.  Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. And can you talk again in more detail later about these pieces of machinery, but can you just describe the location of each of those continuous miners for the record?

A. Yes, so the CM002 is parked in a stub, which is, both those stubs are ventilated by that auxiliary fan there, and the CM002 is heading out to the west and continuing on with the mains development.  The ABM continuous miner, CM041 up to the north is driving one of the roadways for the second extraction panel.

Q. I just want to ask you about one other reference on this mine plan 
Mr Whittall.  There's a reference there to a CH4 sensor and you talked about this previously and just for the record I am in the top left hand corner of the mine plan at PW28.  It’s also a reference to CH4, CO sensor reading at DB004 for bleeder door control.

A. Yes.

Q. Are you able to provide any explanation as to that term or the series of terms that are used in what I just read Mr Whittall?

A. Yes.  The CH4 is a methane sensor, CO is carbon monoxide, so it’ll be a different sensor.  Both of those, it’s saying that they are being read or displayed at DB004 which is distribution box, which is also shown in that highlighted plan down here, down in that roadway, about halfway down the plan to the right hand side of the highlighted section, and they are there for the bleeder door control which is what that distribution box has been placed there, to my knowledge.  The bleeder door is a device which was being installed, or had been installed but had not been commissioned or, put it this way, was not being used to the best of my knowledge, it may well have been commissioned but it wasn’t being used.  It was an idea of a way to allow additional air to be dumped into the return roadway should there be a need to so there would be a concept that the door would actuate automatically based on the readings of those CO or CH4 sensors were picking up.

COMMISSION ADJOURNS:
1.04 PM

COMMISSION resumes:
1.59 PM

examination continues:  ms shortall

Q. Mr Whittall, if I could take you to page 8 of your brief, we were just about to start paragraph 37 when we broke for lunch so if you could just start reading from there, thank you.

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 37

A. “Considerable further development was proposed for the mine.  Attached and marked PW29 is a true copy of a plan obtained from company records showing future development.  As illustrated the extent of the development undertake to date comprises only a small portion of the overall development that was planned for the mine.”

Q. And sir, just using PW29, exhibit 29, as a reference.  Could you just explain that last point, that the extent of the development undertaken as of the 19th of November comprised only a small portion of overall development that was planned for the mine?

A. Yes.  On the plan, it can’t be shown up on the board, even that’s not the whole of the mine.  The mine extends, or the planned mine extends probably another kilometre or so to the south of this plan.  So these grids are approximately one kilometre and it would extend at least a kilometre further to the south and again almost a kilometre or so to the north as well.  The whole of the mine that had been developed so far is just this small area down in the bottom right-hand corner where the access tunnel is pointed out and the pit bottom is pointed out we’ve just gone up there and started in the first of the commissioning panels.  So the mine was quite small and had only just really started to break away from the pit bottom area.

Q. And just to provide some context to the extent that there have been some evidence around a planned second egress.  Just by way of context could you identify where on this map that location would be?

A. Yes.  This map doesn’t actually have that marked on there.  On the original, probably the 2005 plan, that area was somewhere in here.  Actually it’s roughly the same spot and at the moment we have other plans that show just in that area there below the cross as of the grid adjacent to those two main developments.  That main north development there’s a valley that runs up through the middle there and – 

Q. Just for the record Mr Whittall so that we’re clear?

A. Mhm.

Q. Later on, we’re just looking at, when you refer to the crosshairs, you’re talking at the, work down from the top of the map, you’re talking about the second cross section.  Is that right?

A. Correct.

Q. And just south of that?

A. Correct.  

Q. Thank you, please continue.

A. So about a couple of hundred south of that east/west gridline into the side of the main roadways there’s what’s called a sub-crop where the coal comes close to the surface and would be able to accessed via a small 10/15 metres drift to the surface there.  So that’s we were planning.  The mine was currently developed in this, sorry, in this area to here.

Q. And, “To here,” is just in the –

A. So this plan is not the same as the plan you showed me before and this plan was chosen to show the extent, it’s not the current mine plan.  So if you look at the two together it’s hard for, potentially for the Commissioners to correlate between the two plans.  You’ll notice that on the plan that you showed me earlier it continued out to the side and then went to the north, out to the west, and then went to the north whereas in this one we go to the north and then the west.  So this is just an older version of an extraction plan showing the future workings.

Q. If I can bring you back to your brief, page 8.  If you could just start from the headings above paragraph 38 and continue reading please?

A. Certainly.
WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 38

A. This is part C, mining process.  It will cover mining and excavation of coal.  The mine has been developed as an underground coal mine.  As I mentioned earlier the coal seam was accessed through a 2.3 kilometre upwards sloping tunnel starting from the end of the access road.  Once mined coal was to be transported as a water/coal slurry via an open steel trough or a flume line to the pit bottom coal processing area and then onto the CPP.  The mine was designed with a production capacity of up to 1.3 million tonnes per annum of saleable coal or approximately 1.5 million tonnes of run-of-mine coal.  The mine was established to produce coal using two mining techniques, roadway development and hydro-mining.  Roadway mining was planned during steady state operations to produce between .2 and .4 million tonnes per annum and hydro-mining was planned to produce between .8 and .9 million tonnes per annum.  Both techniques had been commissioned and were in use by November 2010.  
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A. Roadways are constructed by heavy cutting machines (roadheaders and continuous mining machines) and also by drilling and blasting in stone.  Roadways were initially developed in the coal seam around pit bottom and then driven through an area of rock and dislocated coal in a faulted zone called a “graben”.  There was no alternative to driving the roadways through the graben.  Roadways in this area were built for the life of the mine and therefore needed to register at a constant grade to ensure the coal would wash downhill without pumping from the uphill mining operations.  Attached and marked PW30 is a true copy of a diagram, obtained from company records, of a roadway.”

Q. So if I can just turn your attention to exhibit 30, PW30.  Can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes this is a composite put together again for a shareholder briefing.  So all of these things wouldn't necessarily be in any one roadway at the same time but they were used for illustrative purposes.  So what you can see in this diagram is you're looking into a roadway going away into a distance.  The coal mine floor is a coal floor.  So we mine about half a metre to a metre off the base of the seam so we always have a coal floor.  Looking from left to right – sorry, to orientate it then, the roadway is about five metres wide and about 3.3 metres high in dimension.  The drawing or the schematic, the way it’s drawn, shows the void of the roadway with black ribs on the left and it also shows as a cutaway, as if you're out in the coal seam somewhere looking back in on the roadway.  So on the left-hand side there's little square white plates which are the ends of the rib bolts, the rib being the same as a wall, rib or wall, and the roof is the roof.  In other parlances it’s called the backs or something but we call it the roof and the ribs.  So these white squares are the ends of the rib bolts.  If you go to the other side of the roadway you can see from looking from within the coal those same plates, but you can see the bolt extending into the rib and they're used to support the coal rib to stop it from flaking away and breaking into the roadway to keep it nice and vertical and to stop it falling on people basically.  They extend 1.8 or 2.1 metres into the rib depending on the ones you use.  We use – or even 1.5.  I think the ones we were using were 1.8s but they could have been 1.5s in some areas.  Still sticking to the outside of the roadway, you can see on the roof, you're also looking from within the coal seams so you're looking at the top of the roof plates that are attached to the roof bolts, and the roof bolts also extend up into the roof of the coal.  Because we're mining the lower section of the coal seam our roof is also coal.  They extend up into the roof some 2.1 metres, they’re a seven foot bolt.  They're a high tensile steel bolt and they're basically used as a dowel but a pretension dowel through the layers of strata.  In this case because it’s a solid coal seam without a lot of layers in it, they're essentially just performing tension in the roof.  They use an araldite glue, effectively, so a two-part resin glue, and you put the resin up into the hole, then put the bolt in and spin the bolt which breaks the cartridge and glues the bolt into place.  So what's not shown on there for clarity is that those bolts would also be bolted through sheets of mesh that would also be on the roof and you'll see those in other photographs.  So that's just a stylised schematic of the roof supporting the rib support.  On the left-hand wall or the left-hand rib of that roadway is a ventilation duct which we called before a can or a ventilation duct.  It’s shown here as a single solid tube, but in effect it’s a series of sections of tube variously between two and three metres long, ideally three but sometimes you have shorter ones, and they're connected and they slot one inside the other.  They just have an overlapping tapered section.  And they go together and you build them towards, as the fact progresses, and then as you retreat – sorry, when you go to another roadway you just go and collect them and move them off and use them in the next roadway over.  So they would be coming from the coalface and going out and they would be connected up to an auxiliary fan.  Also in this roadway you can see two pipes, in this case, water and compressed air pipes.  Variously, different sizes in the mine.  They could be either a four inch, six inch or eight inch depending on what their needs are.  Typically, the water would be in a four inch pipe and compressed air would be in a six inch pipe in this area, but in the larger trunk roads the water would probably be in six as well.
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A. The coal mine floor we’ve talked about, on the far side of that roadway is a coal flume, that’s a steel trough we use for transporting coal from the working face.  We had been using load-haul-dumps and we’ll come to that later, but the intention of the flumes which were going from central location, where all the coal is brought to, was to have those running right up to within 15 metres of the coalface for the continuous miners and others to transport straight into.  So they are about 500 millimetres wide and about 500 millimetres deep and they take a water slurry of about 25% coal to 75% water, so there's quite a lot of water in there.  Each face was supplied with about 4000 litres a minute of water, they would act as a fluming for the coal that was sending down there and the hydro panel, we’ll come to, was about 9000, so as they go out they still all collect in the same flume, so in the coalface, although that’s shown as full, you would probably typically only be running 100 ml deep or even less in those flumes.  That’s all the things that are in that drawing.

Q. If I could bring you back to your brief, we’re at page 9 paragraph 41, if you could continue reading please?

A. “The initial roadways were developed using a combination of two narrow head continuous miners and one roadheader.  Continuous miners are large mechanical coal cutting machines, weighing 80 tonnes, which cut roadways nominally 5.2 metres wide by 3.6 metres high.  These machines were used in the more difficult broken coal seam conditions adjacent to the Hawera Fault.  The machine’s configuration required the five metre wide roadway to be cut in two passes.  Because of this these machines are variously referred to as narrow head or double pass machines.  The continuous miners and roadheaders that were initially used by the company had significant manufacturer design issues and proved to be unreliable and inefficient.  Attached and marked PW31 and PW32 are true copies of photographs obtained from company records of a continuous miner and a roadheader.”
Q. So if we start with PW31, that’s just been displayed Mr Whittall, can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes, this is one of the Waratah continuous miners.  Its function is to develop roadways.  If you're doing other extraction types you can use the coal to cut pillars and actually recover more coal than just roadway development but typically they are a roadway development machine and they’re used that way at Pike River Coal.  So, this machine is about an 80 tonne machine, 75-80 tonne machine.  The principle of it is that this head rotates in a forward direction so it rotates in the direction of the roadway advance and it’s got a number of picks on the top, so you can see all the yellow picks, it’s a cutting head and it’s ideal for cutting coal of strength up to 20 megapascals, maybe a bit less strength.  Ideally you don’t want to go to the very hard rock with this because it’s actually cutting the full width and if you get into hard rock then it puts a lot of load on the head so you really want to be around the 20 megapascal which is similar to concrete.  The loader blade on the front, so when the head goes up and down you can see this hydraulic ram in the middle, silver shiny bit in the middle of the machine, that’s used to lift the head up and down and the machine will cut in an up and down motion and the coal will fall to the floor.  As the head rotates, it’s rotating into the face, it will, as it gets down lower it will also scoop the coal back onto this loader blade area which is quite shallow and these discs spin and they drag the coal to the centre.  The coal goes down through the central part of the machine on a chain conveyor, a steel conveyor chain, it drags the coal through the middle and discharges out of the back on the tail of the machine.  So, this machine has quite a shallow shovel and that’s so that we can get quite close to the face for melting so it’s to allow good strata support.  Also on this machine you can see on-board bolting rigs, so we have the machine designed with one roof bolt rig on either side of it and also just behind that is one rib bolt rig so that the guys don’t do hand‑bolting, they do it all hydraulically using the machine’s power source.  
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A. Also on the side of the machine, coming from the back of the machine, the operator would climb up the ladder, not necessarily the operator of the machine, the machine is remote control, so the operator can stand anywhere to operate it but typically they’d stand either behind it or they’d stand on the platform to operate it somewhere they can get a good view.  But when the roof-bolt operator comes up he’d climb up the steps, walk along the platform and then walk into this area in behind the bolding rig.  This is a side shield that we had installed on the machine and this is actually on a hydraulic slide as well.  So this hydraulic slide can push out and this pushes up against the rib or the wall of the coal seam, it protects the operator while they stand there and operate the drill rig from any – because at this stage the bolting rig’s just behind it and because you can’t get the side-bolting rig any further forward you need to protect the operator from unsupported rib so we had it designed with side shields on the machine as well.  They’re only used on the side, because this is a narrow-head machine they’re typically only used if you have to bolt it two passes so you cut out and you bolt and you can push it out to the rib there on the side of.  When you pull the machine back and go to the other side to cut out the other side of the roadway then you would use that other shield, they wouldn't reach both faces on these narrow head machines.  The machine has all its electrics on board.  The blue enclosures there are flameproof enclosures.  It has a trailing cable that powers it, it’s an electric machine, runs on 3.3 thousand volts, 3.3kv, and it’s track mounted.  And that’s the main parts.  It’s got onboard gas monitoring which trips the machine off at one and a quarter percent general body and that’s interconnected with the electrics of the machine.  And it’s got onboard computers for interrogation and the operator can either look at their own operational control bank or they can operate it using the controls on the machine as well and interrogate it electronically if it trips off and find out why it trips off for example.

Q. Let’s turn to the next exhibit, PW32.  Can you explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows please?

A. Yes.  This is a roadheader.  A roadheader’s not dissimilar to a continuous miner.  They essentially are designed to do the same thing, which is to cut a roadway.  They’ve got a couple of fundamental differences.  One is roadheader’s typically have a head that spins perpendicular to the cutting face and they’re usually a tapered head.  You’ll see that’s why they call it, they often call it a pineapple.  It’s sort of wider at the back, narrower at the front, it’s got some breakout picks on the very front of it, got a much, because it’s a much smaller head where the other one was three metres wide, and we’ll have a look at an ABM later, but because it’s 3.3 meters wide there’s quite a lot of load on the head so it can only cut with a breakout force enough, and I said ideally sort of 20-odd MPA coal.  The roadheader can break out a lot harder than that, possibly 80, up to 100 megapascals of strength, which is really really hard stone.  Our Island sandstone by way of example is nearly 200 megapascals, really really hard, roadheader won’t break through that.  So this roadheader was used for roadway development.  It’s got a much longer loader blade and typically it’s always a challenge to work out how to put a bolting rig on these things.  I’ve had bigger rigs in other places where they get knocked off and it’s quite difficult, so the design concept it’s come up for this machine, it’s got a big triple-acting ram that sits right back in the length of the machine and you can see where the operator is back on the drill rig, he can deploy himself and his rig all the way forward right up onto these loader blades so that the drill rig is actually sitting right up here in the middle and then it’s got a ram that comes out the bottom of it onto the loader blade and up to the roof so that the operator can bolt the roof quite close to the face and that gives better support rather than having unsupported roof.  So that was a really good design feature of this machine.  The machine’s also
electro-hydraulic the same as the continuous miner.  They have both come from the same base manufacture, Vert in Germany and they are assembled and built by Waratah in Newcastle.  So they’ve got all the same electrics and other things.  Slightly different traction system and a few other features to the continuous miner but we’ve bought, we bought one of these and two of the continuous miners.  On the flat on normal grades the roadheader’s a lot slower because you can see it’s cutting area is quite small, takes you longer to cut the profile out but once you get into steep ground or difficult ground or cutting and breaking away. 
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A. Because of the boom on this doesn't just go up and down, it goes left and right, they're much better for breaking away around tight corners or where there's stone in the floor or intersecting faults, et cetera, so our fleet initially had two continuous miners and one roadheader.

Q. Is this piece of machinery Mr Whittall, something that was purpose built for Pike?

A. Yes.

Q. And there are two men aboard the machine here?

A. Just for the photographer I believe at that time because this machine has been pulled back to pit bottom area because it wasn't being used, and I think to give some dimension a couple of the operators jumped on it.

Q. If I could bring you back to your brief please.  We're at paragraph 42 on page 9 and if you can continue reading.

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 42

Q. “In mining to the west, away from the pit bottom and west of the graben structure, coal seam conditions were significantly better for roadway development.  This allowed for the introduction of a single pass wide head machine (Alpine Bolter machine or ABM20).  The significant reliability issues that arose with the initial continuous mining machines did not occur with the ABM20.  The ABM20 is a single pass mining machine ideally suited to good conditions, repetitive cycles and long, straight roadways.  The ABM20 had the ability to cut and bolt at the same time, thereby reducing the production cycle when compared to double pass machines.  The improved performance resulting from the ABM20 was such that a second ABM20 had been purchased by the company for delivery in late 2010.  Attached and marked PW33 is a true copy of a photograph, obtained from company records, of an ABM20.”
Q. So if we take a look at exhibit 33 to your evidence Mr Whittall, could you please explain what this image shows?

A. Certainly, this is an ABM20.  I'm not sure that it’s actually the one that was delivered to Pike as this photo was supplied by the manufacturer some time ago, but essentially it’s just a continuous miner the same as the other machine was.  Its features are roughly the same.  It’s a remote control machine.  Its main difference is that it’s a much bigger, wider and heavier machine.  It’s probably close to 90 or 100 tons.  The head is the full width of the roadway so the machine instead of cutting out the face 3.3 metres wider than pulling back, instead of pulling back and then going to the other side of the roadway and cutting out the remaining sort of 1.4 odd metres to make up the five, this cuts I believe 4.9, I think it’s five actually, maybe 5.1 metre wide face in one go.  The head just goes up and down like the other one.  This has slightly different supports.  I didn't point out on the other machine but the top of the drill rig on the other machine that I showed you had a separate ram that goes to the roof and provides temporary support for the operators, so when they're standing there putting the bolts in, the roof immediately above them is supported.  On this machine there's two rams with a bar across the top, and that actually supplies the temporary roof support for the operator who is standing on this rig.  So he’s got some canopy support above his head holding the roof up from bits and pieces of daggy stuff that would fall down.  On this one, you can see the side shield actually has a hydraulic ram that pushes out and provides that side support.  Where we had a separate ram and a discreet plate coming out, this comes out hinged from further back, but otherwise this is a four-rig bolter.  There’s one, two and there's two on the other side as well, so it can do four bolts, and they pivot left and right so they can – whatever arrangement of bolts you want to put in the roof, they just swing left or right to be able to put those bolts in, but other than that the machine is of the same concept, essentially the same.

Q. Are these features that you're describing standard on this type of equipment, Mr Whittall?

A. Yes on the ABM20.  We bought it as a reconditioned.  With the continuous miners out of Waratah and the roadheader, we went out to tender and they offered a purpose-built machine for us.  In this case we went looking for what was available on hire and this machine was coming off hire and had just undergone an overhaul in the workshop in Newcastle I believe.

Q. And are there certain safety features on the machine?

A. All the machines have methane detectors.  On this machine there's two.  There’s the general one and a quarter percent methane detector and there's also a two percent head detector which will cut power off to the machine.  The head detector’s usually located up closer to the working face.  
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A. You expect to get billowing gas in and around the head so they’re set at a high level, as per legislation, they’re set at a higher level to allow for that billowing and random gas that’s not necessarily filling the general body so it doesn’t get anywhere near the electrics of the machine, which are much further back and the one that’s back there is the one and a quarter sensor.

Q. If I could bring you back to your brief and we’re in paragraph 42, if you could just read the last sentence there please?

A. “Attached and marked PW34 is a true copy of the photograph obtained from the company records of the tunnel roof showing the results of using the AMB20.”

Q. So if we take a look at exhibit 34, which has just been displayed, can you explain to the Commission what we are viewing?

A. Certainly.  Again, it is a bit harder on the wall than it is on the screen but if the Commissioners could understand that by looking at my pointer, in the middle of the photograph there is a corner of the face in about a one third of the way from the left hand side and the face is described, it’s about five metres wide by 3.3 metres high and both sides of the roadway show some of the rib coming back towards us on the left and some of the rib coming back towards us on the right, and the mesh on the roof extends to within a quite close distance of the face, and the face is just within a few hundred millimetres of the mesh at the face there.  What you can see very clearly is vertical lines in the face, very close together.  They’re the pick marks from the continuous miner.  The coal is extremely hard in this area and very, very fine grained, so the ribs are beautiful and vertical, really lovely and the roof is nice and horizontal and because we’re doing a single pass you don’t get the same step over that you would in a double pass machine, so you've got nice verticality and horizontal roof, very good conditions.  The sort of dark circle, just to explain, that’s the end of one of the vent tubes that’s been run up the rib and this is a standing place, the machine’s been pulled out of there so it’s where the white marks, white is all the stone dusting that’s been done, so when the machine is finished in a stub it’s pulled back and you can see a bit of rope hanging on the roof, that was probably a venturi or some other sort of air blower hung off the roof there and they’ve just cut that when they’ve come out of there and left the place and stone dust, that’s what you would class as a standing stub.

Q. Thank you, can I bring you back to page 9 and you were about to read paragraph 43 of your brief, continue reading from there please?

A. “All machines were equipped with on-board roof bolting equipment to enhance safety and efficiency.  At full production the mine was scheduled to operate three roadway development units, contributing 20% of the coal production.  The principal mining method at the mine was hydro mining.  Hydro mining utilises a powerful water jet known as a hydro monitor which cuts the coal from the seam and washes it into a water race known as a flume.  Hydro mining was a method used once access was gained to a working panel.  Attached and marked PW35 to PW38 are true copies of photographs and a diagram obtained from company records of hydro mining equipment.  

Q. So if we start with PW35, could you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Certainly.  The hydro monitor itself is referring to this unit, the silver unit at the front, it looks like a water cannon, is a water cannon, and it has a nozzle on the front, there's a lot of technology in the nozzle because it actually directs water at a very high pressure up to 40 metres away and the water pressure and, by way of example, would be strong enough to put a hole in a concrete wall 40 metres away, so it comes out like a ray gun if you like, like a very strong beam of water.  Typically the hydro monitor is just housed on a sled and previously in other operations it’s just placed on a sled and that sled is held in place with timber props or whatever else and held in place in its position with pipes.  Pike wanted to have some 21st century safety features on the machine so we chose to house it within a mobile roof support, so this is a temporary support we bought out of Australia, we actually shipped the monitor from Japan to Pike and then shipped it off to Australia and had it mounted in a purpose-built temporary roof support.
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A. So this machine is run off umbilical cords back to the guzzler which we'll show in another drawing, so this acts at the operating face of the hydro panel.  It's got hydraulic masts on it and a beam across the top and it also has hydraulic rams that come out the bottom so that when you jack this up to the roof, you're not putting all the pressure on the tracks, so it sort of picks itself up and sits there freestanding.  The monitor goes up and down, the head goes up and down and swivels left to right and can be operated back at the guzzler, 15/20 metres away and the reason we put it into this sled arrangement or into this mobile roof support arrangement was to allow the operator to be able to go up to the face, while this is isolated, you wouldn't go up there while it was operating, but you can isolate it and go up to the coalface and view the void that they're mining without risk of roof support, without risk of roof failure, or less risk of roof failure, and giving them some active support on the goaf edge.  That's probably the main features of that unit.  We've got two –

Q. Are there any others?

A. We've got two -

Q. Safety –

A. We've got two of those.  We've got a third monitor that we just keep in the store but we've got two complete units like this.  No, that's the main functions and features of that.

Q. Any other safety features on this piece of equipment?

A. We've got it made up with rudd links all over it so that it can be pulled back out if it, if the roof was to fall in, it's kept chained back to the guzzler and so if you want it to pull it back out you can actually drive the guzzler back, which I know we haven't seen the photo of that yet but it's quite a big beast, it can drive back down the roadway, it'll pull this with it.  So we've attached all rudd links all over it so that we can pull it under quite a lot of strain without someone having to go in there and dig it out.

Q. Let's turn to the next exhibit, PW36.  Could you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes it's, this is more a precursor to the next one, which is a little bit harder to understand unless you've seen a stylised diagram.  What this is showing is that the monitor is housed in this mobile roof support.  The roof above it is coal.  What's not shown on here is that that would be fully bolted in meshed coal, 'cos it's sitting in a roadway.  The hydro monitor itself is putting out high pressure water and it's creating, it's blasting the coal basically, it's breaking the coal with its breaking force of the water and it, as the coal is broken it washes down the roadway and it washed past the monitor and basically a river of broken coal.  As it does that it's actually cutting out to the left or the right, depending on where you're mining with it which way the dip’s going, and then, so therefore the coal that it's mining in the gap between the two roadways, which is usually about 20 metres wide, is all unsupported.  So as it breaks it, the roof will eventually just fall in.  Where it's breaking the roadway itself, it has to actually shoot through the mesh and bolts and break the ground around those roof and bolt - mesh and bolts, so you start to create a void in the roadway that you're in and this is what you'd call a goaf edge, which is quite close to the edge of where the monitor is and that’s why we made that roof support there because otherwise someone would be coming up here to check on the monitor or to move it and they'd have to be standing basically where you've already started damaging the roof.

Q. Let me take you to the next exhibit Mr Whittall, PW37.

A. Yes.

Q. And could you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. This is looking up into the first of the hydro-panels from the guzzler.  You can see the ribs on the right-hand side of a roof above all meshed and bolted and you can see some broken mesh on the left-hand side where the monitor has, and this is the monitor sitting in the middle.  You can see all the hydraulic hoses coming out of the back of it and you can see that it's lifted up in the air where the hydraulic rams have gone up to the roof and the hydraulic rams out of the floor, there's four of them so it lifts it up like a little robot, so it's sitting proud on the floor.  That allows the coal to wash underneath it as well so it's sort of building up on the machine and getting in amongst it.  The coal could wash underneath it.  There's a, you can see a rope from the roof coming down and holding up the hoses that are running into the back of the machine and that, the white beam coming out of the left-hand side of the monitor is actually the spray of water going out into the goaf as it's cutting the coal.
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Q. Let’s turn to the next exhibit, PW38, and can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes.  This is a guzzler, so named by its manufacturer at Waratah.  This is taken in Newcastle at the manufacturer’s plant.  It’s essentially sitting in the roadway, which would be facing uphill, so this what you call the
in-bye end or the coalface end –

Q. And just for the record?

A. On the right-hand side.  On the right-hand side of the picture you can see, although it might be hard to understand.  What you’re looking at is on an oblique angle to the front of the machine you’re actually looking at the edge of one of the two doors and there’s another one on the other side.  And the two doors open up, they overlap, and one opens out to the right, the other one opens out to the left and they continue to push out until they hit the walls of the roadway, the ribs.  So the machine itself is about three metres wide and the doors are probably another metre and a half wide each, maybe more, maybe two metres wide, and they push out and push into the ribs and that forms a seal against the side roadway.  They also have guillotine rams on the bottom of them so they can ram down into the floor and that forms basically a seal on the roadway.  So any coal washing back, water washing back down the roadway is directed by hitting these doors up over a lip and into the receival area for the coal.  The coal that runs through the middle of the machine just using gravity, so it’s just water, washed out.  Remember the monitor’s putting, at the moment, on the 19th of November it was putting out 4500 litres a  minute but that was still to be ramped up to 9000 litres a minute so there’s a lot of water flowing down there, nine cubic metres.  So the water and coal slurry flows through the machine.  On the back of the machine there’s a breaker just rotating sort of picks and that breaks the coal up to – and the intention is to break it up to less than 200 millimetres.  And then the flume line is connected directly to the back of the guzzler and it breaks the coal up.  It’s got rudd links and other things on it.  You can see some safety signs for noise because it’s quite noisy.  And this here is a ram, remembering this is actually operating in quite a steep roadway and so this ram that goes up to the roof blocks against the roof and stops it being pushed away by the force of water or anything else hitting it as it comes in from the front.  That’s a mobile machine, it’s track mounted.  The rudd links on the front, once you shut these doors, can be used to tow the hydro monitor back down the roadway, otherwise it can be just direct driven but with its own tracks, it’s a remote control unit.

Q. And is this a standard piece of machinery Mr Whittall?

A. No, that was the design and built for Pike.

Q. And are there any other safety features on this piece of machinery?

A. It’s got gas monitoring on it and its got computer screens on the other side so you can monitor all the work of the monitor at the face, so you can monitor the monitor.  And it’s got communication through to the pump system so that if you want to – because the operator that’s operating up here is operating both this, he’s operating the monitor so he can operate the feed for the water to his area as well.  So if needs to turn off the high pressure water he can communicate electronically back to the main pump system.

Q. If I can bring you back to your brief, we’re at page 10, paragraph 45, and if you could continue reading please.

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 45

A. As the coal face is located uphill from the portal the gravity assisted flume was able to be used to move the coal all the way to the underground crushing station.  From the underground crushing station it was pumped via slurry pipeline down the access tunnel and onto the CPP approximately 10 kilometres away.  Coal was normally transported from the coal face using load-haul-dump or LHD machines or ram car haulers which transported the coal to a common gurgler or dumping point where piped fluming water would wash the coal via flumes to the pit bottom.  This system was starting to be replaced with flumes laid up into the panel to receive the coal directly from the continuous miner eliminating the need for LHDs in this process.  This was the intended process for the mine in steady state.  Attached and marked PW39 and PW40 are true copies of photographs obtained from company records of a load-haul-dump machine.

Q. So if we can start with the PW39.  Could you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Certainly.  This is one of our juggernaut LHDs, there’s a number of brands in the market.  Well there’s not that many because they’re quite a unique machine and they’re not a big marketplace but this is a juggernaut brand, part of the Valley Longwall Group now, UL001, so it was our underground loader number 1, this is our first one.  We actually had six underground, we had eight at one stage, we only owned two of them and we leased others.  
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A. So the machine is about a 10 tonne capacity.  In this picture it’s got a coal bucket on the front of it so it’s quite a large bucket for taking lower gravity, specific gravity material.  They are mono-filled tyres rather than air filled tyres.  The operator sits in the cabin there in the middle of the machine so he’s got a steel roof canopy above him.  He would open this door in the middle of the one with a little sticker on it in behind the front wheel and climb into his cabin.  So this would swing out full height and he would step into the cabin and sit in a seat there facing sideways so his back would be to this.  These machines come with a steel packing plate behind the operator with a steel roof canopy.  Some of them are optional extras, others are standard.  Depending on your roof height in the mine you can have different features to your machine.  They have got intrinsically safe lights on them, fire extinguishers.  This machine has a fire suppression system on board which can be activated automatically if it detects, like if its fuseable plug gets burnt out, or it can be operated manually by the operator by hitting a switch.  So it’s got a dumping system on the motor so it will automatically suppress fire if it was to catch fire.  It’s also got on board gas monitoring, gas guard system and it’s straight out of Australia, to Australia/New Zealand standards.

Q. And when you mentioned the optional extras point Mr Whittall, were there any budgetary constraints that the company faced regarding the design of these types of pieces of equipment?

A. I've used armcos and juggernauts and wagners and all sorts of machines in the industry, and I find the juggernauts to be the best, so we bought the best, yeah.  These are the QDS system which is a quick detach system.  So you can actually have a bucket on the front or you can have a set of forks on the front or a gib on the front.  So we bought all those attachments as well, so there’s a full suite that goes with these things.  They're a great machine.

Q. Thank you.  Let’s turn to the next exhibit PW40.  And can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit PW40 shows?

A. This shows the machine’s been working for quite a while because it’s not nice and white anymore.  This machine’s parked or is operating right next to the portal area at the entrance to the mine.  He’s got a load of material in the bucket.  The operator’s in the cabin.  You can see him there, his coupling it on and the only other features of that which you couldn't see on the other one, you can see some chocks there sitting on the top, which are used to chock the wheels of the vehicle, but other than that it’s the same machine, just in a different orientation just doing its work.

Q. Sir, just so I'm clear.  By reference to “chocks,” what do you mean?

A. Just like wheel chocks to stop – if you had to stop the machine on a grade you could chock the wheels to stop it getting that initial rollaway.

Q. If I can bring you back to your brief.  Page 10, paragraph 47.  Could you continue reading please?

A. “The company has four driftrunners purchased from the Australian company, Specialised Mining Vehicles Pty Ltd.  The driftrunners were used to transport up to 11 miners to and from various locations in the mine.  In more recent times, miners were also transported in the unrestricted zone in Toyota Land Cruisers.  Attached and marked PW41 is a true copy of a photograph, obtained from company records, of a driftrunner.”

Q. Let’s turn to PW41?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you please explain what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes.  This is a driftrunner.  There's only a couple of different varieties in the marketplace and I've used driftrunners at quite a number of mines I've worked at.  They're a personal transporter, they're purpose-built for the underground coal mining industry.  They have a driver and an offsider in the front and another nine people in the back.  In this case, they're all visitors.  You can see they're all in their white gear.  The SMV vehicle is also part of a Valley Longwall stable of companies now, although they weren’t always.  The operators if they've got a front windscreen they've got some materials, racks on the roof, although I didn't tend to use those very much because we had low pipes in the pit, et cetera.  They're a diesel vehicle.  They have a water scrubber system.  So all the diesel vehicles have the same sort of features.  They're all water scrubbers and have, in this case the operators and the passengers sit separately.  So, you can't put your hand through from one to the other.  So the passengers in the back have emergency stop buttons in the back of the machine as well in case there's some reason they need the vehicle to stop automatically, they can actually stop it by pushing a button.  
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A. The machine has on-board gas monitoring as well in case it was tried to be taken into a gassy area, so it’s got a gas-guard system as well and it’s also got automatic fire suppression on it as well.

Q. And when you use the term, “water scrubbers” sir, what do you mean by that?

A. It’s a system by which the exhaust from the vehicle is passed through a wet scrubber system to stop incandescent particles from the diesel motors entering the ventilation.

Q. You talked about the windscreen at the front Mr Whittall, is it glass on those side panels as well?

A. No, no typically you'd try not to.  It’s an issue of you want as good a flow through ventilation as you can in these vehicles.

Q. Thank you, can I bring you back to page 10, paragraph 48 of your brief and ask you to continue reading please?

A. “Various other equipment was used in addition to driftrunners and LHDs to support the operation of the mine.  This included lighter duty tractor style machines, Brumbys, and a mine grader for road maintenance.  Attached and marked PW42 to PW44 respectively are photographs obtained from the company records of a Brumby, a mine grader and an auxiliary fan.”

Q. So, if we start Mr Whittall with PW42, can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Certainly.  It’s a Brumby. The LHD I showed before was a 10 tonne machine, it had a 10 tonne capacity.  The Brumby is typically about a four tonne machine, four and a half tonne, so that means that that’s the load they can pick up with their bucket and still be stable.  These are similarly a QDS machine, it can have other forks and gibs attached to them.  Again, they’re a single operator machine but in this case the operator faces forward, a smaller machine, they don’t need the same – they’re not used for towing as much which the other LHD was, so the operator doesn’t typically look behind the machine as they drive and they’re not an articulated machine, which the other one was, and that’s why sitting sideways is very good for those because you can actually see as you’re going round a corner, much better, whereas the Brumby is a fixed chassis and they’re just basically a tractor for underground, that’s essentially what they are.  They just cost a lot more than tractors, because they’re purpose-built for underground, has the same safety systems as the other, you can see a fire extinguisher in the middle, they have the gas-guard system on it and you can actually see it on this one, that little box there.  In the middle of the drawing, just underneath the canopy, and so they had the same gas detection system and also had the same fire suppression system on the motor was well.  They’re a standard machine.  I'm not sure that we had to do a lot of changes to the requirements, they’re pretty much an off the shelf machine from SMV.

Q. Let’s turn to the next exhibit, PW43.

A. Yes.

Q. Can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. This is a mine grader.  This is, normally I believe they get an ordinary CAT grader and cut it down and modify it, so this is the right grader.  It’s purpose-built for underground.  It’s got all the same features.  It’s a lot lower profiled than one you'd see on the road, but it’s used – we used it for grading our main roads on the surface but essentially it’s been bought for underground road grading, so it’s a purpose-built machine, the same thing, fire suppression systems on it, gas detection systems on it, which is quite unusual, I've not had a grader with gas detection before because usually they’re operating out of your main intake airways, but it was a standard that we decided on when we bought all of our equipment and you can see again on, which is not normal, but it’s probably quite a common theme now with the right graders, it’s also got a QDS system on the front, so you can attach like a stone duster or some other hydraulic equipment to the front of this machine as well.  

Q. Thank you.

A. So all of those were bought brand new, they’re all bought for Pike.

Q. Let’s turn to the next exhibit, PW44 and can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes, this is an auxiliary fan.  In days of old an auxiliary fan of itself was just a fan sitting on the ground which had its impellor and its intake and outlet and a small electrical switch box and then separate to that you'd have the starter and supply.  This one’s been built as a single unit.  It’s a large capacity fan so it’s a, I'm pretty sure it’s a 21 cubic metre per second fan, I may be wrong if it’s an 18, but I’m pretty they’re all 21s that we bought.  
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A. So it’s capacity to put fan air through an open circuit so no flumes restricting the airflow, is 21 cubic metres per second.  So it’s got the onboard electrics and a flameproof enclosure for its electrics there and the starter and everything else.

Q. And that’s the blue area?

A. The big blue box in the middle of the auxiliary fan.  And the number of the fan, its plates are there.  In the middle just above the flameproof enclosure the electric motor for the fan is on the front of the unit and the actual fan, you can see not quite as clear here, you can see some little radiating wings on there, they allow you to change the pitch of the veins in the fan and they would be used to adjust the airflow through it and to fine tune the fan.

Q. And I think I can read the word, “Veil,” perhaps written on the machine.  Is that right?

A. Vale Engineering are the suppliers of that, they’re a New South Wales based engineering company that supply very, very good quality gear to the mining industry.  So this has similarly got fire suppression on it as well and it’s also got a gas guard system on it as well.

Q. Can I bring you back to your brief, we’re now at page 11, paragraph 49 and could you please continue reading?

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 49

A. “This is dealing now in pipeline.  The coal slurry pipeline is made of extruded seamless steel pipe.  Water would flow naturally under gravity but to ensure an adequate velocity was maintained in the pipe to keep the coal and heavier stone dilution in suspension the material was pumped down the pipeline at high speed.  The pipeline discharges into a coal sump at the base of the CPP.  The slurry pipeline provided environmental, safety and cost-efficiency benefits by eliminating the need to use coal trucks to transport coal from the mine to the CPP.  The CPP is situated approximately 8.2 kilometres from the mine tunnel and is situated on 87.5 hectares of company owned land.  The CPP was designed to operate whenever the mine was working to ensure a 24‑hour per day operation.  The CPP received all of the raw coal from the mine through the coal slurry pipeline and washed the coal to remove diluting rocks and deliver a clean dewatered product.  The clean coal was separated with higher ash components further crushed and processed to remove stones and other debris.  It was then screened and dewatered.  The dewatered clean coal was loaded onto a product conveyor and delivered to stockpiles, four conical stockpiles of approximately 15,000 tonnes each, ready for collection for coal trucks and transport to the Ikamatua road-to-rail facility.  Part of the technology in the CPP was an elemental analyser to perform continuous on-line, real-time and precise analysis of coal moving on the coal conveyor belt.  In parallel to the slurry pipeline running from the mine another pipeline carried clean water from the CPP back up to the mine.  Settling ponds situated near the CPP were used to settle the water before it was carried back to the mine.  Clarified water was treated, tested to ensure compliance with resource consent conditions and then either recycled to the mine or discharged into the nearby Big River.  The water recycled to the mine formed part of the water reticulation system which along with water drawn from streams supplied water for the hydraulic monitor and for fluming coal.  Attached and marked PW45 is a true copy of a photograph obtained from company records of the parallel coal slurry and water pipelines.”

Q. And if we could just take a look briefly at this exhibit, PW45.  Can you please explain Mr Whittall to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes.  It shows two pipelines.  The one on the left is the coal slurry pipeline.  The brackets it uses are much more robust.  It’s a 11 inch pipeline extruded, meaning it’s seamless so it’s not wound pipe it’s just been pushed out of one big long inger of steel.  We bought that from Japan, all those pipeline, so it’s very high grade steel.  It’s sitting on a series of concrete plinths down the side of the road.  But the pipe beside it is ordinary black steel pipe. 
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A. Its 12 inch diameter, slightly larger and it just has a much lighter gauge bracket because it doesn’t take the same pressure and it’s for returning clean water back up from the coal prep plant to that large tank near the amenities area.  The little brackets that are sitting on top, you can see, look pretty flimsy, they’re just there to keep the pipe settled if it gets any surging in it, but essentially they sit in grooved sections of the concrete plinths and the concrete plinths are bolted to the ground.

Q. Thank you and if I could bring you back to your brief, page 12 paragraph 57, could you please continue reading?

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 57
A. “At the time of the incident the CPP had produced 65,000 tonnes of saleable coal which included a period of operating at full capacity.  On average the coal was sold as hard coking coal.  Transportation arrangements.  The company built a road-to-rail coal facility near the town of Ikamatua, approximately 22 kilometres from the CPP.  Coal was transported from the CPP to Ikamatua by truck and discharged into a road hopper.  The coal was elevated up onto a conveyor with a mobile plough which could form a stockpile of approximately 15,000 tonnes of coal.  An under-stockpile reclaim conveyor took the coal up into a surge bin for discharge into train wagons.  Trains accessed the site via a purpose-built rail loop which came off the main Grey Valley train line.  A train with between 30 and 45 wagons, each carrying approximately 50 tonnes, transported the coal to the port of Lyttelton, situated on the east coat of New Zealand’s South Island.  The Port of Lyttelton had a stockpile area allocated for the company’s coal and this was where the coal was loaded into Panamax vessels for export.  The truck, train and port services comprising the coal transport system were provided by third parties contracted to the company.  The company had two transport providers.  The Nelson-based TNL Group trucked coal from the CPP to the Ikamatua rail loadout facility and Solid Energy New Zealand Limited transported the coal by rail from Ikamatua to the Port of Lyttelton.  Attached and marked PW46 to PW49 are true copies of photographs obtained from company records showing the rail loadout facility.”
Q. If I could just stop you there Mr Whittall and ask you to take a look at PW46, can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Certainly.  Appreciate it’s a bit busy so I'll just explain it to you with a pointer.  The rail line is coming in from the top left hand side of the picture and going out around the middle of the bottom of the photograph.  That’s the main line that runs between Stillwater and Reefton so Greymouth, Stillwater would be off to the left and the Reefton line continues on down to the south of this photo and then off to the right hand side.  The white scribbly looking overlay is actually the facilities that have been put onto this picture.  The rail loop which was purpose-built for this is the only one in New Zealand actually that exists, comes off the main line, so a train coming up if you imagine from Stillwater, coming in from the left would leave the main line at the start of that first yellow box, C009, and would leave the main line and run parallel to the main line for some several hundred metres and then it goes around the curve and as it comes round the first of the curves it’s pulling its 30 or 45 wagons.  You'll see more in the photos that follow, but there's a white box, a rectangular box showing with main storage platform in yellow pointing towards it and the lower access road running just down beside it.  That’s actually just a box showing where the coal stockpile is.  So, we’ll look at other photos that will make this clearer but the system would be that the train would pull the wagons through that point, as it got to the top side of where the rectangle is, you can see the line is starting to head there to the north, it would pick up about 20% load of the coal through the bend that sits over the rail line, which we’ll look at again shortly, and then it would continue to pull that train very slowly, a couple of kilometres an hour, through the rail loop and all the way around the loop until such times as the engines would back almost at its own tail, so back almost ready to join the loop again.  By that stage it was designed that the last of 45 wagons would be through.  
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A. If there was only 30 wagons it would just stop a bit sooner.  The diesel would then uncouple from the back or from the front of the train, would drive around, pick up the back of the train and then heading back out of the loop would load each of the wagons with another 80% of their capacity, so the other 40 tons of the 50 ton capacity.  The rail loop was designed in such a way that it was all downhill, so the train pulled the empty wagons into the loop and then when it pulled the wagons out they were always in tension so there was no clunking like you'd get in a rail yard.  So as they pulled out and loaded up, the train continued in tension, pulled through until it got back parallel to and almost onto the main line, by which time the train would be full and it would continue out onto the main line and go away.

Q. Let's turn to the next exhibit, which may give a little bit more context as you've mentioned, PW47.  Can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes.  I actually said in my brief that it was a photograph but it’s actually obviously a diagram or electronic diagram.  This is taken with a view looking from within the rail loop.  And so you can see in the background on the right-hand side is where the truck would discharge its coal.  It would then go down, come up the conveyor which is coming up the right-hand side of that stockpile and out along a horizontal conveyor which a plough would then deposit the coal variously along the length of that section, which would give about a 15,000 ton stockpile.  It’s not a conical one like over at the prep plant, but it’s made up with a ridge long stockpile.  Underneath that is a conveyor tunnel which was constructed into the ground, a concrete bunker, and there's two drawdown points underneath that stockpile.  They would draw down onto that conveyor.  It would come out of the ground around the middle of that photo or the right-hand third.  The green is the roof cover or the side covers to stop wind blowing coal off the conveyor and it goes up the elevator conveyor, up to the top of the surge bin, and the surge bin holds about 50 tons, about the same size as a wagon so you could have the first wagon ready to go.  You can see the control room from the tower there and the other operating rooms there.

Q. Just on the left-hand side of the photo?

A. On the left-hand side of the drawing, correct.

Q. If we –

A. The train would pull through that rail line, which is the black line running roughly through the bottom section of that diagram.

Q. If we turn to the next exhibit Mr Whittall, PW48?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes, this is taken from where the truck would discharge into the coal hopper, and you can see the conveyor, elevator conveyor going up.  You can see the stackout conveyor in the top right-hand corner of the photo and the concrete pad is shown there when there was only a little bit of coal in there, and in the background you can see the elevator conveyor coming back out from underneath and you can see the train loading bin in the very far background.  The other thing that’s of note in that drawing is that the system was set up and quite a lot of conversation, as Mr Rockhouse will recall, when we were building this as to what the safest way to do that would be, given that someone has to work in that tunnel while there’s a coal stockpile above them, and we didn't really want a multi-person, like there's not enough work over there for a couple of people.  So we ended up making that with two means of egress out of that tunnel.  So that little box there is actually an exit way out of the underground tunnel and that’s where –

Q. And that little box is just for the written record –

A. The little box on the right-hand side of the photo about half way up is actually the fan exit.  So there's an exhaust fan in there and a ladderway that comes up from the tunnel underneath the coal stockpile into that, so you can get out that way if you wanted to.

Q. And if we can turn to the next exhibit PW49.  Can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. So again just to complete the orientation of what we've been looking at.  That shows a coal train being pulled through the loop.  You can see the diesel still at the front of it, KiwiRail, and the train is still going back out of a loop towards the main line.  The coal trucks would come in from the top left-hand side or half way down that plan, that photo, discharge their coal and you can just see the road coming down on the right-hand side amongst the power poles and they would go out underneath the raised section of conveyor and out again.  And you can see the CPP operator in the orange overalls and next to the control room where the bin would be discharging into that train.

Q. Thank you.  If I can just bring you back to your brief, Mr Whittall.  We're on page 12, paragraph 61.  Can you please just read the last sentence of that paragraph?
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WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 61

A. “Attached and marked PW50 is a true copy of a pictorial representation obtained from company records of the company’s transport arrangements.”

Q. And if we now turn to PW50, which is being displayed, can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes, this is just a simplify – a number of the factors we've been talking about.  On the left-hand side of that diagram is the coalface if you like, the coal was transported back down the two kilometres of tunnel, a 10 kilometre slurry pipeline from within the tunnel to the dewatering and coal prep plant, out of the stockpile, trucks to Ikamatua and then railed 250 kilometres to Lyttelton, stockpiled again at Lyttelton and then on to Panamax vessels out of Lyttelton.  So it's just a pits port diagram. 

Q. Thank you, and if I bring you back to your brief at page 13, can you please continue reading from the top of that page?

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PAGE 13
A. Certainly.  “Part D, Details of a Mine Operation, electricity systems, 62.  Electricity was used to power the CPP pumps, the mine’s ventilation system, mining equipment and for the offices and workshops.  Electricity was supplied to the mine from a high voltage switching yard installed on Transpower’s (the New Zealand national high voltage electricity grid operator) 110kV national grid at Atarau Road.  The switching yard took power from the national grid line running from Reefton to Dobson.  From the switching yard, a 7.5 kilometre electricity line runs to a main substation at CPP, called the Logburn Substation.  This substation supplied power to the CPP and up to the mine portal.  From the Logburn substation, 33kV lines run up the valley to the portal area where another substation distributes power to the amenities area as well as 11kV to the underground workings.  Fully insulated and extra strength Hendrix power cable has been used on the last four kilometres of line to the mine portal to increase line integrity from falling trees and conversely to minimise damage to native trees from fire or discharge should the cable be brought down by storm damage.  The use of Hendrix cable also reduced the setback distance for trees from the power line, thus reducing the need to clear vegetation along the line.  Attached and marked “PW51” is a true copy of a photograph, obtained from company records of the Hendrix power cable.”

Q. If we could turn to look at that exhibit, PW51 Mr Whittall, can you please explain to the Commission what it shows?

A. Yeah, that's taken probably I think on top of the bin that we saw earlier near the portal, the big green rock bin.  That's looking back across the White Knight bridge with Pike Stream down on the right-hand side Nadia pretty much on the confluence of the White Knight Stream and the Pike River Stream.  The cables, the two cables you can see hanging in the distance are one feed coming up the valley from the Logburn Substation, so it runs all the way up the valley to the substation right next to the portal  and from there, because it's 33,000 volts, we then ran back 1.2 kilometres to the amenities area, rather than put another substation in down there and that runs back 11,000 volts back to another transformer at the amenities area and also transports the power underground, and so what we're looking at is in this drawing is the Hendrix cable.  A Hendrix cable is a system of insulated cables as opposed to a normal power supply out on the road with three, three‑phase power which would be uninsulated so if you grab two of them, you would get electrocuted.  These are insulated power cables, they're basically like extensions cords run through the air but they're still three-phase power and what they, you can see, if we just choose this area here, just -

Q. So just an area to the right-hand side?

A. Yeah, so we’ll choose the first coupling next to the timber power pole in the middle of the photo for ease of reference.  The top wire is actually a catenary wire, so it's a very strong but thin piece of wire that supports the cables, so it's just there for hanging off.  The – underneath it you can see a bracket with three cables running through that bracket and they just basically act as a spacer to keep the three cables from twisting around each other.  
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A. The weak point in the system is where the catenary wire is attached to the pole and that’s intentional so that if a tree were to fall on this power cable system it would rip the catenary wire off the pole and the whole cable would drop to the ground and because they’re heavily insulated cables they can touch each other without sparking, they become safer for personnel who have to deal with them but they also have allowed us to reduce the setback distance for trees because a lot of the, I think it said in the brief four kilometres, that’s pretty much where we started the old growth forest, so a lot of the trees on either side of the road are four, five, six hundred year old podocarp so we left as many as we could and this allowed us to keep the area very well tight where the road is, and the other one is just the same, it’s just going back in the other direction.

Q. If I can bring you back to your brief Mr Whittall, we’re on page 13 and if you could pick up reading from the heading just above paragraph 64 please?

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 64
A. “Communication system.  The communication system to and from the underground mine included fibre optics, telephones and an AMPCONTROL Voicecom intercom system.  I understand that the Voicecom system was installed in September 2010.  The phones underground could call anywhere on company premises.  A sheet was stored with each telephone setting out various numbers including the emergency 555 number at the top of the sheet.  The Voicecom intercoms are equipped with four buttons to control the transmitting and calling functions and they also have liquid crystal displays to assist with trouble shooting.  A speak button, as well as a call local and call exchange buttons respectively allowed communication with the control room or all local sections.  From the amenities area a fibre optic cable ran down to the base of the Pike Valley.  From here the communications were transmitted by radio wave to a repeater outside Greymouth, then to a receiver in Greymouth and then into the terrestrial telecommunications systems.  Compressed air and water systems.  Compressed air for the mine was supplied via pipeline from two large compressors installed adjacent to the access tunnel portal at the White Knight Stream.  Compressed air was reticulated throughout the mine and was used for small compressed air tools as well as for portable ventilation devices and dirty water pumps.  In addition to a fluming and monitor water system I described earlier dirty water lines also ran throughout the mine to remove pooling water.  Because the mine was developed uphill most waste water would run downhill away from the face and this had to be managed away from wheeling roads.  Water was also collected in the access tunnel but ran freely downhill to the portal where it was directed to Pond 1 to be dosed with flocculent and either lime or acid as required so that it was within the acceptable range to be discharged into the Pike Stream.  Inseam drilling.  Inseam drilling provides critical data on geological and coal seam conditions hundreds of metres ahead of each working coalface.  It allows for more accurate, efficient and targeted exploration and coal seam delineation than surface drilling.  This enable primary access roadway development in thick seams and greater certainty in mine planning.  Inseam holes drilled through the rock graben intersected a nine to 11 metre Brunner seam consistent with the geological model and confirmed the absence of significant faulting in the first production target area.  Inseam drilling was used at the mine to define the coal seam where pit bottom in coal was developed and to define the first hydro areas.   Attached and marked PW52 is a true copy of a photograph obtained from company records of an inseam drilling rig, similar to that used by the company.

Q. If I could just pause you there Mr Whittall and take you to PW52 which has now been displayed.  Can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes, this rig is not one that was being used at Pike but it’s of a similar nature, this photo was supplied to us a couple of years ago by Valley Longwall, it’s obviously going to another company in China.  It’s essentially a track mounted inseam drill rig.  It’s not a rotary drill rig although you can rotate the rods to connect them together.  It’s essentially a rig set up for down hole motor, I'll explain that in a second, but the machine itself is quite a large robust machine with track mounted, and you can see the tracks along the bottom here, go up around through there, got rudd links for lifting it so you can lift it on and off transporters.
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A. It’s got temporary roof support and also used for locking the machine into place so that you can operate it without it being moved around.  Once the rods are on in the hole you don’t want the machine moving at all.  At the front you’ve got a rod, a set of jaws that actually, rod clamps, to hold the rods in place while you drill, while you spin the next rod on.  This is a through motor so that the rods would be placed through the middle of this motor and then – 

Q. And that motor’s just to the left-hand side of the –

A. Yes, and you can see the brown or brass runners on the stainless steel tube, that runs backwards and forwards.  This motor would go backwards and forwards, there’s a chain slightly visible in the middle and this would be drawn up and back.  So it’s on a chain that’s pulling the rig up and back from both directions.  So the rods would pass through that then pass through the ripper jaws at the front and then into the hole.  The rod itself would have a down-hold motor on the front so the bit that actually drills the hole is at the face of the hole.  Other rigs, which are called rotary rigs, this back here, the motor itself turns and spins the whole rod set, which is okay for drilling 80 metres or 100 metres but you end up with too much torque on the rods themselves.  So anything you’re going to drill to distance, a rig like this would drill two kilometres in a coal seam.  So this is typical of the machine that was being used at Pike.

Q. I bring you back to your brief Mr Whittall, we’re on page 15, paragraph 73.  Can you please just read the last sentence in that paragraph?

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 73

A. Attached and marked PW53 and PW54 are true copies of diagrams obtained from company records indicating inseam drill holes.

Q. And if we start with PW53.  Can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes.  Again, the main, it’s good to ignore the future workings as they change almost every plan I put up because that’s the nature of coalmining.  But what it does show is the existing roadways as they were at this time.  You’ll recall just by area that the hydro panel  was roughly where the ends of these two, hydro panel one is roughly at the ends of where these two drill holes are around the centre of the drawing just below the second horizontal line down from the top of the plan.  The black lines with little blobby bits on the end are in the same drill holes and so they start from the terminus where the roundish part is, the oval shaped part, and they go out into the seam.  They are identifying different structures.  The first couple we drilled are quite close to the Hawera Fault.  One was drilled to the north to alleviate any structures that might be associated with the fault and the next one was drilled out to the west.  And it was in drilling out to the west that we first located the graben structure which is a, I will actually show it I think at a later diagram, might be easier to explain it then.  These holes are then drilled to various locations, often they’re terminated at faults.  Once you’ve drilled out quite a long distance, depending on which angle you hit a fault at, it can be quite difficult to penetrate that fault so typically you might drill it again from a closer distance, get better penetration strength, because the down hole, not that whole motor but the motor on the drill rig is not only pushing against the face but it’s got to push the weight of all of those rods sitting on the bottom of the hole as well so the further out you get the penetrations gets more difficult.  But as you can see one of the holes we drilled, which I can’t recall the number, I think it may have been eight, has drilled, went about 600 metres out into the strata and was a very successful hole that gave us some good information well and truly out to the west of where we were planning on working.  And you can see we had similar success with some good long holes going out to the north.  Drill holes, as I said, in Queensland, Commissioners will be aware of, that holes up to two kilometres have been successful but in nice unbroken seams.  We sort of always expected that our holes would be of the order of 500 to 600 metres given the nature of the broken strata in the West Coast.

Q. If I could take you to the next exhibit, PW54.  Can you please explain Mr Whittall to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes.  This is a side elevation of PRDH8, sorry, PRDH8s is the surface bore hole that comes down through the middle of it.  I can’t remember the bore hole, it may well be number 8, actually it is, it’s just shown on the little diagram on the right-hand side.  So this is bore hole, inner seam bore hole number 8.  
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A. This was actually put on the board by Dr Newman the other day and she correctly identified the fact that the drill hole was emanating from the coal seam on the side even though that wasn't actually shown on this diagram.  The coal seam is back up at the elevation where the black hole or the black line starts from the red line, the red line being faults, known faults or identified faults, and the browner line around the middle of the plan is identified as a minor fault.  What this shows is that the drill hole was drilled from the east.  So as we go left to right we're going from the east to the west.  And typically you would drill out, and as you drill out you would drill up into the roof.  The downhole motor has an elbow on it just back from the motor itself with about a one and a half degree bend in it, so by orientating that drill rod or that bend, you can drill a hole upwards or downwards, only quite slowly because you don't want a big kink in the thing because it’s all steel pipe.  So you drill up to the roof first because you're pushing the hole up and then you drill up until you hit something, whether it’s the roof of the seam or a fault or something, you don't know whether you're going to hit so you define the roof as you go out.  So this hole would have been drilled, firstly with a branch touching a fault here.  It’s gone through, hit roof and they kept on going until they hit coal again, that’s why they're able to define that little area there.  They then pulled back and branched down and gone up, stayed within the coal seam.  They were looking to get out a long way here, and then they've branched up to the roof, so it made a roof contact.  This is now to the right of the words “in-seam drill hole,” and then they've kept on going and branched up to the top again and branched and branched and then gone out through another fault, and by that stage they're probably reaching the end of where they really wanted to get and because they've now gone through a number of faults, you're increasing the risk of losing your rods down the hole because it gets stuck out the other end.  You've got about $250,000 worth of downhole motor alone sitting out 600 metres away, which you probably won't get back a long time, so it’s a trade-off between going as far as you can and not losing your gear.  So then when you come back you drill downwards, and the reason you do the downhole on the way back is you can use gravity to let the hole drop downwards.  If you tried to do the uphole on the way back, the rods would keep on pushing further and you wouldn't be able to go up.  The only way to do it is to go down and then up again so it’s much simpler to go up first and then go down. So you can see a number of branches have gone through this fault to delineate the fact that there's a significant step down in the coal seam out here and a major dislocation, and we've drilled down through it here as well and come back.  So essentially you're using the in-seam structure to validate your surface boreholes.  So as you'll see, we've drilled past borehole eight here.  We already knew that there was a structure in the borehole because we've got a surface borehole and so you tend to use your inseam drilling.  It’s not an either/or process.  You don't drill surface drill holes or in-seam drill holes.  You drill surface drill holes and you drill inseam drill holes to infill the datasets and validate your geological model.

Q. Bring you back to your brief Mr Whittall.  We're at page 15.  And if you could just start from the heading above paragraph 74 and continue reading please?

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 74
A. “Gas drainage.  The predominant gas in the Brunner coal seam is methane.  Generally, the seam is quite gas permeable and therefore gas within the seam, which ranges from negligible in the east to approximately eight cubic metres per tonne in the west (with an average of 4.1 cubic metres per tonne across the permit area), flows quite freely from cut coal and roadways.  The roadways had an active programme –

Q. Sorry sir, if I just catch you there.  I think “the company” not the roadways, paragraph 74?

A. Sorry, yes thank you.  “The company had an active programme of inseam directional drilling with inseam boreholes radiating out over 600 metres in length.  The borehole information was used for seam definition and mine planning. During drilling, gas was drawn away from the hole’s collar using a stuffing box to capture the gas and direct it into a gas drainage line.  Following completion of the hole, the remnant boreholes were attached to methane drainage lines.  This assisted the drainage of gas from the coal, ahead of mining operations.  The gas was either vented to the surface via a gas riser borehole, or free vented into the mine’s return ventilation to be diluted and exhausted from the mine using the main ventilation system. 
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A. Ventilation.  During the construction of the access tunnel ventilation was supplied to the face using forcing system with the main fan or fans located on the surface adjacent to the portal and directed to the face with flexible ducting.  The return air travelled back down the access tunnel.  This was acceptable as the tunnel was not in coal and not producing gas or coal dust.  When the mine entered the coal seam and connection to the shaft was made underground auxiliary fans exhausted up the exhaust shaft.  This would have remained the system until such times as the emergency backup fan was installed on the surface of the shaft, except for the collapse of the shaft which meant the return to a forcing ventilation system until the completion of the Alimak raise.  The emergency backup fan, designed to act as a backup to the main fans to be installed underground was of sufficient capacity to ventilate the mine until the first of the main fans was installed.  More recently the first of two main underground ventilation fans had been installed near the base of the shaft and was exhausting air up the shaft.  The surface fan was then set up to serve its intended purpose as a backup fan in the event of an underground fan failure.  Tests undertaken by an independent laboratory showed that the mines coal had a lower inherent propensity to spontaneously combust, meaning the coal itself had a low likelihood of self heating in normal atmospheric conditions.  Gas Monitoring.  Two different methods of gas monitoring were planned for the mine.  Real time monitoring and tube bundling.  Real time monitoring measures and transfers data immediately to the control room.  Real time monitoring is used to measure data such as carbon monoxide and methane levels and provides information in order to generate a quick response.  The real time system is used to measure a discrete number of points where immediacy of information is important such as electrical installations or main fans.  This system was in place and functioning at the mine.  Tube bundling is a system of individual plastic tubes which run from unique locations in the mine all the way to the surface analyser with unique samples under negative pressure from a small surface pump.  The analyser switches between tubes or samples and can take between 30 and 45 minutes depending on the length of the tube, to generate a sample.  Tube bundling is helpful for measuring trends over time in intake and return roadways as well as inaccessible areas such as the goaf.  The goaf is the waste area formed after the extraction of coal allowing the unsupported roof to cave in.  Tube bundling was planned to be implemented at the mine as it increased in size and started to form its first goaf area.  Tube bundling was included in the 2010/2011 budget.  There was also a number of other different types of monitors and sensors in operation.  Real time monitors were installed at various locations in the mine, including at the portal, pit bottom, the surface of the ventilation shaft and the grizzly borehole.  I understand the monitors variously measured methane, oxygen and carbon monoxide along with air and ventilation velocity, however not all were measured at each location.  There are a number of monitors in the pit bottom.  In addition there were monitors on fixed and mobile plant.  I understand that the monitors were calibrated under the control of the engineering manager.  The gas sensors in the mine were wired to a controller which took readings of the gas levels.  The monitoring equipment installed at the mine is an automated mine gas analysis system that took readings every 20 seconds.  The controller read and digitised output.  The central control and management system of data readings is called SCADA, an acronym for Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition.  
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A. The SCADA database and software is linked to a screen which presented the data and allowed for monitoring and controlling of the readings.  Some gas sensors were set to alarm at pre-set methane levels while others were designed both to alarm and also to trip power at pre-set methane levels.  The real time monitoring system alarmed when certain pre-set gas levels were detected.  I understand that several gasguard monitors installed in designated locations in the pit bottom were able to trip all underground power if methane levels reached a preset level in any of those areas.  I also understand that a monitor was located in the return airway of the hydro extraction panel which monitored methane levels and reported these to the hydro monitor guzzler.  The monitors on the continuous miners and auxiliary fans, however, were set to trip power to the device when a pre-set level of methane was detected.  These were not monitored on the surface as part of the real time system, they were responded to locally.  The exhibit marked PW28 that I referred to at paragraph 36 showed the location of gas sensors.”

COMMISSION adjourns:
3.30 PM

COMMISSION RESUMES:
3.46 PM

THE COMMISSION: 

Ms Shortall, just before you begin, I meant to raise this before we rose for the afternoon adjournment.  The Commission is just a little concerned as to whether we have sufficient time to complete Mr Whittall’s evidence, and to guard against the possibility that we may run out of time we are contemplating commencing early tomorrow morning at 9.00 am and having a slightly longer day and we may also look at the hearing times on Friday, both in relation to the start and even the finish time if need be if that’s going to make a difference in terms of completing matters this week.  So I'm just raising that now.  I may enquire of you again at 5.00 pm before we rise just to see whether there are any acute problems in relation to starting early tomorrow morning because we are anxious to do so if possible, so I'll just leave that with you.

MR DAVIDSON:

Sir, may I just add one further element to that.  That from the families’ perspective there'll be no issue at all about starting early and finishing late.  The issue in their minds is whether the hearing will resume next week and the reason for that is travel for the families who come at a distance.

THE COMMISSION: 
Travel?

MR DAVIDSON:

For the families who come at a distance to the hearing.

THE COMMISSION: 

At a distance.  Yes, sorry I didn't hear that.

MR DAVIDSON:
Because they have to leave work and make arrangements and so on for that purpose.  So if that’s a contemplation sir, it would be very good to know what the Commission’s position is sometime, later on today or tomorrow morning.

THE COMMISSION: 
Well, if the worse came to the worse, we would have to reconvene at some stage next week.  It may not necessarily be on Monday but for the moment the plan of action is to address matters in the way that I've outlined rather than to capitulate to the default position that you've just hinted at.

MR DAVIDSON:
I'll sit down sir, and get on with it.

examination continues:  MS SHORTALL: 

Q. Mr Whittall, if I can take you to page 18 of your brief.  The heading just above paragraph 90, and ask you to continue reading from there please?

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 90

A. “Shift operations.  I understand that as at 19 November 2010 the company operated under a system whereby there were three mining crews known as A, B and C crews on nine hour rosters.  There was also a 12 hour roster containing four crews.  These rosters were kept entirely separate.  The 12 hour roster ran seven days a week whereas the nine hour roster operated five days a week.  I understand that A, B and C crews had 20, 23 and 19 members respectively as at 19 November 2010.  The mining industry has specific terms to describe the hierarchical positions held by the miners.  The manager of a shift is known as the underviewer or shift coordinator.  The underviewer oversees a shift.  Deputies are the underground supervisors to whom the miners report.  A deputy reports to an underviewer.  Both underviewers and deputies have defined roles and responsibilities specified by legislation.  Depending on their experience the remaining miners are designated as senior miners, experienced miners, miners, or trainee miners.  I understand that the miners worked in teams of between approximately four and seven members.  Each team had a crew leader who was responsible for the safe and efficient operation of their team’s operation of the mining machines.  Supporting the mining crew were electricians and fitters.  I understand that some of these support personnel were attached to the A, B and C crews and others worked the 12 hour roster.  
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A. I understand that the tradesmen who worked on the 12 hour roster were broken up into green crew, yellow crew, blue crew and red crew and permanent dayshift crew.  Also on these crews were miners who operated the hydro panel.  There were also external contractors who worked in the mine.  Their hours of work varied.  Contractors who went underground worked on specific projects as required and they were not usually attached to a company mining crew.  Movement underground.  Before each shift went into the mine a briefing was conducted.  The briefing was an opportunity for the underviewer to brief the crew going underground as to what was going to happen on the shift.  Crew leaders and other persons, such as departmental managers, the underground mine manager and the hydro coordinator may also have talked to the crew.  In addition to the briefing as to what was to occur on the shift other matters may also have been discussed with the crew.  Toolbox talks were a formal method by which the company communicated to its miners any matters that needed to be brought to their attention.  If an incident had occurred in the mine, that may have formed the basis of a toolbox talk.  Another example of a toolbox talk might be to highlight or remind crews about operating procedures or some housekeeping matters.  Oftentimes the toolbox talks were used to proactively raise matters with the crews.  Anyone could initiate a toolbox talk.  The talks did not have to be generated by management.  The company also operated a tag board.  The intention of the tag board was to provide a mechanism for recording who was underground at any given time.  The process that the miners went through at the start of each shift was to get their gear ready at the main bathhouse.  They then took the bus to the lamproom.  There they took their lamp and self rescuer.  The miners generally kept their tags on their belts or hung them next to their lamp.  When they left the lamproom to go underground they were supposed to put their tag on the tag board.  Attached and marked PW55 to PW57 are true copies of photographs obtained from company records of company miners in their typical mining gear.

Q. Mr Whittall, if I can take you to the first of those exhibits, PW55, and can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes.  This is a photograph taken looking into the back of man transporter, a personnel transporter.  The previous photo we showed was just of the outside of the machine.  So in this machine you can see a number of personnel.  They’re all Pike River employees, they’re all in the same coloured overalls and they’ve got Pike logos on them.  The chap on the left is one of our underviewers, had his name on his uniform, and he’s wearing a standard set of overalls with Australian standard reflectors.  So they’re an industry standard reflector for underground use.  They all wore hard hats which are coalmining hats as opposed to hard rock hats, they’re a slightly different shape.  They had a clip on the front, you can see that silver metal in the middle of Dean’s hat, Dean’s the guy with the orange vest, which is where his cap lamp would clip onto.  The other guys have got their cap lamps on their heads whereas his is around his neck and just hanging down in front of him, that orange thing just above his arm.  All those machines are individually seated, they’re not bench seats, so each person’s in a seat and each seat has a seatbelt.  Dean, you can see that black stripe running across his chest, diagonally across his chest is his seatbelt.  And the others have got, they’ve all got their air muffs on because they’re supposed to have them on in the vehicles because they’re quite noisy.  Some guys are wearing their rescuers and pouches, the chap with his back to Dean has a big blue pouch on his belt so his dragger, self-rescuer would be in that pouch.  It’s a bit hard to see in that photo, it’s a lot easier on the screen, but that’s a blue pouch there.  Other’s had them threaded onto their belts directly.  They all wore usually a variety, depending on whether they brought them from other mines or not, a variety of harness belts.  This harness belt here would have around its waist the rescuer on one side and the cap lamp on the other, or the camp lamp battery.

Q. And just for the record, you’re identifying Mr Whittall the person sitting at the back?

A. Correct.

Q. On the right-hand side of the photograph?

A. With the red harness bracing on, correct.  The other features of that machine, you can see the seatbelt buckle on this chap with his seatbelt going across his lap and they’re all lap slash belts so they came from a point of anchor above the shoulder and then were anchored in the vehicle.  
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A. Some of the people faced backwards and others faced forwards.  The other safety and other specific items in that vehicle that you can see, they do actually have a ridge in there for a roof to be slid in and you can see at the front, there's a piece of perspex that’s been pushed back and we originally did use those all the time for rain cover but found that as people were getting in, because they had their caps on, they would often head butt the perspex and it caused a couple of incidents so they’ve now been pushed back out of the way and the guys put up with a bit of rain as they’re heading into the mine.  Just behind Dean is a first aid kit that sits in between the seats for use in the back of the vehicle where it required and also Dean is wearing his safety, personal safety lock on his strap, which is used, he’d have a key to that, he's the only one that would have a key to that, and that would be used if he wanted to lock out a piece of equipment underground, as per out lock out procedures so he would carry that around with him and if he wanted to isolate a machine he would use that lock.  They’re the main features of that photo.

Q. And if I can bring you to the next exhibit Mr Whittall, PW56, can you also explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. So this is taken at pit bottom, this is two McConnell Dowell employees.  They wore their own McConnell Dowell uniforms with their logos on the left breast and they’re standing, the chap on the right that was their civil supervisor at the time, when they were explorating the pit bottom area and that’s the two gentlemen, they’re similarly attired, they’ve both got industry standard reflective striping on their overalls which Pike required them to have once we went into the coal operation, and that particular chap is wearing a different style of belt, just an ordinary belt with his lamp and his rescuer on his belt.  

Q. And if I can bring you to the next exhibit Mr Whittall, PW57, is this another photograph of people dressed in typical mining gear?

A. Yes it is.  That was a couple of visitors from the Department of Conservation and Minister for Labour that visited the mine, and similarly we issued them with overalls if they didn’t bring their own.  Sometimes we issued them with paper overalls, like they’re a particular type of protective clothing, but otherwise if they thought they were going to be in the pit and getting pretty dirty we’d give them a set of Pike overalls and that’s pretty typical attire, so they have their gear on.

Q. If I could bring you back to your brief Mr Whittall, we were at page 19, paragraph 104 and can you please continue reading from there?

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 104
A. “When miners came out of the mine the process was reversed.  They collected the tag off the board, took their lamp off and hung their tag by the lamp or onto their belt.  The tags were all individually photographed.  Each miner’s photograph was printed on their tag along with his name.  The tags were not individually numbered.  Health and Safety Plans.  The company employed Neville Rockhouse as the safety and training manager in December 2006.  Mr Rockhouse remained in that position until earlier this year.  Mr Rockhouse has an extensive background in mining and holds a number of health and safety qualifications.  
Mr Rockhouse developed a systems based health and safety system to be implemented at the company.  In addition, in July 2008 
Adrian Couchman was employed as the company’s training and safety coordinator.  The company had a number of types of health and safety procedures.  The type of procedures used depended on the nature of the situation it was intended to cover, with each procedure resulting in a plan for that activity or type of activity.  Job safety and environmental analyses (JSEA) were undertaken for infrequent or one-off tasks.  A JSEA is a systematic review of the processes involved in carrying out a specific task.  Its purpose was to break the task down into a series of discrete tasks that formed a logical sequence.  Each step in the sequence was then assessed to identify the hazards.  Each identified hazard was then further assessed to develop a solution for the management of that hazard.  This information was then recorded so that it could be analysed after the job was complete and any necessary refinements could be made.  If a job was to be performed frequently a JSEA was replaced with a safe operating procedure or SOP.  SOPs were developed specifically by the company for the unique environment that it operated in.
1600
A. An SOP was developed by assessing all potential hazards that could arise in the operation of the particular item of equipment or task concerned.  These hazards were then incorporated into the training associated with that task.  SOPs were unique to certain areas of work and as such, not all employees were trained in each SOP.  SOPs were generally developed out of broader reaching management plans.  The development and implementation of management plans was undertaken by supervisors.  The supervisors planned their work and executed management plans consistently to provide a safe working environment.  The content of management plans were determined by the responsible manager who developed, amended and finalised the plans.  The SOPs required by a management plan were then developed for each repeated task.  Risk assessments were carried out before a particular activity was undertaken.  This was done regardless of whether the activity was a one-time activity or a repeated task.  A risk assessment is similar to a JSEA in that it was used to identify particular risks involved in the planned activity.  The risk assessment could be a lot larger and more complex than that required for a JSEA and could result in the development of a number of management plans and SOPs.  Risks were assessed and plans put in place for the mitigation and reduction of each risk.  The end result was to identify whether the risks associated with a particular activity were manageable in the circumstances.  A completed risk assessment could result in a permit to work being issued, which specified the work methods to be followed.  It provided a predetermined safe procedure and contained a record that all hazards had been identified and assessed.  A procedure was developed to report and manage incidents or accidents. The first step was for the person who witnessed or became aware of an incident or hazard to report this either immediately, (if imminent harm was a possibility) or at the end of the shift, (if imminent harm was not a possibility).  There was a policy of prompt and accurate completion of incident accident reports.  These reports were used to develop safe procedures to prevent the reoccurrence of the incident and to influence the development of SOPs and management plans.  As a result of the risk assessment process, a number of risk management plans were identified as necessary for the safe operation of the mine.  These included, but were not limited to the following: (a) the mine manager’s rules (which were general and specific rules and guidance for all employees, contractors and visitors working or visiting the mine site and covered both surface and underground operations); (b) the emergency response management plan; (c) the hazard management plan; (d) the health and safety management plan; and (e) a plan showing the location of fresh air base, self-rescuers and fire-fighting equipment.  Monitoring of mine working and operations.  The control room was in control of the underground mine and of the surface area from the portal to the CPP, including the controlled access gate.  The control room oversaw all gas monitoring, critical care, first aid, the allocation of explosives keys and detonator keys (which must be signed in and out), handing out gas detectors, dealing with gear requests from underground, dealing with repairs required underground, sending in fitters, giving advice on machines or issues arising underground, doing reports, checking deputies’ reports and responding to deputies’ phone-ins every two hours.  Outside of normal office hours, the control room also received incoming calls to the mine. Attached and marked PW58 to PW60 are true copies of photographs, obtained from company records, of the control room.

Q. If we just turn to the first of those exhibits, Mr Whittall, PW58.  Can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes.  This is looking through from the hallway that runs up the side of the control room.  It’s of the control room window that the general workforce would go to, it’s a sliding window.  It’s looking through into the control room.  The control room operator, Barry’s sitting there at his desk.  Arranged around behind him to the right of where he’s sitting is a number of screens and also out of the picture to the left would be a number of other screens.  So the room is ideally kept locked.  
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A. Sometimes they open it, depending on the shift, but it's meant to be a clean secure place for the control officer to operate unencumbered by, you know other people sort of walking through that office, it's not a throughway to anywhere.

Q. If we can turn your attention Mr Whittall to the next exhibit, PW59, can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yeah, it's taken a different time with a different control officer sitting there but a bit closer.  It's the same chair in roughly the same location.  It's shown in that photo a number of monitoring screens, the one on the left has got a spreadsheet open which the control officer may well have been filling in.  The phone that he would normally use as the normal control room phone is behind him on the desk and next to him is also a cordless phone which he can use if he has to leave the office, on backshifts especially when there's no one else much, he may leave the office to do something and takes the phone with him, so it's put through to him.  On the windows you can see a number of plans have been taped up of the mine.  One reasonably recent plan.  He's got his phone lists, he's got a notice board in front of him, the emergency management board behind him is not the emergency response board which is out of picture off to the left with all the, with all of the folders that would be given out, and were given out in the event of emergency, but what you can see in that photo is a whole range of different forms that we use for internally.  A number, such as, unplanned strata collapse, so if there was an unplanned strata collapse underground, then the control officer would be able to reach up and grab that and he'd have instructions in there what to do and who to report to and what forms to fill out.  There's others there called, “Acknowledgement of gas alarms, pit bottom strata control, plant breakdown, pond and control room, alarms”, other things like that, so basically kept those things to hand.  The screens in front of him on the right-hand side are a range of different things, he can pull up different things under different screens so it gives him, he's just a lot of screens so that he doesn't have to scroll through from one to another but he can actually keep track of multiple things at the same time.  And then out of picture, where the photographer has been standing there's also another couple of screens that he can use.  So he can, got a wheelchair and quite a long tabletop so he can looking at multiple things at the same time.

Q. And if I can bring you Mr Whittall to the next exhibit, PW60, where there are some additional screens I believe.

A. Yes.

Q. Can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Again, taken slightly around to the right from where the other photo was taken.  It shows the control arm operator discussing the SCADA looks like the gas tracking on the screen and he's going through that with one of the project engineers that was on that list of contract engineers in the hydro team.  So you can see there he's got the four screens and you can also see on the right of the photo yet another screen showing more SCADA information.  There's a radio in the middle of that desk, and outside of the window you can see a number of machines that are being parked there.

Q. Thank you, can I bring you back to your brief Mr Whittall, we're on page 22 and if you can just start reading from the heading just above paragraph 116, and that's actually the last paragraph in your brief that you need to read sir.

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PAGE 22

A. “Other work within the Mine.  In the weeks prior to the incident I understand that there were a number of other projects happening underground (other than extraction and development).  These included constructing an overcast, commissioning the main ventilation fan, excavating a roadway stub for the new dirty water cyclone bay, installing underground pipelines for fluming water and dirty water, and carrying out construction work on the new sump wall and pump bay in the Pit Bottom South sump area.

cross-examination:  mr mount

Q. Mr Whittall, I think you understand that the Commission has divided this inquiry into four phases.

A. Yes, I do.

Q. Phase three will deal with the immediate cause of the explosions in the mine and with matters such as the compliance with health and safety procedures.

A. I understand that.

Q. The purpose of phase one has been described as a scene setting exercise to establish the context, so I just want you to understand that questions at this phase will be directed to establishing the context for what is done later in the inquiry.
A. I understand.
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Q. The first topic I'd like to raise with you is the context of your involvement at Pike River.  Prior to starting at Pike I think you had something like 24 years experience in the underground coal mine industry?

A. That's correct.

Q. I think initially you worked as a mine surveyor.  Is that right?

A. Correct, I was a trainee surveyor, yes.

Q. Prior to coming to Pike you'd been at BHP in Australia?

A. Correct.

Q. And the most recent underground mine project you worked on I think was at the Dendrobium Mine if I’ve pronounced that correctly.

A. That's right, Dendrobium.

Q. D-E-N-D-R-O-B-I-U-M.

A. It’s an orchid.

Q. Could you tell us just briefly what your role was with that project and later with the mine itself?

A. Yes.  I was, prior to that project I'd been a mine manager operating mines and I went onto, within the same division of BHP Illawarra Coal I joined the Dendrobium project when it was going from concept or prefeasibility study into feasibility study, the semi role with that project initially was as the mining manager on a feasibility study for a new underground coal mine to produce five million tonnes per annum.  I started on that project with an engineering manager, as my peer, and we both reported to a project director and we were the three permanent employees at the start of that feasibility study.  I continued on through that feasibility phase and was responsible for the mine design and mine aspects of that, so ventilation design, roadway design, strata control, letting of contracts or preparing to let contract, so getting budgets together for the drifts that had to be done.  There was two 1.2 kilometre tunnels to be done, a shaft, very similar things to Pike.  I was then there as part of the feasibility team that wrote the feasibility document and I was responsible for what turned out to be about a 600 page feasibility study into the mine and I was the author of several chapters and the editor of the document.  The project was approved by BHP’s board and then I became the mine manager to start the construction of the tunnel, of the two tunnels and the underground operations and continued in that role as the statutory manager of the mine and covered technical service and other issues as the mine was developed and I stayed working at that mine until we’d developed both tunnels, the shaft and the entry ways into the first extraction panel.

Q. When you started at Pike in February 2005, I think you said there wasn’t a mine to manage at that stage?

A. No.

Q. But your title was mine manager.  If we look at document DOA.012.03472 on page 13, there was a description of your role by Minarco at the time they prepared one of their reports.  So if we just bring that up on the screen, page 13.  It’s page 11 of the document, about halfway down the page, we can see there there was a description, this is January 2005 of your principal tasks at Pike.  They included managing and guiding the underground mine construction contract, planning production operations organisation and awarding contracts and a number of other functions.  Were they the matters that you were taken on to do at Pike?
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A. Yes, essentially as you see this document’s a January 2005 document and my name was in the document because I’d already accepted the job but I hadn’t started with the company at that stage so this was put together without my knowledge, if you like.  But essentially I was brought on to build the mine so the feasibility studies had been done and all the concepts of what was going to be done was done.  The chap below there, Les McCracken as the project manager had joined the company as a consultant the year before and he was responsible for preparation of the tenders and being the engineer to contract for those.  So I was basically brought on to build the mine because all the consents had been achieved in August the year before.

Q. At that time Pike was, I think, 72% owned by New Zealand Oil and Gas?

A. That’s my recollection, yes.

Q. And you’ve told us earlier that the general manager of New Zealand Oil and Gas Mr Ward had been responsible for the Pike project?

A. Yes, he’d been responsible for the project for quite a number of years and he’d been appointed as the general manager of New Zealand Oil and Gas I believe early in 2004 when he relocated back to New Zealand and was responsible for the project and therefore was my boss.

Q. Are you able to say in general terms whether Mr Ward had any particular previous experience in underground coalmining?

A. No he certainly didn’t have any previous experience in underground coalmining, no, other than through his studies of this project.

Q. Now one of the documents that our analysis team has produced is a chronology of the board appointments to Pike River.  I’d like to show that document and perhaps we’ll produce a copy for the record so that we can refer to that as an exhibit.

WITNESS REFERRED TO chronology of board appointments document 
exhibit 10 produced – chronology of board appointments pike river company

Q. Can we see from that document that the four board members when you joined in 2005 were Tony Radford, Ray Meyer, Graeme Duncan and Stephen Rawson?

A. Correct.

Q. Mr Radford I think was also the chair of New Zealand Oil and Gas at that time?

A. And the chief executive of New Zealand Oil, yes.

Q. In general terms did he have any background in underground coalmining to your knowledge?

A. Not to my knowledge, no.  Tony was like Gordon, I think they were both financial backgrounds in the oil and gas industry.

Q. The next is Professor Meyer, he I think was the deputy chair of New Zealand Oil and Gas at that stage?

A. I understand.

Q. He’s clearly very qualified in engineering?

A. Mmm.

Q. To your knowledge his background in underground coalmining specifically?

A. None that I’m aware of, no, he’s a professor of mechanical engineering.

Q. Mr Rawson, the fourth on that list, he also I think was a director of New Zealand Oil and Gas?

A. Yes, I understand.

Q. And again no background particularly in underground coalmining?

A. I understand he works for Mighty River Power in the electricity industry.

Q. The fourth member, Mr Duncan, had as I understand it worked for a company called Minarco that we’ve referred to today.  Is that right?

A. He was one of the directors of the company and one of the owners of the company, yes.

Q. And that company had been involved in certain feasibility and prefeasibility work, which we will discuss in more detail.  Is that right?

A. For Pike River?

Q. Yes.

A. Yes.

Q. Do you know anything more about Mr Duncan’s background in the coalmining industry in Australia?

A. I don’t know specifically where he worked but I do know he’s a mining engineer.  He’s worked in coalmines as an under manager.  I don’t believe he was ever a mine manager, I don’t think he achieved his First Class Ticket but he was a competent mining engineer.  When I met him he had done probably a lot of the feasibility work.  There was another partner of his in Minarco that was also heavily involved in Pike and Graeme was and still is active in the underground coal industry.

Q. When you joined in 2005 are you able to say what priority the board and senior management gave to ensuring that the company had access to advice from people experienced in West Coast underground
hydro-mining?
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A. My understanding, and this is my understanding, from my earliest dealings with Graeme Duncan was that he had quite extensive experience himself in West Coast.  I don’t know what – I don’t believe he’d ever worked underground.  My understanding was his experience was at due diligence level.  He’d been working on the West Coast, he told me, 15 to 20 years, but I don't know in what capacity.  Certainly not as an employee of any company on the West Coast but as sort of looking at Solid Energy’s assets and working in that area.  And similarly he had staff that had also done work on research on the West Coast but he hadn’t worked himself.  The other people that were involved in the project when I started here, Frank Taylor who Harry Bell mentioned the other day, with 40 odd years experience on the West Coast, was the first person I met over here, and he showed me around and was engaged by Pike River to do various works associated with the drilling programmes that were being done and acting as the face, if you like, of Pike in Greymouth and Peter Gunn who is also mentioned, who are previous submitters, was a geologist of note or previous experience with Solid Energy and a lot of West Coast experience.  He actually met with me when I was being interviewed for the role in Christchurch and took me through the geology of the coast and Pike specifically and still stayed active with Pike through until probably about 2009 I suppose.

Q. If we can look at PW22, which is the chart of the various positions within the company.  I think you referred to the fact that initially your title was mine manager but you then changed within a year to general manager, mines?

A. Correct.

Q. Was there any functional significance in that change of title to general manager, mines?

A. Yeah.  The function significance was that when I first started I reported to Gordon Ward and so did Les McCracken as the project manager and so did Ivan Liddell as the environment manager, and after a year we started – and also by then we’d recruited - in late 2005 we’d recruited our engineering manager and our tech services manager and it just became obvious that as we started to move towards starting to go underground and putting all these contracts out, that it was not logical for Gordon Ward to continue to have site-based people like Les and Ivan reporting to him. He didn't have any expertise in the areas that they were expert in.  He did continue probably mostly in the environmental area to keep a stronger oversight because he’d had a lot of dealings with DOC and even after Ivan started reporting to me, he probably had a reasonably close association with Ivan but it made more sense for me to start operating as the overseeing manager looking after all of the operational aspects.

Q. So in an operational sense at the mine it was you who had primary responsibility for what was actually happening?

A. Yeah, from a responsibility point of view that's right.  I reported through to Gordon as the CEO for all approvals and my signature level was quite low and the company kept a very tight control over authorisations, so Gordon was the authorising signature for most of the works I did.

Q. We can see that the positions, mine manager, statutory position picks up in late 2008 and I think you've explained that that's because that was the time at which Pike became a mine?

A. A coal mine, yes.

Q. Is it fair to say that leading up until that point in 2008, you were the person with the primary operational oversight over what was happening at the mine site?

A. Not really because you see in the line above it there is a tunnel manager and Kobus Louw was the tunnel manager of the hard rock portion of the mine.  So my role in that regard in relationship with Kobus didn't change.  I was his boss in that I was the general manager.  He was the tunnel manager and had legal authority over the mine site, the physical site, and the tunnel and all its  statutory operations such as ventilation, strata control, all that sort of work, and Mr Firmin yesterday talked a lot about his relationship with Mr Louw and you'll notice that he didn't talk about me for that reason because the relationship between the inspector and the mine is always with the mine manager, so in that regard Kobus was responsible for all underground operations and when it became a mine or a coal mine nothing really changed in that regard, he just moved.  There was no change in responsibility; it was just the fact that what he was responsible for changed, slight difference.
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Q. If we put to one side what McConnell Dowell were doing with the tunnel, in terms of the planning for the mine and the work that was being done in preparation for the mine, would it be fair to say that that was what fell in your job description?

A. Yes, I maintained the technical services manager’s position, reported to me right through until Doug was appointed to the site general manager in October 2010 and that’s, so that’s the future planning and the medium term planning for the mine.  If you cut into say long and medium term planning, fell within the position of the technical services manager and short term planning, whether we turned left or right, all the attending issues of permits to mine and everything else, fall into the mine manager’s role.

Q. If we look at that position of statutory mine manager, between late 2008 and mid 2010 there were six different people in the role over roughly a two year period, perhaps an average of only about four months each.  Did that cause any operational problems for the company?

A. A lot of frustration I must say, frustration in trying to get continuity.  One of the things that the mine manager does, not from a – from a systems point of view it was frustrating, a couple of people were consistent right through there so Neville was consistent right through, from a health and safety management system point of view there was a continuity of oversight and I was consistent all the way through, so from the big plan or the big picture and where the strategy and where the company was going to from the mine operations point of view, there was a consistency of personnel.  Also there was only one change of engineering manager, that’s not shown on that drawing, but Tony Goodwin had been there from October 2005 until early ’09 and then we had one manager right through until 2010 as well.  So a couple of other roles were very consistent.  The actual statutory position frustratingly did change on a number of occasions but when the mine manager’s rules are set in place and management plans are set in place then each manager that comes in manages to those same rules unless they go and do a review for some reason.  I think the biggest continuity issue with change of manager is actually personnel management, so getting guys used to who the boss is, the way they work, what sort of reporting standards they want, those sort of interpersonal issues and leadership with the middle management and things like that.  Those are the things that are frustrating when you keep changing leadership in the manager’s role.

Q. Did any of the mine managers who left over that period raise concerns about unresolved safety issues prior to leaving?

A. With me?  No.

Q. If we look at the period from the mine becoming an underground coal mine through to January 2010, I think you said you were based at the mine site for that period?

A. Correct.  I moved to Greymouth in February 2005 and I left in 2010, January.

Q. From January 2010 were you primarily based in Wellington?

A. I lived in Wellington but I travelled to the mine site through the earlier part of the year most weeks.  Initially when I first went up there one of the conditions by which the board agreed to me relocating was that I would continue to act as the general manager on site and try to be down here Tuesday to Thursday most weeks.  That did become other pulls on my time from the shareholder briefings et cetera, et cetera and capital raisings, so there was weeks where I didn’t come down but I then moved it to fortnights, I then moved back to fortnightly and tried to make sure I was at least here fortnightly during that period but weekly was more often in the first part of the year.

Q. Your office at the mine site, was that right next door to Mr White’s office?

A. My office was the corner office next to my PA, which was next to the front door and then I had an anti-office which I used as a meeting room and then the mine manager’s office was the next one down, that was Doug’s office.  
1630
A. When Doug became the, and I kept that office when I moved to Wellington as well but it was used by others if they needed to because I was down there every week and when Doug became the site general manager I gave him my front office, which was close to the walkway and I took my previous meeting room office as my office, just to be able to keep gear there.

Q. Was that in October 2010?

A. Correct.

Q. Was there a weekly operations meeting at the mine site?

A. Yes.

Q. Was that on a Wednesday?

A. Correct.

Q. So your usual Tuesday to Thursday –

A. Well it did vary over the life of the mine but as of the 19th of November it was a Wednesday meeting, yes.

Q. So your usual Tuesday to Thursday trips would encompass that weekly meeting?

A. Where I could, that’s why I tried to be there across that period.  Yes, that’s correct.  If I was able to I would always attend it.  Some days I was there but I couldn’t attend the meeting, I had other reasons for not attending it but I was usually there when it was on.

Q. When your duties took you away from the mine was it standard for you to have daily telephone contact with Mr White or with the staff at the mine?

A. Yes it was.  Didn’t always happen but it was a normal routine, we’d usually check in.

Q. I want to deal with the context leading up to the change in your role in the last quarter of 2010.  You’re aware I’m sure that New Zealand Oil and Gas commissioned a review from a company called BDA in May of 2010?

A. Yes I am.

Q. That review in fact ultimately compromised three reports dealing with both technical and management issues?

A. Yes, I’ve read those reports.

Q. I’d like to refer to you some aspects of the first report that they provided and ask you whether they reflected some of the practical pressures on the mine at that time, in late 2010?

A. Are you asking me whether comments I made in May 2010 reflected October 2010?

Q. Whether they reflected pressures that were affecting the mine as at that time in mid 2010?

A. In 2010, yes.

Q. Yes.  So if we look at NZOG0064, page 2, and if we look in particular at the second paragraph.  BDAs comment was that the project has been severely delayed on its planned programme of construction development and ramp up to the target mining rate of one to 1.3 million tonnes per annum.  After starting the access road construction in early January 2006 and the tunnel in September ’06 the project remains in the early stages of development of underground coke and coal resources with development well behind schedule.  And the first production panel’s yet to be developed.  The project has experienced a sweet of unexpected technical and operational difficulties in the completion of the initial mine development.  Now we’ll move onto the bullet points in a moment but would you accept that the severe delays referred to by BDA were difficulties that confronted the company at the date of this report?

A. It had in that time, yes, absolutely.

Q. Perhaps if we focus in on the bullet points where BDA referred to some of the factors.  The first is encountering more difficult geotechnical conditions than expected in the access tunnel.  Next, the tunnel cost approximately 100% off budget and completion around two years late.  The collapse and subsequent recovery of the main ventilation shaft.  The unanticipated presence of a graben or upthrust stone block in the initial coal development.  Detection of gas from the Hawera Fault forcing early use of flameproof equipment, limited availability of suitable contractor equipment, delivery delays then commissioning issues of selected underground equipment and financial collapse of the contractor.  Is it fair to say that each of those factors had effected the ability of the company to deliver on the anticipated production levels at the date of the report?
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A. All but one of them, I'll agree with, also there's a couple probably need qualification if that's, would that be acceptable?

Q. Certainly.

A. The tunnel cost approximately 100% over budget and completion around two years late.  One of the issues there is that the scope of contract was varied to include 470 metres of underground stone driveage and that was then included in the contract and there was a lot of high wire driveage and you saw many millions of dollars spent in that pit bottom area that wasn't originally in the budget.  So that was a business decision to do that, rather than locate it in the coal, which wasn't part of the contract.  The other thing is that says, “Completion around years late.”  On a linear programme I would agree.  The actual inference that could be drawn that the tunnel was two years longer in development is not true, it only took two years in total.  It was probably about a year longer, given that, also the scope, but it did take a lot longer than expected so I agree with that, it's just not quite written the way it happened.  The other one is the detection of gas from the Hawera Fault forcing the early use of flameproof equipment is actually quite completely incorrect, the Hawera Fault yielded to actually no gas and we had expected to go to full flameproof equipment about 50 metres before the Hawera Fault and in effect we went to full flameproof electrical equipment in the tunnel by choice, just because it was going to be easier while we were down doing the stonework in the tunnel, in the pit bottom and stone, but we actually were able to continue on using non-flameproof equipment much longer than we expected to because we did that with protection systems and through, or discussion with the inspectors, so I don't agree with that at all.  It wasn't unforeseen and we actually went a lot further with non-flameproof equipment and very safely.  They would be the main issues that I'd taken exception with in there, yes.

Q. If we move to –

A. But the rest is fine.

Q. Sorry, go ahead.

A. But, sorry I said the rest is reasonably true, yes.

Q. If we move to page 3 of the report, electronic page 3, and look at the second paragraph and the attached bullet points, BDA commented that there were several areas in the management area where there had been difficulties and where issues persisted and they refer to remuneration and staff turnover, reporting and management accounting, organisation structure, resolution of technical issues and management skills and capability.  Now appreciating that this is phase one rather than phase three and so there maybe issues that you'd like to speak in more detail on at a later stage, would you accept that in general terms that list is a fair summary of some of the difficulties the company was facing at that time?

A. If some, not that, yes that there were others as well but not that I understand all of those ones, especially the organisation structure, I didn't understand when BDA put that into report and they weren't able to satisfactorily explain to me what it was they had an issue with at the time, but the others are certainly issues.

Q. If we turn to page 7 and section 2.5, BDA said that, “From brief observation and limited discussion, the management personnel appeared to be reasonably competent and knowledgeable with regard to the project and its particular issues.”  Now I don't imagine that’s a sentence you'll take too much issue with.

A. No.

Q. The first sentence of the next paragraph, “An impression gained during the site visit was that there was a general area of despondency or resignation which may be understandable under the circumstances and may reflect a feeling that the equipment units are so poor that the efforts to get them to work effectively are largely wasted.”  Was that something that you had also perceived at the mine site?

A. I qualified “yes”, and I'll explain, I was quite, I was surprised, disappointed yes, but you would be anyway so that's a given.  A surprise to see that comment made by John McIntyre but they were onsite for a day to do this review and they talked to a limited number of people who were available.
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A. I did raise that issue and it’s always hard when sort of the boss asks, “Did someone say that,” because obviously you'll get a different response.  But I did try to get through other channels.  Was that really a perception because I was quite concerned and it wasn't the general perception that I got back through another way of finding out.  However, I would agree with the fact that the continuing problems with the Waratah machines was very depressing.  One huge difference between when this report was written and had they done the same thing several months later, was getting to the other side of the graben and the introduction of ABM20 which lifted everything, but certainly.  I think saying, people had a – I can't see the words directly in front of me on the screen, but being concerned or having a very low feeling generally I don't think was ever the feeling I got.  I actually found the place, but you could ask others, a very buoyant and driven place to work especially amongst the management team, the senior management, so I didn't have that feeling and I did go there every day.

Q. If we look at the last paragraph on that page, there is reference to the reasonably strong technical background of the board and executive management, but if you look at the second sentence, BDA’s comment was that their impression, correct or otherwise, was that there was more of a focus on the market than on the project and a lot of effort being expended on presenting the project to the broking community and to others at that time.  Was that fair comment in your view?

A. I think it’s a matter of whether it’s either or.  I think it’s true that there was a lot of effort being expended by the chief executive and myself as well I suppose, which is why I said I was often not able to get down to the mine site because I was on road trips or other things for capital raising, that there was a lot of effort being expended into that area.  We’re a listed company, we're a small listed company, and the reality is presenting to our market and presenting to the shareholders is a reality.  The comments there by BDA reflect on the board and executive management and so I’d qualify it by saying a part of my job as general manager is to make sure that all of that didn't detract from Doug or any of the senior management’s ability to do their job.  All it meant was that I had less time sitting in the office next door to him and more, but it didn't change the way he did his job or the focus of the operational staff.

Q. If we turn to the next page, page 8 and section 3.  At the top of the page we see the comment, “In broad terms, the Pike River operation had a difficult beginning and many of the management issues appear to relate largely to the litany of technical challenges that have beset the operation since before the decision to proceed.”  Is that a comment that you would consider fair?

A. It says, “Before the decision proceed,” which is back in July 2005.  I would accept that any coal mine or any large project before it starts has a large number of technical challenges, roads into the mountain and developing an underground coal mine in a sub-alpine environment are technical challenges.  I don't think it reflects whether those challenges were met or planned for though.  So yes, I’d agree there were a lot of technical challenges with this mine.

Q. If you look at the sentence in the highlighted section that we have, the last sentence of the first paragraph.  “BDA advised in its original review in 2006 that the project was not considered bankable largely as a result of the considerable uncertainties that the project faced due to the difficulties associated with determining ground conditions and geotechnical aspects in the stone drive mine access, the Hawera Fault and within the coal measures themselves.”  Do you understand that reference?

A. To their 2006 report?  I can't categorically say I recall the link between this and the original review in 2006.

Q. Had it been your understanding in 2006 that BDA had in fact advised the project was not considered bankable for those reasons?

A. No I don't recall that.  Having said that, the report they did in 2006 was to the chief executive and the board for the IPO, which is why they were originally brought on, it wasn’t necessarily to me or to the operational staff.
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Q. Had anyone said to you in 2006 that considerable uncertainties the project faced in terms of the geo-technical aspects of the stone drive, the Hawera Fault and the coal measures, were issues of concern?

A. Had anyone said that to me?  I understood there were issues of concern but they were technical issues of concern.  I think the reference of BDA there is as to its bankability which is an issue of financing, which is an issue for the CEO and the board.  My issue was to build the mine so I understood very clearly their issues of geo-technical challenges and we’d just spent, at that stage, a year tunnelling through some very difficult ground and were putting bore holes down to gain more information.  Mining is a technically challenging occupation.

Q. The next paragraph says, “BDA considers the most fundamental issue for immediate attention is to get the project to a point where it’s capable of achieving its stated objectives.”  And it goes on to say that, “The primary and most urgent task would be for Pike River Coal to provide the means of getting the mine operation working by addressing critical equipment issues.”  Fair comment in your view?

A. Yes.

Q. There is then a table which refers to a number of specific matters labelled, “Problems,” with their consequences.  If we highlight that table, these were the tunnelling contract, pit bottom location, inseam drilling, pay rates and training, development equipment, CPP and the hydraulic monitoring system.  Once you've had an opportunity just to look at that in general terms, the next paragraph says, “Current senior management has not been able to deliver the Pike River Coal project on schedule or budget, in part due to decisions described in the table above.  In BDA’s opinion this level of performance may be expected to continue unless there is a change in senior management direction.”  Fair comment in your view?

A. I'm not quite sure how to answer that.  I did have some discussions with John McIntyre after this report and we also put some submissions back to them with our opinion, given that this was submitted without discussion.  Certainly some – I don't know that, other than the equipment side of it, the change in senior management’s direction for the underground mine was to continue on, really most of the operational issues were starting to be resolved and with changes of equipment et cetera, so I'm not really sure of what BDA’s overall message was trying to be with that sentence.

Q. There then followed 11 recommendations.  I don’t intend to go through all of them, just to highlight on page 9 that recommendation 2 was to retain the current project management on the grounds that it would be counter-productive to institute changes in management.  I take it you would accept that that was an appropriate recommendation?

A. Yes.

Q. And then on the next page, page 10, recommendation 11 was to consider hiring an underground contractor.  Did that recommendation surprise you, given that hiring an underground contractor would effectively be asking someone else to mine the coal rather than Pike?

A. Yes, well, yes, that’s exactly right so to one extent you get an underground contractor, it may be, and some mines do this, bring in a roadway development contractor and they do the extraction themselves for example, so they’d do longwalling but they have someone else do their roadway development, depending on the extent to which that was considered, whether you basically kept your senior management team and hired a company to mine the coal for you, whether under joint venture or some other way, or whether you just brought in operational people to do roadway development, there's a range of those opportunities.
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Q. The very next day, the 20th of May 2010, BDA issued a second report which was focused on technical aspects.  And I just want to direct your attention, and this is NZOG0065, you attention to page 4 of that please.  In particular the highlighted section on the screen and just to ask you whether you consider this is fair.  And so the first bullet point is referring again to the severe delays, a string of unplanned technical and operational problems.  Second bullet point, the fact that underground construction at that point was incomplete, although most of the fixed plant was nearing commissioning.  And then the third bullet point, that BDA considered that in spite of those difficulties the Pike River project was technically sound.  Based on their brief site visit they said that there were certain identified areas within the operation where BDA considered that it was necessary to make changes to some of the practices and projections.  Do you consider that those comments by BDA were fair?

A. Yes, given that this was May 2010, yes they were.

Q. The next page of this report, sorry, this is in fact still on the bottom of the same page, page 4, refers to the geology and the resources and the reserves and refers to a study undertaken by RDCL in March 2010.  If we go over the page to page 5 of the document, we can see that the RDCL review concluded the global resource estimate was substantially unchanged from 2006.  But the second bullet point BDA said with respect to the reserve status BDA was of the view that the structural complexity of the deposit was still largely undefined, although inseam drilling was providing data to establish a more reliable model.  As a consequence the mine is still in a state of flux, leaving some uncertainty over the reserve estimates.  Did that accurately reflect the position in May 2010?

A. Yes, well nothing had changed.  The resource and reserve statements of 2006 had different, as Dr Elder took us through the other day, there’s different levels of reserve and resource estimates and those categories haven’t changed since the 2006 review and BDA makes the point that certainly there’s been gained from additional drilling and seam drilling rather than going backwards.

Q. In June 2010 BDA issued a third report, which we have as NZOG0066.  Do you understand why it was that they produced a third report at that stage?

A. No, but when they did the original they came on, video were engaged through Pacific, someone, Pacific Roads I think it was, who was engaged by New Zealand Oil and Gas to look at Pike as one of their assets.  So previously BDA had worked for Pike River Coal on works.  In this case they weren’t working for us so there wasn’t a lot of discussion, they came in, did their review, went away and wrote their report.  When they gave us, I think they gave us an advanced copy of the technical report so that we could look for factual errors, which we did and made comments backwards and forwards.  I never saw a copy of the management report until it went to NZOG and then I saw it because it came to me via I think by John Dow.  And then I’m not aware of why they did a second technical report unless it was to correct our pushback or our commentary on some of the issues raised in the May report.

Q. Still dealing with the context of your appointment as chief executive later in the year.  Mr Salisbury of New Zealand Oil and Gas has filed a statement which we have as NZOG0068.  If we look at page 35 of that statement, paragraph 137, he says that in August of 2010 he attended a meeting with Mr Dow and Mr Radford where Mr Radford and I conveyed New Zealand Oil and Gas’ loss of confidence in both Mr Ward and Mr Whittall and suggested that Mr Dow consider taking an executive role within Pike River to replace Mr Ward, which he did not want to do. Had that loss in confidence been something that had been expressed directly to you?
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A. No.  The first time I was aware of that was when I read Mr Salisbury’s submission to the Royal Commission.  Just the opposite.  Mr Salisbury and I spoke often and Mr Salisbury directly indicated to me he has potential for me to maybe assume a CEO’s role with Pike and once I did, congratulated me roundly on the event and was glad of the change and glad of my taking the role.  So the first time I became – I certainly was not aware of that via Mr Dow or Mr Radford, both of whom are directors of our company, and both of whom were decision makers in appointing me to the role.  So no, that was quite an interesting thing to read, a submission.

Q. And the following month, September 2010, Mr Ward resigned?

A. He did.

Q. Now I don't want to press this point, but are you able to shed any light fairly on the reasons for that resignation?

A. No.

Q. There was, I think, a meeting on the 27th and 28th of September 2010 where New Zealand Oil and Gas were advised that Pike River was about to run out of cash, and I can refer you here to the evidence of Mr Jones, NZOG0069, page 14.  Page 57, we see that Mr Knight explained that Pike River was forecasting an increase in its working capital shortfall from the previous estimate of between six and 12 million to between 20 and 24 million.  Paragraph 58.  “One reason or the increased cash shortfall was that Pike River’s Indian-based shareholders having received shipments of coal from Pike with higher than specification ash content had to decline to take further out of specification coal in the short term.  As a consequence, Pike’s next shipment would be delayed until December 2010, which contributed to the financial shortfall in the interim.  Pike River had commenced planning for a capital raising to address the shortfall but expected to run out of cash in advance of a capital raising being completed.”  To your knowledge, was that the correct position in late September 2010?

A. Well since you've read the whole clause I'll make comment on a couple of things in that clause.  One of them, Mr Jones, interesting that he has the opinion or has drawn the conclusion that our Indian-based shareholders didn't take the coal because of its out of spec ash.  That was never conveyed to me.  Bridguat had taken the first two shipments of 40,000 tonnes and they had a contract to take up to or 10% or 400,000 tonnes.  They’d taken all of our shipments to that date and said that they would continue on with their other sources of coal rather than take Pike’s coal and because Saurashtra were not scheduled to take our coal they declined to take it.  They weren’t intending to take it till the following year.  Both of them, remembering these were 20,000 tonne shipments, they would have to take a 40,000 tonne vessel to New Zealand to pick them up which was even more exacerbated by the Japanese customers who would have to take a 60,000 vessel to New Zealand.  So I don't agree with Mr Jones’ view that that reason that they declined to take the coal.  However, on his comment on the cash shortfall, he’s correct in that we were still spending our cash at the mine site unrestricted as in everything they'd done was being done and the budgets that had been put in place were in place.  So therefore delays to production therefore delays to cashflow had an impact on the cash reserve the company.

Q. Now you were appointed, I think, in October 2010 as the chief executive?

A. Correct.
THE COMMISSION: 
I raised before we began this session the issue of starting at nine in the morning.  Is there any difficulty in relation to that, and I understand  Mr Whittall you have been consulted about that proposal.
MR WHITTALL:

I'm fine with that Your Honour.

THE COMMISSION:

Thank you, we'll retire until 9.00 am.

commission adjourns:
5.00 pm
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